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Corporate Information
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LISTING INFORMATION
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Highlights and Financial Calendar
RERVBTHE

2021 2020
20215 2020F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER
Revenue I i
— Media Content Distribution Business — BN BRITEE 267,366 248,635 +1.5%
— Brand Licensing Business — MR 67,818 66,487 +2.0%
Total Mgt 335,184 315,122 +6.4%
Gross profit margin £ & 49.1% 46.2%
Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company 7% /A wl it 5 4 ¥4 il 38,567 35,951 +1.3%
Proposed final dividend per share® kB R AR R0 HK 0.20 cents HK 0.21 cents
0.207% 4l 0.213 AL
Liquidity ratio RBESLE
Current ratio® HE R 2.7 2.9
Cash ratio® Bt ke 1.0 1.4
Capital adequacy ratio EXRELLE
Debt to equity ratio® BRI R N/A N/A
FEA A

(1) Proposed final dividend per share was calculated by dividing proposed final (1) 5 %5 B o 0T A 2 i 7 koK 0T i 2 B A A A 4
dividend by the number of the Company’s ordinary shares of 1,992,000,000 in e H AR 2y A 2B AT 8 T B0H 1,992,000,000
issue as at the date of the annual report. e ar 5 -

(2)  Current ratio was calculated by dividing the total current assets by the total — (2) Ui B Hb 3R J5 4 i B & AR (E B A& A B A Y
current liabilities as at the respective dates. B A AR

(3)  Cash ratio was calculated by dividing the cash and cash equivalents by the total ~ (3) W GHRLH & RH SEEHYHRUSABA
current liabilities as at the respective dates. Y B A R AR RO o

4) The Group did not have any interest-bearing nor external borrowings. Thus the 4) PN SN I G R I O S AP = o P I A
debt to equity ratio was not applicable. BHEAR LR R A -

- 6 MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2021 Annual Report



Highlights and Financial Calendar
BWERME B

Group Geographical Revenue Mix from External Customers

REEIMBEF N ERSS

Hong Kong & Mainland China 68 %
5 o B ‘

United States 10%
)

Taiwan 6%

\
o>
B

Others 16 %

For the year ended 31 March 2021
#AE20214F3 431 H ILAFRHE

Turnover and Gross Profit Margin Number of Active Titles/Brands Available
ERERERNR BEXRE " THAREHE

(HKS"million) ({7 5 76) mRneT . %;E:;’("/“)‘ Margin (%) As at As at Chzu.]ge
00 49.1% o0, 31 March 31 March during
46.2% = Business Segment 2021 2020  the year

- R2021F 1220204

REDH 3318 3/131H

300

2% Media Content L8 2 533 #1402
Brand Licensing oo X 141 87 +54

100

19/20
19/204

Net Profit Total Equity Dividend per share
# R A BRERE
(HKS$’ million) (7 ##s7¢) (HK$’ million) (7 ##T) (HK cents) (i)
512
50 500 484 0.5 0.45 0.48

40 36 400 0.4
30 300 03
20 200 02
10 100 0.1
0 0.0
1920 20121 19/20 20121 19120 20121
197207 201214 19120 201214 191204 201214
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Highlights and Financial Calendar
RERMB B

Financial Calendar

BB

‘

Interim results announcement
27 November 2020

Paid date of the interim dividend
19 January 2021

Annual results announcement
28 June 2021

Closure of Register of Members

— Annual general meeting
14 September 2021 to 17 September 2021
(both days inclusive)

—  Proposed final dividend!
24 September 2021 to 29 September 2021
(both days inclusive)

Annual general meeting
17 September 2021

Payable date of the final dividend'
21 October 2021

Note 1: The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval
of the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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EEEE N
20214F6H28H

BT {5 S SOy P s R

— WBHRHEFRE
20214F9H14H £ 20214F9H17H
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—  ERERE VR MR W B
20214F9H24H £ 20214F9H29H
(BiEHREMXR)

¥ A AF K £
20214F9H17H

AW EIR AT H )
20214E10H21H

B AL - B R R A R ) M B R R i SR O o b R SR
e
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Dear Shareholders,

[EREBKR BEA T

Since Listing in May 2019, the management team and I have been
meeting with institutional investors, analysts and stock commentors
and through numerous interviews, radio, online, off-line and free TV,
communicating with the public what Medialink Group does and the
infinite opportunities before us. I am glad to report that while there
are still work to do, the market has begun to see Medialink Group’s
worth.

As a leading dynamic market mover of media content distribution
and brand licensing management enabler headquartered in Hong
Kong with presence in Mainland China, Japan and South East Asia,
our vision is to be the best intellectual property (“IP”’) management
company in Asia. With that, we have rolled out our 5 years growth
corporate strategy, announced at the Group’s first annual general
meeting in 2019, in 7 pillars refining and extending our own all-
rounded IP ecosystem, which includes IP co-investment and
development, platforms and production. This foundational direction
gives the Group laser vision as to where it will go and how we will
get there. I am glad to report that with the dedication of everyone in
Medialink Group and support from our long standing suppliers and
customers, the Group is on track with its strategy with an overall
growth of 6.4% in total revenue and 7.3% in net profit during the
Reporting Period.

Our own Ani-One®Asia anime platform in the region has garnered
1,540,000 subscribers and more than 162,000,000 views on
its YouTube channel as of 28 June 2021. Other than our own
edutainment VOD Ani-Kids® channel and e-commerce platform
Ani-Mall®, we have added a new global art and craft e-commerce
platform Whateversmiles™ for talents. As much as we are all in
challenging times, the nature of our businesses — creativity —
thrives and we look forward to more developments and achievements
of our own IP and platforms.

We could not have achieved all these without our colleagues and
the leadership of our Board instilling environmental, social and
governance in every chord of our businesses with our own created
5C — Creativity, Content, Character, Care and Contribution. In
dedication and commitment, we are riding the wind and breaking the
waves, moving forward with great determination.

Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

25 L R

[REHRE BEAT]

H201945H L Ask » AN S48 3 B K —
BB RE E T R B TS R R B
G URIBME R - R R
BN R B AR HA I EEN
BE UL LA LA IR T AT oK B o A
N TRk sty - i MR m K EE - |
i35 B 46 B 0 vE 72 2 5 6 4 [ po (B (-

V7 — S ST A WL HE TR 2 3 A7 A o B 4%
MEAZE > AR > EHE KPR
I~ FA DL R AR R AP A I R A
o BN — A B R AR o
BE o FAM A 2019 4F A 42 [ 25— Jim e RO 4
R b E A A AR A S R BN > b
RIHEAT > e RIEREAAK 2T
il 2 AR A B R AT o LA Al E M B[R] %
BLEERE - A RERAE o JE —EA T WA
ST 95 I 1O 2A Y 8 R I 468 DA B i T
BRI T7 ik o RANTER A - FE R FRAEH
JIr AN 55 03 AT DA R A= S0 14 i % & R
(9 0 ) SR T o A S T A it A O 7
T C AP A E L 7 i S R B AR AR R
R 6.4% K K6 F7.3% -

B E 20216 H28H > A" Ani-One®Asia H)
1 7 & 1Y YouTube 4 %8 Ji 51 Y Hb [% O % 15
1,540,000%] B & & 8 # 162,000,000 UK #5 1K
oo BRT BN 5 R B % Ani-Kids® JHE K
EF BT A Ani-Mall®4h > A 755 #E
TRl RF LEAEEET
% %5 °F & Whateversmiles™ o i % A" fr
Rk EE (HRMZER N AY
— A% — U3 & hEE e > i IR AM IR B
TF B A 1Y H 5k B HE KT B A S o 2 8¢
JE > IR T 2 e -

FAM 8 4 B A5 b 45 AR 45 B R BH [A) 20
At RERERGHAE EE > HEIRE
A B BISC — Bl H (Creativity) ~ W&
(Content) ~ ff {4 (Character) ~ 5% (Care) &
B Jik (Contribution) > #FERIE - 1 & K& R
A EBN MBS - EHENEFE
JEh e FAM o m IR > B AR AT o
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Chairman’s Statement
FERS

The Group’s long-term dividend policy is to share the fruits of our 7% £ [H By 1= HA ikt 2 B5K £ B 4 #8 ik R 43
hard work with all Shareholders, while efficiently utilising the %577 TAERIBLAR - [F] I i 280 R A 4 4
Group’s resources to expand business and improve profitability, & i DA B 35 KR T B FIGE J1 > fEmi Al
leading to value creation and sustainable growth. I am therefore #5{EH{E I E Bl Al FF &R - KL > AKX
pleased to report that a final dividend of HK 0.20 cents per share was  $& x5 » 7% 42 [H] s ¥ 15 409 T 2 S R 95 K 1
proposed for the Reporting Period. Including the interim dividend of A% 5 45 1£0.20%5 Il > G0 3% i 2 1 ] 1A IR 4%
HK 0.28 cents per share distributed during the Reporting Period, the [ 5 3 I 5 4 102845 Il > i 5 3 8] TR 1
total dividends for the Reporting Period is HK 0.48 cents per share, & %8 % /% 4 £0.48 45 Al > A& i A 28 ) i
representing a distribution of approximately 25% of the Group’s A 7 42 8] i F1| 19 4925% -

profit attributable to shareholders of the Company.

I would take this opportunity to thank you on behalf of the Board A< A #& Ut # & ft % & F & & A % F &
and the Group for your support as our Shareholders and sharing our  #f B ~1E & F-AM (9 B A AT 4 436 19 2 % >

vision for the Group. 37 43 5 FAM B A< 4R 1Y BE 5 o
Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia RN -3

Chairman and Executive Director T T EH

28 June 2021 202146 H28H
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Business Review

During the Reporting Period, the Group increased the total revenue
by 6.4% to HK$335.2 million and the net profit by 7.3% to HK$38.6
million, on track with its 5 years corporate strategy (2019-2024) with
steady growth and impetus for expansion.

For Media Content Distribution Business, its segment revenue for
the Reporting Period has increased 7.5% to HK$267.4 million and
for Brand Licensing Business, its segment revenue for the Reporting
Period has increased 2.0% to HK$67.8 million. For Brand Licensing
Business, its segment results for the Reporting Period has increased
89.6% from HK$9.1 million to HK$17.2 million largely because of
the improvement on commission rate and lower amortisation of brand
licensing contracts.

During the Reporting Period, progress was on track under the 7
pillars of the 5 years corporate strategy as follows:

1  Expansion of content distribution network
Our own anime channel Ani-One® is offered in Subscription
Video On Demand (SVOD) and Advertisement Supported Video
On Demand (AVOD) formats. For Ani-One® SVOD partnered
with local OTT platforms, it has expanded to 8 territories. It has
also added new OTT partners in Singapore and Vietnam.

For Ani-One® AVOD via YouTube (https:/bit.ly/2wPEwAA),
subscribers’ numbers and viewership continue to rise and up to
31 March 2021, we have over 1.34 million subscribers and 145.6
million views.

Other than offering the latest and most popular anime, Ani-
One® also produces its own anime related creative videos and
offers KOL broadcast sharing on the anime shown on Ani-
One® on YouTube, music cover by local musicians and make-up
demonstration by cosplay artists.

As to our first edutainment Ani-Kids® channel (Ani-Kids®
Facebook https://www.facebook.com/AniKidsZone/), it was
launched on 19 September 2020 on myTV SUPER, a media
platform operated by TVB Group. Ani-Kids® showcased
entertainment and educational contents on science, technology,
engineering and mathematics from around the world to bring
fun, learning and adventures to kids with values such as love,
friendship, trust, forgiveness and consideration.

BEE WD T

E¥BXEEREE

XKEE

HE A A 4 A S Y 0 6.4% 42335.2
OB W o M AR NT.3% £38.61 W s
JG > TG LA A ZE BE (2019-20244F) > B
B E s BEERESH N -

IEE B T 2 B AT SE TS i B A Y 40 R £
HENT7.5% 2 267.41 H s T - 1M fh i % HE 22
TS e 15 10 1A 1 43 50 i 23 486 n2.0% %2.67.8
TS OG0 b R RE S R N o
TR A RO A MU U N 89.6% E 17.2H &
W5 T > T B IR T A A 4 A R R AR
HE A % 4 & 9k D -

it A > A A 3 BN 1Y B R SRR
LU

1 RABERTHBEX
A" B A 1 1 4 Ani-One®$F 7T
[ 15 4H B 3% (SVOD) M i 4 5 358 45 08
4% (AVOD) 1% 20 2 B © 3 Ani-One®
SVOD G & #HOTTF &M & » H
EEMECKEEZ /AR o 7850
W R > W OTT A 1EW 1 -

YouTube = Ani-One® AVOD (https://
bit.ly/2wPEwA A) i 71 [\ B0 3% T i
B BT #E20214F3H31H > 34
HEA 1347 8 4 5] B E J145.60 # K
R -

R T 4L f B e B A B8 4 5 Ani-
One®7h #A1E 3 A 1Y B i A1 B A & 4
B I 42 it 4> 2 YouTube Ani-One® 8 %8
LTS E)E M KOLE #§ ~ A Hh 7 4%
F N ) % 5 44 80 72 A K cosplay 2 A Y
b it 7 o

A 2202049 H19H 78 TVB 4 4] %
Y 8588 - A myTV SUPER i T
B %5 % 40 8 Ani-Kids® (Ani-Kids®
Facebook https://www.facebook.com/
AniKidsZone/) ° Ani-Kids® J& 7~ & H
A BB Il AR R B
R YETFNHHE N A - 2y 3% T M A AR 4
o~ BUEFE R B K fF
TR EEEBE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B ER e DA

As to our movie distribution network, we released the movie
“My Hero Academia: Heroes Rising (F% [ 5 i B 5z il £5 It -
YHEB T A)” in Asia cinemas. And for the first time, we
expanded to India in theatrical release of “My Hero Academia
THE MOVIE — Two Heroes (F Y 35 ifi: £ ¢ 51 35 hit: w9 5 A
) 9% I )’ and “My Hero Academia: Heroes Rising (F& 1 % I
B2 B35 W« HE BT I 42)” in local cinemas from February to
March 2021. Other than theatrical release, we also released the
movie “Double World” on Netflix globally in July 2020 and it
was ranked among top 10 viewership in many territories,
including Asia, Europe, Middle East, North and South
Americal.

BEILRMERE No.1

Our Media Content Distribution Business continued to be
our key revenue contributor during the Reporting Period,
accounting for 79.8% of total revenue.

Acquisition of new titles/rights

In addition to expanding our content distribution network, we
continue to acquire top quality contents in various genres —
anime, drama series, and movies.

1 https://flixpatrol.com/title/double-world-2019/top10/

- 12 MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2021 Annual Report
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1 https://flixpatrol.com/title/double-world-2019/top10/



Management Discussion and Analysis

With more than 70 strong anime series (with around 1,200
episodes in total) distributed during the Reporting Period, the
leading titles are: “Jujutsu Kaisen (5L 7 % ¥ )”, “To Your
Eternity (45 /A~ ¥ ) #3)”, “Yashahime: Princess Half-Demon (3}
BRI XL IE)”, “T’'m Standing on A Million Lives (837 i F &
44w b)”, “By the Grace of the Gods (7 & i B Ay,
“Godzilla: Singular Point (& % i : # 5 % )", “My Teen
Romantic Comedy SNAFU Climax (?R R T 1) & F 8 % = 50
8§ T > 52)”, “Dr « STONE (Season 2) (Dr » STONE (% —%))”,
“The Millionaire Detective Balance: UNLIMITED (& &% Jf] %
Balance: UNLIMITED)”, “THE PROMISED NEVERLAND
(Season 2) (A1 ERIEX)E (55 —2))”, “LAID-BACK CAMP
Season 2 (& REEE A (55 _-Z))”, “So'm a Spider, So What?
(HZE R W OWE B KK D)7, “Horimiya (Y& Bl &= A )” and
“Otherside Picnic (2t %% /£)”. They are highly patronised by
various fan communities and well received by customers and
viewers. In spite of the struggle of some animation studios in
meeting the production schedule due to pandemic (one of the
main reasons for the delays in release and affecting our
acquisition and distribution plans), we managed to have a
smooth release, with hundreds and thousands of anime fans
celebrating and following closely all our titles and release
exhibitions in various platforms in Asia. The top performer in
China is “Jujutsu Kaisen (Yt flJ %4 ¥%)”, having 560,000,000
views as of 8 June 2021 on one of the major VOD platforms. Its
popularity is no coincidence as it was reported by Shuiesha Inc.,
the publisher of “Jujutsu Kaisen (JLfl] 42 8 )", that the Japanese
comic has over 45 million copies in circulation?, making it one
of the best-selling Japanese comics of all times. Meanwhile, as
of 8 June 2021, Ani-One® YouTube channel’s top performer is
“The Millionaire Detective Balance: UNLIMITED (& & Jf| %
Balance: UNLIMITED)” with viewership reaching 21,001,567.

©®Gege Akutami/Shueisha, JUJUTSU KAISEN Project

2 https://otakukart.com/jujutsu-kaisen-now-has-45-million-copies-in-circulation/

EEETWED

FRAM A B 1 N BEAT 7702 F vm
B RV (E 2L 41,2004) - = FEAE N
£ LT 8 ~ AR BIIARY ~ CE
R WY (S AE B w2z
Y CRMERABE A CEFH L H
HEY S CRARKRMNE HRESEH N
To5E){DreSTONE (5 Z)) -
(& 5% ) % Balance: UNLIMITED) -
CRIEMELE (B ) (BB E
A (5 Z5)) ~ (U ROk SB AR 1)
R B A R (Bt 3w 2 ) o L EE )
18 57 ) &R R A4 AT BERO M0 E BESE - I
TR B AW BN 5 o RE —
Su ) T A = RO (L8 L s 52
28 TR AN Y B I S B AT w1 A0 3 RN
Z—) 00 B DA AR (HIR M
7 R E A bk s mE T RSB
12 2K B A0 3N %% )RR T IR AN AE R W 4%
& E0 A e & & B o fiE
28 I 4 TR B ) - % £20214F
6HSHE Hdr— (i F EASE B R T &
3 R 5560,000,0009K o HiAZ L
HOSG IE T A o B8 COU A A ) H AR P
Shuiesha Inc. ¥ 38 - %8 #F H A 18 51 38
17 58 34,5008 M2 > A bl
PHHAE FH 2 — o FIHF > B E20214F
678H > Ani-One® YouTube#H#H | %
2 i JEC(E Tl % Balance:
UNLIMITED) > #&Ji & % £21,001,567
&

2 https:/lotakukart.com/jujutsu-kaisen-now-has-43-million-copies-in-circulation/
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEER WD

To support the development of our edutainment Ani-Kids®
channel, we acquired and distributed titles such as “FOOD
Man (FOOD# AN)”, “Leo the Truck — Sing with Leo (/M F
L F| B Sing with Leo)”, “Robocar POLI (% /)N ¥% ff 3
F1)”, “HAPPIPLAYGROUND”, “Kawanimals”, “NINJABOY
RANTARO (Z. # @l K BF)”, “Kaasan Mom’s Life (& H 5
1%)”, “English Tree TV”, “Go Go Giwas (?:'?ﬁiﬂﬁ < FFE Y,
“ZOMBIEDUMB (Season 1) (% Hb & 5 (5 — Z%))”.

For drama series, we co-invested, co-produced and distributed
“futmalls.com (T8 % A 7K)” to Netflix globally and also to a
local VOD platform in Taiwan.

For movies, while cinemas were closed at various points
during the Reporting Period, they were eventually opened
with implementation of social distancing requirements. We
distributed “Violet Evergarden: the Movie (|5 I %% 4% B /K
15 {€ [#)” in Hong Kong and it had been shown in Hong Kong
cinemas for close to 6 months. Despite the social distancing
restriction, there was an 239% increase when compare to the
release of the previous movie “Violet Evergarden — Eternity
and the Auto Memory Doll — (%% % B /K 16 16 [ /M — 7k
m B E B F 5 A —)” back in January 2020. After the
reopening of cinemas after Chinese New Year, we released
another two Japanese live action movies “The Untold Tale of
the Three Kingdoms (Z# =Bl )" and “THE PROMISED
NEVERLAND (%7€ ) # %] &5)” in Hong Kong. In Taiwan, we
released “Gintama The Very Final (§8 3 THE FINAL)” on 26
February 2021.

@‘@g\. AR i
ﬁﬂ‘@l

RGARDEN
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Strategic content co-investment

The Group’s co-investment in its first domestic and Chinese
animated series “KIKI & NUNA (& & 155 WF)” has been
engaged in distribution and licensing activities throughout the
year. After its first broadcast on the China Central Television
kid’s channel CCTV-14 from 6 November 2020, “KIKI &
NUNA (& #F F1 %% 4 )~ is available on over 55 platforms
in China including TV, VOD platforms, OTT, IPTV and
inflight channels in China. Moreover, “KIKI & NUNA (%
7 F B2 48)” will be broadcasted in Asia in Q4 2021. “KIKI
& NUNA (A5 & f1 %% 36)” has grabbed a number of awards
and recommendations such as Excellent Domestic Anime by
National Radio and Television Administration in China (B % &
% B 47 44)%). On 19 March 2021, the Group and the co-investor
Suzhou Aola Animation Technology Co. Ltd. revealed the
coming of Season 2 of “KIKI & NUNA (& & fl %5 4t)” on
Jiangsu-Hong Kong Film & TV Cooperation Conference during
FILMART 2021. In Season 2, more characters and scenes will
be developed, and a new journey is waiting for Kiki, Nuna and
their friends.

In terms of licensing activities of “KIKI & NUNA (& & 1 %%
Wk Y”, the first batch of merchandised products will be launched
in Q2-Q3 2021. It will cover toys, food and beverage and kid’s
apparels which are the main focus merchandised categories. In
2021-2022, “KIKI & NUNA (& #F F1 85 4F)” will participate
and conduct in more B2B licensing activities to expand on more
business opportunity.
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The Group’s co-invested movie “One Second Champion (—
% T)” was the box office champion for Hong Kong Movie in
2021 with box office exceeding HK$17 million as of 8 June
20213. In addition to the great theatrical success, the movie also
received critical acclaim. The movie was selected as one of the
“Recommended Movie” of the 27th Hong Kong Film Critics
Society Award (5% — -t i 7 s % 5 5T s S & K4%). It is also
the winner of the “Audience Choice” (¥l A 518 e £ B ) of
2020 Hong Kong Asia Film Festival (7 W5 58 Ml % 5 ).
Outside Asia, it was also the “CENTERPIECE of Festival” of
the Asian Pop-Up Cinema by Sophia’s Choice in Asia Movies
Festival [ A ¥l B 8 % 5 #i ] in Chicago, USA.

= ©

5 SF1T1Hy&—&
\BBHNEEER

3 The information is provided by the Hong Kong Motion Picture Industry
Association (MPIA) & Hong Kong Theatres Association (HKTA) affiliated
Hong Kong Box Office Limited (HKBO).
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Another co-invested movie of the Group “Drifting (¥ 7K % Jit )”
was enlisted in the “Big Screen Competition” ( [ K #R %] ¥ %5
¥ JT) of the 2021 International Film Festival Rotterdam (i 4F
% % &) and nominated in Hong Kong International Film
Festival (7 ¥ B0 B¢ 76 52 fili) “Firebird Award” ([ K &K 8¢ | &5
¥ J0). The movie was released in Hong Kong on 3 June 2021.

L N uad

2 s

(il‘ DRIFT G

]
613 H itk

mm2 © TR e

For drama series, the Group entered into a global distribution
deal with Netflix for the Group’s co-invested Taiwanese drama
series “More Than Blue (M 2545 T8 2545 19 it $5)” and it will be
aired globally on Netflix soon. The Group has also co-invested
in another Taiwanese drama series “Arc of Life () &l 2 1Y
JIB 46 %y which is aired globally on IQIYL.

As to the Group’s first co-production of “Orenchi no Furo Jijo
(FRFEWHLIN . = 2)”, a 12 episodes live action drama series
adapted from Japanese manga, it has finished shooting and is
currently in post-production stage and is targeted to be released
by the end of 2021.

The Group’s participation in co-investment, co-development
and co-production of content will solidify the Group’s edge
in bringing the best content to its customers, enhance and
complete the Group’s eco-system in building a sustainable
business model, and accelerate the growth of our Brand
Licensing Business.
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Acquisition of licensing brands

Our Brand Licensing Business contributed 20.2% of our total
revenue during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, the Group added a number of
brands in different categories — Pets Rock and Lychee &
Friends for lifestyle; and “Jujutsu Kaisen (JLHlT #% ¥%)” and
“My Hero Academia Season 5 (¥ HY 3 fifi 22 B (%5 7 2% ))”
for Japanese anime. The Group also accomplished significant
renewal with our long-term partner Le Petit Prince.

Pets Rock, a brand created by British art and design partners
Mark and Kate Polyblank, is making substantial inroads
into the Asian market with more than 80 characters cleverly
combining people’s enduring fascination with their pets and the
cult of celebrity in an engaging mix of pop culture and trend.
The Group represents the brand in Mainland China, Hong
Kong, Taiwan and South East Asia.

Lychee & Friends, a lifestyle brand founded by Korean
designers in 2016, promotes original creativity and humor. The
Group represents the brand in Mainland China, Hong Kong,
Taiwan and South East Asia.

Furthermore, the Group will continue to focus on Japanese
anime brands especially the newly acquired brand “Jujutsu
Kaisen (JL1l7 %4 8)”, one of the best-selling Japanese comics
of all times. Licensed products of “Jujutsu Kaisen (7 fl7 71 &)
were launched at Ani-One® x FanFans Popup Store from 2-10
February 2021 and Taipei International Comics & Animation
Festival in Taiwan from 4-8 February 2021.

The Group has been working with Le Petit Prince for 17 years
and has extended its relationship for another 5 years.

- 18 MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2021 Annual Report

IBRELE
AN AR ZE R RN E
JER T AP AR £5 f920.2% o

ot AN - A B B R G T 2 (8 AN W) B
Tl ) i B — A2 3 i i Pets Rock (BE4)
% %) fLychee & Friends (7 £ BE K
15 ) BA B HAS 8 18 fify B O il 4 B0) B
CRRAY T T BB (5 T 2R)) o AL H IR
B AM 1Y = B A AE B BN E T 5 K

Pets Rock (FE ¥ # W) & W fy 95 (B
L ff7 3¢ % R Mark Polyblank fl Kate
Polyblank K It 1 37 » #EAS0Z A
B 5 TG0 s i A" E REY I F A S
T R B N5 FE SR AT SUIb B i
GiATE— B o 5% M H AT IEAE A 0
Wiy o AL TR A - FH -

Lychee & Friends (75 £ A& % %) /& HH
B 5w R 20164F Al 57 A T
F - B TE A% R VR R fiRD B BR R B
R - ALEETEAM - Fils - &
¥ S SR A R M A B % O R o

AN o A 4 G A A S T AR )
18 i B> 0 HC I A 0 R Al 2
By mEE ERGEMA AR E
Z— o HAMR202142H2H £10H #
Ani-One® x FanFans P I & 42021
FoHAHESHAE B E M G L BE &) i
1 U A B 1Y 5 RE E e

AL CH/NE T BE17E - W E A
A 1 B AR P AE R S4F -



Management Discussion and Analysis

Expansion on licensing brands rights

The Group has also expanded on the genre of licensing rights
from traditional items like apparels and accessories, gifts and
premiums to a new area — games and digital contents.

During the Reporting Period, we licensed emoji® to Tencent
Mobile International Limited for collaboration with its globally
top-ranked tactical online video game “Peacekeeper Elite (F/l
“F-¥54)” for Mainland China market. We launched a series
of emoji® themed props including head piece, backpack and
pendant during the Chinese Valentine’s day. These fashionable
and sci-fi inspired visuals have stirred massive social media
interactions in the country.

The Group also becomes a licensee for some of our brands to
develop creative and promotion programmes for our brands.

The Group partnered with Huawei Software Technologies Co.,
Ltd. as a smart phone theme packs licensee for Le Petit Prince,
emoji® globally and Popeye for Mainland China and launched
LINE stickers with Le Petit Prince and Lychee & Friends
during the Reporting Period.

The Group’s own anime channel Ani-One® also partnered with
Snaptee, a print-on-demand casual wear brand in Hong Kong,
and launched a series of collaboration with popular Japanese
Anime characters such as “My Hero Academia (F& [ % /f £
B ).

EEETWED
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Furthermore, the Group held the “Le Petit Prince — Le Havre”
exhibition in January 2021 at Art Gallery in Harbour City,
Hong Kong for celebrating the 75th anniversary of Le Petit
Prince’s first French-edition publication. This exhibition
showcased over 40 art masterpieces from Steven Choi, who was
the first Hong Kong illustrator who won the Champion of WIA
and JIA Prize and exhibited his artworks worldwide. These art
piece and a variety of Le Petit Prince collaboration
collectables, including paper art, blind box toys, calendar, tote
bag, T-shirt, bowtie, special edition watch, jewellery and herbal
tea sets generated significant sales from the event. Over 30
media visited the exhibition and conducted shooting and media
interviews, a total of 312 press clippings were published with
over 158 million circulation and over HK$10 million media
value worth*.

BEAh 5 7 45 R 2021481 H R 7 s 1
7 30k 3% 9l B B2 /N ) 5 B R 75
WA 2B TE o IR il Le Havrel B
o AREE R T ERENI0ZIE
BAEEAE > LR R R E A R EWIAR
JIAK 8% () 75 5 4 &5 Bl > 30 7F 2 BR @
SRS o 8 S BT S RN T
A AF W (L 38 2R T 4K - B & I
H HIE - F4R4% - T - 5845 - 5
AR T8k~ BRE AL B4R RS
HEATERMEEERE - BA30KE
HE 2 151 e B 3 4 4 7 30 B R LR AR R
L2 i BT 3125 > AT E B IE1.58
Ay > EHE fE (B8 481,000 8 ¥ oo -

Further, the Group had generated significant sales revenue for
Le Petit Prince through developing a variety of merchandise,
events and explored new opportunities with a variety of
licensees on providing high quality merchandise which covered
daily life for fans, such as apparel, food, collectible and gift
items. During the 2021 COVID-19 situation, the Group sought
opportunities with licensees to launch face masks and hygiene
products and collaborated on Le Petit Prince with charity events
which truly present the core value, care and love from the Le
Petit Prince Story.

The Group will continue to develop and expand our licensing
rights to new areas such as games and digital contents; and to a
next level by moving forward as a licensee.

4 The information is from MEDIALINK x STEVEN CHOI “LE PETIT
PRINCE — LE HAVRE” EXHIBITION PR CLIPPING REPORT by
Dynamic Duo Co. Limited on 4 March 2021 for celebrating the 75th
anniversary of Le Petit Prince’s first French-edition publication.
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Be Hong Kong’s ambassador

The Group acts as Hong Kong’s ambassador by supporting and
co-investing in three Hong Kong movies: (i) “The Shadows (5
% 22 [H)”, a psychological thriller; (ii) “One Second Champion
(— 2% £)”, a motivational drama; and (iii) “Drifting (¥ /K
)7, which talks about the lives of those who live under
the flyovers of Sham Shui Po. The Group is also the sponsor
of the Global University Film Awards (GUFA) 2020 organised
by Hong Kong Baptist University and the award ceremony was
held on 6 November 2020. GUFA 2020 received over 2,500
short films from students and young film makers from 104
countries and regions globally. The Group sponsored awards on
Best Animation, Gold Award and Hong Kong Baptist University
Academy of Film’s Choice.

The Group’s new arts e-commerce platform Whateversmiles™
partners with local art & craft artists to support the arts
industry in Hong Kong. Our partner created a limited-
edition embroidery product for our co-invested movie “One
Second Champion ( — %2 ¥ )” which was launched on
Whateversmiles™ platform.

Whateversmiles™ also launched The Little Prince Secret
campaign, which gathers creators from Hong Kong and
shows their creativity using the IP Le Petit Prince. The
Group launched a wide range of arts and craft products such
as handmade leather goods and bowties. To encourage local
culture and support creators, Whateversmiles™ cooperates
with DIY workshop and holds Le Petit Prince clay cream rose
workshop.

Recently, the Group also worked with Cedar Workshop from
Ebenezer School in Hong Kong to launch Le Petit Prince
wooden coaster for charity and to help the visually impaired to
spread our love and care in Hong Kong.

New investments and new business

After the launch of our first e-commerce platform Ani-Mall® in
Hong Kong, the Group continued to add on different range of
products from the most popular anime series. The launch of the
disposable medical masks of Mobile Suit Gundam has proven to
be a great success.
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The Group developed new e-commerce platforms for Peppa
Pig and Pals in the Philippines. In partnership with Hasbro
Consumer Products Licensing Limited, the licensor of top pre-
school brands, including Peppa Pig and PJ Masks, the Group
launched the first official e-store in the Philippines through
market-leader of e-commerce platforms Lazada and Shopee. It
offered over 120 SKUs of key categories such as toys, apparel,
homeware, bags, plasticware, bicycle and activity books. Other
than merchandise from Peppa Pig and Pals, a new brand will
also be added - Ricky Zoom in the toy line by the third quarter
in 2021. The growth of e-commerce business in South East Asia
has led the Group to expand to other markets such as Singapore,
targeting launch by end of 2021.

The Group also launched new arts e-commerce platform
Whateversmiles™ on 28 January 2021. It is an e-commerce
platform for artists to create their own designs and products
with licensed IP.

Awards

The Group was awarded by Enterprise Asia on 20 November 2020.
The Asia Pacific Enterprise Award — Corporate Excellence Category
in media and entertainment industry for demonstrating sustainable
growth, responsible leadership and operational excellence.

Our chairman and CEO Lovinia Chiu was also awarded on 16
November 2020 “The GBA Outstanding Women Entrepreneur
Awards 2020” jointly organised by Hong Kong Small and Medium
Enterprises Association and FM104 Metro Finance in recognition of
her distinguished achievement and contribution to the media industry
in society in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area.

Our Managing Director Noletta Chiu of Medialink Animation
International Limited was awarded by POMASE (The Licensor of
Le Petit Prince) for Best Agent Ever for Le Petit Prince in February
2021.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s distributed animation
“Jujutsu Kaisen (JEAIT 41 B8 )" was awarded with Bahamut Taiwan
Award (2 48 4 207 5% B 8 K - 20204F )5 A SR L ) il 2 48,

The Group’s co-invested domestic animation “KIKI & NUNA (#F
A7 F1 %5 48 )” was selected as one of the original China animations of
20204F 67 [ i i A 2 << St B) g ob B ) A B 18 R K R R @) and
was also awarded Excellent Domestic Animation by National Radio
and Television Administration in China (B 5 J& #& % #1 44 52020 4F
1 75 I B # ).
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Business Outlook and Future Plans

While COVID-19 may not go away soon, with vaccination against
COVID-19 rolling out around the world, we believe that the global
economy will improve. We will continue to maintain our strong
business and financial discipline against the tide with optimism. We
believe that the only way out is to learn to live with COVID-19 and
look for opportunities amidst the pandemic crisis. Many activities
have indeed been affected with lock down and social distancing
requirements but online activities from online conferences and
exhibitions to e-commerce sales have skyrocketed. We believe our 5
years corporate strategy is heading in the right direction capable to
tap into the stay home economy and continue with the realignment
and enhancement on our eco-system ensuring its sustainability,
connectivity and profitability.

The Group will continue to accelerate the development on
e-commerce platform in different territories and will proactively
develop opportunities in strategic partnerships, alliances and
acquisitions. The Group will also continue to build on the depth
and breadth of our Media Content Distribution Business and Brand
Licensing Business with the following focus areas:

1  Expansion of our own content distribution platforms and
e-commerce platform

. Ani-One® SVOD expansion to Thailand and Philippines.

. Ani-One® to add new partners in Malaysia and Indonesia.

. Our distribution network will be expanding to Middle East
and Korea. Ani-One® AVOD via YouTube will establish
YouTube membership, target to implement in July 2021 to
create loyalty among Ani-One® anime fans.

. Ani-One® AVOD via YouTube will develop localised
sub-channels in the next two years to groom up the
subscriptions and revenue.

. Our content distribution network will be expanding to
Middle East and Korea.

. Ani-Mall® to extend to outside Hong Kong.

. Partnered e-commerce business to expand to other
markets such as Thailand and Singapore.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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2

Expansion of our strategic content and brand
investments

Expand our investments in our own IPs such as animated
series, movies, TV series, characters and brands crossing
over for IP commercialisation. Our invested animated
series of “KIKI & NUNA (& & 1 8% #F)” will commence
broadcasting globally with distribution and licensing
activities in Q4 2021. We will continue to collaborate
with co-investors and help them grow their brands by
conducting different creative programmes. Second
series of “KIKI & NUNA (#F & F1 %5 48" is already in
production and will be ready by Q2 2022.

Enter into different output deals with renowned
production houses in Japan and China.

Co-produce and distribute “Orenchi no Furo Jijo (& & &
fLHY — =3)”, a TV drama series adapted from Japanese
manga series and build its brand by conducting different
creative programmes.

Continue to serve as an ambassador of Hong Kong
contents and brands, including local co-production of
movies, drama series and brands. We will utilise our
expertise or invest to help promote media contents and
brands created in Hong Kong to international markets.

Continue our investments in movies and live action TV
series. One of our co-invested top notch Chinese action
movies is targeted to be released by the end of 2021.

On live action TV series, we will continue to seek co-
investment opportunities on great Chinese TV Series for
the release on streaming platform globally.

Venture into new businesses

Look for investment and business opportunities such as
music, video games, merchandise, etc. which complement
with and can create synergies with our existing
businesses.

Continue to build ourselves as the best platform for our
partners, providing the best entertainment and brands for
everyone in the globe.

Continue to look for opportunities to develop digital
games.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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4  Strengthen exposures of Japanese brands 4 BiEH KGR E

. Seek opportunities to collaborate with luxury brands on o ORELE AL S A R e A Bk
regional or global scale. GIEHE -

. Expand the resources for product design, production ° PR B SR ET - A B M E
management and stock logistic to take the opportunity FEW TR > DL H A S8 5
of Japanese anime trend and the successful e-commerce FAME > 7E K Fg 0 K T BH ak 4
distribution channel open in South East Asia. gy UEAE o

. Create collaborative platforms to showcase anime content e RAlEAEMETARURKRHENE
licensing opportunities and merchandising. RHER & Fpah 8 6 -

As at As at
31 March 31 March
2021 2020

20215 R 20204F
3H318 3H31H

Number of active titles of media contents RJ JfJ B 4 &5 1L 88 (R 25 R
available #HH 533 431
Number of brands available CIREN Oy -8 g 141 87

202148 RHAEEERAT 25 -



Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue
For the year ended 31 March 2021, our Group’s revenue reached
HK$335.2 million, representing an increase of HK$20.1 million or
6.4% as compared to the year ended 31 March 2020, mainly due to
the increase in revenue generated from Media Content Distribution
Business.

Revenue derived from Media Content Distribution Business was
our Group’s major source of revenue, contributing 79.8% (2020:
78.9%) of our Group’s revenue. Revenue derived from Media Content
Distribution Business increased by 7.5% from HK$248.6 million
in last year to HK$267.4 million during the Year. Such increase
in revenue was primarily due to the strengthening of the content
distribution network, resulting in more sales in South East Asia and
globally. During the Year, one of our Group’s major customers has
changed its signing entity, resulting in a significant swing in revenue
by geographical locations between Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Revenue derived from Brand Licensing Business increased by 2.0%
from HK$66.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to HK$67.8
million during the Year. The increase was mainly due to its continued
growth in Mainland China market in respect of popularity of several
international characters brands and Japanese brands. Further, the
Group had generated significant sales revenue from Le Petit Prince
through developing a variety of merchandise and events. Despite the
growth in Brand Licensing Business, the segment revenue growth
was partly offset by the continuous outbreak of COVID-19 which
negatively impacted the sale in South East Asia. Nevertheless, the
Company signed more deals during the year as reflected by the
increase in contract liabilities. Due to timing difference, the contract
liabilities will be recorded in the coming financial years as revenue.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales was primarily royalty payments to the media content
licensors and brand licensors at the mutually agreed royalty rates.
Our Group’s cost of sales increased by HK$1.2 million or 0.7% from
HK$169.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to HK$170.8
million for the year ended 31 March 2021. The increase was in line
with the increase in revenue.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted to
HKS$164.4 million, representing an increase of HK$18.8 million or
12.9% as compared to HK$145.6 million for the year ended 31 March
2020, mainly due to a decrease in the amortisation of media content
commercial rights and brand licensing contracts included in “cost of
sales”. Meanwhile, gross profit margin increased by 2.9 percentage
points from 46.2% in last year to 49.1% for the year ended 31 March
2021 which was roughly the same for both years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains increased by HK$1.7 million or 38.5% to
HK$6.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2021. The increase was
mainly due to government subsidies under the Employment Support
Scheme and exchange gain, partly offset by a decrease in bank
interest income.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for the year ended 31 March 2021
amounted to HK$44.8 million, remain constant when comparing to
HKS$44.8 million in last year. The level remains stable while the mix
has been changed. There is a decrease in transportation expenses
and promotion expenses as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak.
Such decrease was offset by the increase in staff costs in relation to
enhancing our market presence during the Year.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March
2021 amounted to HK$55.4 million, representing an increase of
HK$4.1 million or 8.1%. The increase was primarily due to the
increase in staff cost and directors’ remuneration of HK$9.8 million,
partly offset by the decrease in one-off listing-related expenses of
HK$4.5 million and other operating expenses.

Other Expenses

Other expenses, net for the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted
to HK$30.3 million, representing an increase of HK$11.5 million.
The increase was primarily due to a write-down of HK$20.6 million
of licensed rights to net realisable value during the year ended 31
March 2021, an increase of HK$3.8 million, after taking into account
the current market conditions and estimated future recoverable
amounts in respect of the licensed rights. The increase was also due
to the impairment write-off of trade receivables of HK$8.1 million
recognised during the year, representing an increase of HK$5.6
million, after taking into account the current market conditions.
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Income Tax Expense/(Credit)

Income tax expense for the Year amounted to HK$1.4 million (2020:
income tax credit of HK$0.9 million) was recorded. The change
from tax credit to tax charge was mainly due to the reversal of over-
provision for profits tax of HK$1.6 million in the previous year.

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, profit for the year increased by HK$2.6
million or 7.3% for the year ended 31 March 2021. Net profit margin
of 11.5% was similar to the previous year.

Profit For The Year Attributable to Shareholders of the
Company

Profit for the Year attributable to shareholders of the Company
amounted to HK$38.6 million (2020: HK$36.0 million), representing
an increase of 7.3%.

Adjusted Profit For The Year Attributable to
Shareholders of the Company

The following table sets out the reconciliation from our Group’s
profit for the Year attributable to shareholders of the Company
to adjusted profit for the Year attributable to shareholders of the
Company:

Profit for the year attributable to shareholders

FrEHmEx(E®)

A E T A5 BB S B 1.4 5 B T (20204F ¢
Fr A5 BLAK A20.9H 85 J0) o 4 B T K o i
FyBLIE T E W b AR R4S
Bl M BH G 1.6 A R T T B -

FREF

RO bl R AR TR RS R B 2.6 E R T
(87.3%) o 4HH)2811.5% BLig 15 4E BEAR #F o
RN TE] R R ESERETR

A ] I SR RE AL AR R s A538.6 H i
(20204F : 36.0F & ¥ J0) » ¥ M7.3% -
APATARRELKEABRFEFREF

T R B A A D PR A A A AR A Vg

B A 7 W) e oM A AR TR AR N T R 2 B
iR -

For the year ended
31 March
BE3HANBLEFE

2021
20214
HK$’000
F#& T

2020
20204E
HK$°000
T 0

A ) B R A A A i A

of the Company 38,567 35,951
Plus: i

Listing-related expenses iR B B 3 — 4,514
Adjusted profit for the year attributable to E YN & R S

shareholders of the Company A A Y A 38,567 40,465

Adjusted profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the
Company would amount to HK$38.6 million, representing a decrease
of HK$1.9 million or 4.7%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2021, our Group had cash and bank balances of
HK$246.1 million (2020: HK$298.0 million), most of which were
denominated in US dollars and HK dollars.

As at 31 March 2021, our Group had a current ratio' of 2.7 compared
to 2.9 and a cash ratio? of 1.0 compared to 1.4 as at 31 March 2020.
The decrease in liquidity ratio was due to cash used in investments
and operations.

Notes:

1 Current ratio was calculated by dividing the total current assets by the total
current liabilities as at the respective dates.

2 Cash ratio was calculated by dividing the cash and cash equivalents by the total
current liabilities as at the respective dates.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2021, our Group did not have any interest-
bearing nor external borrowings. Thus, neither the gearing ratio nor
the debt to equity ratio was applicable to our Group.

Following the Listing, our Group’s operations were mainly financed
by internal resources including but not limited to existing cash and
cash equivalents, anticipated cash flow from its operating activities
and the net proceeds generated from the Listing. With strong
liquidity position, our Group is able to expand in accordance with its
business strategy.

Our Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2021.

There was no material impact to our Group arising from the
fluctuation in the exchange rates of the currencies in US dollars and
Renminbi for the year ended 31 March 2021.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

After deduction of the underwriting fees and commissions and
expenses payable by the Company in connection with the Global
Offering, the Net Proceeds from issuance of the shares of the
Company in connection with the Listing were HK$185.9 million. As
at the date of this annual report, the Company does not anticipate any
change to its plan on the use of proceeds as stated in the Prospectus.

The Board closely monitored the use of proceeds from the Listing
with reference to the use of proceeds disclosed in the Prospectus and
confirmed that there was no change in the proposed use of proceeds
as previously disclosed in the Prospectus.
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During the period from the Listing Date to 31 March 2021, the Net
Proceeds had been applied as follows:

b7 H 202143 A31H B > BT 48 Kk
THF LT A 7 B -

Unutilised
Actual use of amount as at
Planned use of proceeds up to 31 March 2021
proceeds ®o<” 31 March 2021 Bepd)
BZ2021% 420216
- 3A31R 3A31R
Intended use of Net Proceeds RRERSIHMY iR E RERE ABRASE
as stated in the Prospectus FERERERERAR T E R ERAR (Fe
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
THERT THERT TER
Strengthen media contents portfolio BRBBANSAEG 101,781 (46,299) 55,482
Expand our Brand Licensing Business B e o MR HE ST 32,572 (9,764) 22,808
Relocation and renovation of Hong Kong 1 78 T A8 U T SR DA
office and upgrade information technology T 3CE R 4R
equipment 12,857 (84) 12,773
Use for co-investment in the production of RS G R R A
media contents 17,694 (10,725) 6,969
Expand media content team, brand licensing & K I8 R A BIFK ~ W5 12 HE B X
team and expand workforce and enhance BEXB LW BEMERS
back office support Y 1R 8,691 (1,798) 6,893
Use for our general working capital RfE—ReEEEE 12,283 (12,283) —
185,878 (80,953) 104,925

Note 1: The planned amount of use of Net Proceeds has been adjusted in the same
proportion and same manner as stated in the Prospectus due to the difference
between the estimated net proceeds and the actual net proceeds.

Note 2: The unutilised amount as at 31 March 2021 is expected to be utilised in the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023.

The unutilised Net Proceeds have been placed as bank balances/
time deposits with licensed banks in Hong Kong as at the date of
this annual report. The Company intends to use them in the same
manner and proportions as described in the Prospectus. The planned
use of proceeds as stated in the Prospectus were based on the best
estimation and assumption of the future market conditions made by
the Company at the time of preparing the Prospectus. The completion
time of the use of Net Proceeds will be determined based on the
market environment and the future business development of the
Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of our Group
during the Reporting Period and share capital of our Company only
comprises ordinary shares. As at the date of this annual report, our
Company has 1,992,000,000 ordinary shares in issue.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARY

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiary during
the Reporting Period.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2021, none of the assets of our Group was pledged.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2021, our Group had no capital commitment that was
not provided for in the consolidated financial statements.
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Corporate Governance Report
EREREE

The Board and the management of our Company are committed
to the maintenance of good corporate governance practices and
procedures.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for our Group to safeguard the
interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its
business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code as its own code of corporate governance. Throughout the year
ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this report, our Company
has complied with the code provisions as set out in the CG Code, save
and except for code provision A.2.1 as set out below:

Chairman and Chief Executive

Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia currently holds both positions as chairman
and chief executive officer. Throughout the business history, Ms.
Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia has been the key leadership figure of the
Group and has been primarily involved in the formulation of business
strategies and determination of the business plans. The Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) consider Ms.
Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia the best candidate for both positions and that
the present arrangements are beneficial for and in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

In order to maintain good corporate governance and fully comply
with the above code provision, our Directors will regularly review the
need to appoint different individuals to perform the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition
As at the date of this report, the composition of the Board is as
follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia
(chairman of the Board and chief executive officer)
Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta
Mr. Ma Ching Fung

Non-executive Director
Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson, MH

Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda

Mr. Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP
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All Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of
expertise, and have exhibited high standards of personal and
professional ethics and integrity. The biographical details of each
Director and the relationships between the Directors are disclosed on
pages 68 to 77 of this report.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Board has met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

Our Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of his/her independence in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company
also considers that they meet the independence criteria set out in the
Listing Rules.

Directors’ Re-election

The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) of the Company are appointed for a specific term of three
years, subject to renewal after the expiry of the then current term.

All the Directors of our Company are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meetings. Under the
Articles of Association of our Company, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their
number is not three of a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. Our Company’s Articles of Association also
provides that all Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be
subject to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of our Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors our Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.
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All Directors, including non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning. The independent non-executive
Directors are responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory
reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the Board for
bringing effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of
the Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at our Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to our Company details of other offices
held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant operational matters of our Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of
our Company are delegated to the management.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. Such induction shall be supplemented by meetings with
senior management of our Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, all Directors have attended
training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars,
conferences and workshops and read relevant news alerts,
newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant publications.
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Board Meetings

The Articles of Association state the responsibilities and operational
procedures of the Board. Pursuant to code provisions of the CG
Code, the Board will meet at least four times a year at regular
intervals to consider operational reports and financial results of our
Company and policies. Significant operational policies have to be
discussed and passed by the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, 13 regular Board meetings
were held for the purposes of, among others, considering and
approving the annual results of our Group for the year ended 31
March 2020 and the interim results of our Group for the six months
ended 30 September 2020. During the Reporting Period, apart from
regular Board meetings, the chairman also held a meeting with one
of the independent non-executive Director(s) without the presence of
other Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, our Company has held one
general meeting.

The attendance record of the meetings is set out below:

BITES
/N (2 AT A )

Executive Directors
Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia (Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer)

Chiu Siu Fung Noletta it /I R

Ma Ching Fung 5 E#

Non-executive Director FHUTES

Wong Hang Yee, JP e e (A 6)

Independent Non-executive Directors B FHITEE

Fung Ying Wai Wilson, MH WA (SRR E )

Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda 2R W

Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP BB I (B 58 0 2 A
KAV % 1)
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Attendance/
No. of General
Meeting
HEXRE,
BRRAXERE

Attendance/
No. of Board

Meeting
HERE
EEEERNE

13/13 1711
13/13 0/1
13/13 1711
13/13 1/1
13/13 1/1
13/13 1/1
13/13 1/1
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed our Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, our Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the Model Code and the guidelines, and our
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
corporate governance report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of our Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of our Company are established with specific written
terms of reference which deal clearly with their authority and duties.
The terms of reference of these committees are posted on the website
of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the website of our
Company at www.medialink.com.hk.

Audit Committee

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises one
non-executive Director, namely Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Leung Chan Che
Ming Miranda, Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson, MH and Mr. Wong Kam
Pui, BBS, JP and is chaired by Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson, MH.

The terms of reference of the Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The main duties of the Committee are to assist the Board in
reviewing the financial information and reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems, effectiveness of the
internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment of external
auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of our Company to
raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Committee held 5
meetings for reviewing the interim and annual financial results and
reports and significant issues on financial reporting, operational and
compliance controls, the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems and internal audit function, appointment of
external auditors and engagement of non-audit services and relevant
scope of works.
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The Committee also met the external auditors twice without the
presence of the executive Directors.

The attendance record of the meetings is set out below:

Members of Audit Committee

Fung Ying Wai Wilson, MH (Chairman of
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Attendance/
No. of meeting(s)

HERE,
ERERE

WA (RBE R (FLZEELH)

the Audit Committee) 5/5
Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda 2 R 4/5
Wong Hang Yee, JP #SEN CRF 40 1) 5/5
Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP BTG G EAE T - KP4+ 5/5

Nomination Committee

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises
one executive Director, namely Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Leung Chan Che
Ming Miranda and Mr. Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP and is chaired by
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia.

The terms of reference of the Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Committee include reviewing the Board
composition, developing and formulating relevant procedures for the
nomination and appointment of Directors, making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment and succession planning of
Directors, and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Committee would take into
account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board diversity
as set out in our Company’s Board Diversity Policy. The Committee
would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the
Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant criteria as
set out in the Director Nomination Policy that are necessary to
complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity,
where appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.
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During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Committee held 1 meeting
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board and the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and to
consider the qualifications of the retiring directors standing for
election at the annual general meeting. The Nomination Committee
considered an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the
Board is maintained.

The attendance record of the meeting is set out below:

Members of Nomination Committee

Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia (Chairman of
the Nomination Committee)

B E20214F3H31H ILFJE - ZE o 817
—REw® > IR EFG M - AKX
MR K ST AT E E B AR E
EERRBEFRG 2R 2BLERFZE
o RAZETRAERFGCAEMEL T
b 77 1 fR R 78 T

kR AL B S 0T

Attendance/
No. of meeting(s)

HERE,
ERERE

/N (18 4 2 A &)

1/1

Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda 27 R 11
Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP BTG BRI E & - KP4+ 1/1

Nomination procedures and the process and criteria

In the nomination process of appointing a new director, the
Committee and/or the Board may select candidates for directorship
from various channels, including but not limited to internal
promotion, re-designation, referral by other members of the
management and external recruitment agents. The Committee and/
or the Board should, upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of
a new director and the biographical information (or relevant details)
of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the criteria (as
set out below) to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Committee and/or the Board should rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of our Company and reference check of
each candidate if applicable. The Committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship,
as applicable. For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a Director at the general meeting of our Company, the
Committee and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria (as set out below) to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship. Where appropriate, the Committee
and/or the Board should make recommendation to shareholders of
our Company in respect of the proposed election of Director at the
general meeting.
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In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered: (i) character and integrity;
(ii) qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the Board
Diversity Policy that are relevant to our Company’s business and
corporate strategy; (iii) any measurable objectives adopted for
achieving diversity on the Board; (iv) requirement for the Board to
have independent Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules
and whether the candidate would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;
(v) any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board
in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence, gender
and cultural diversity; (vi) willingness and ability to devote adequate
time to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of our Company; and (vii) such other perspectives that
are appropriate to our Company’s business and succession plan and
where applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board and/
or the Nomination Committee from time to time for nomination of
directors and succession planning.

Board Diversity Policy

Our Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets
out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. Our Company
recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in maintaining our Company’s competitive advantage. Currently, the
Board has 4 female directors and 3 male directors having 57% female
on the board.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Committee will review
annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and where
appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement our Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the
Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing
and assessing the Board composition, the Committee is committed to
diversity at all levels and will consider a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional and
industry experience.

Our Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives that are relevant to our Company’s business growth and
is also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices
at all levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately structured
so that a diverse range of candidates are considered.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement
the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to
time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made
towards achieving those objectives.
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Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this report, the Committee comprises one non-
executive Director, namely Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fung Ying Wai
Wilson, MH and Mr. Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP and is chaired by Mr.
Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP.

The terms of reference of the Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The primary functions of the Committee include reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management,
the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management; and establishing transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director
or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Committee held 3
meetings on remuneration packages of individual executive Directors

and senior management.

The attendance record of the meetings is set out below:

Members of Remuneration Committee

Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP (Chairman of
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Attendance/
No. of meeting(s)

HERE
EEYS

E S RUNC TR SHIR R AR Ny o i ey

the Remuneration Committee) (F W Z A & ) 3/3
Fung Ying Wai Wilson, MH R (BB E ) 3/3
Wong Hang Yee, JP waE e O # L) 3/3

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of

the members of the senior management by band for the year ended 31
March 2021 is set out below:

R 95 A 2E 48536 <7 U <1 R SC 2B B L1516 >
FE20214E3 A3 HIE4FEE m s 2 g A B
S T A o

Number of

Remuneration bands (HK$) HFMEREGExT) person(s)

AE
0 to 1,000,000 071,000,000 2(Note) (Hfit)
2,000,001 to 2,500,000 2,000,001 %.2,500,000 1

Note: One of the two senior management resigned on 10 November 2020.
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Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the
audited financial statements of this report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES

TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the Group’s code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and all the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code for the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this
annual report.

The Company has also established written guidelines no less exacting
than the Model Code for securities transactions by employees
who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound and
effective risk management and internal controls are maintained,
while the senior management is charged with the responsibility to
design and implement an internal controls system to manage risks. A
sound system of risk management and internal controls is designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

As the date of this annual report, our Company does not have an
internal audit function. Nevertheless our Company engaged an
external professional firm to carry out internal audit functions and
the Board was responsible for internal control of our Group and for
reviewing its effectiveness.

Our Group has appointed BT Corporate Governance Limited
(“BTCGL”) to:

— assist in identifying and assessing the risks of our Group
through the use of an enterprise risk assessment questionnaire
and interviews; and

— independently perform internal control review and assess
effectiveness of our Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.
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The results of the independent review and assessment were reported
to the Audit Committee and the Board on 24 June 2021. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management measures
as recommended by BTCGL to enhance the risk management
and internal control systems of our Group and mitigate risks of
our Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the findings and
recommendations of BTCGL as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered that the internal control and risk
management systems were effective and adequate. The Board will
conduct a review on the effectiveness of the internal control and risk
management systems of our Group at least once in a financial year.

INSIDE INFORMATION

Our Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to our Company’s Directors, senior management and
relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control
procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorised access
and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Company,
Ernst & Young, in respect of audit services and non-audit services
for the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted to HK$1,637,000 and
HK$582,000 respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ma Ching Fung is the company secretary of our Company.
His profile is set out in the “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” section of this report. Mr. Ma has duly complied with
the relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of
dividends. The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, the Board shall take
into account the following factors of the Group when considering the
declaration and payment of dividends:

. financial results;

o cash flow situation;

. business conditions and strategies;

. future operations and earnings;

. capital requirements and expenditure plans;

. interests of Shareholders;

. any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

. any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board during
a financial year and any final dividend for a financial year will be
subject to the Shareholders’ approval.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this
report, no changes have been made to the Articles of Association.
A copy of the Memorandum and Articles of Association of our
Company is posted on the website of the Stock Exchange at www.
hkexnews.hk and the website of our Company at www.medialink.
com.hk.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings
Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meetings by
requisitioning an extraordinary general meeting. Pursuant to Article
64 of the Company’s Articles of Association, any one or more
shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not
less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall have the
right, by written requisition and send to the Board or the company
secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by our
Company.
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Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles of Associations, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the
Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of director
at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to
propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing
by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged
at our Company. The period of the lodgement of the notices will
commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of
the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than
7 days prior to the date of such general meeting and the minimum
length of the period during which such notices to our Company may
be given will be at least 7 days.

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person (the “Candidate”) for
election as a director of our Company at the general meeting, he/
she shall deposit a written notice (the “Notice”) with our Company’s
secretary. The Notice (i) must include the personal information of
the Candidate as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and
(ii) must be signed by the shareholder concerned and signed by the
Candidate indicating his/her willingness to be elected and consent to
the publication of his/her personal information.

The period for lodgement of the Notice shall commence on the
day after the despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for
such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such
meeting. In order to allow our Company’s shareholders to have
sufficient time to consider the proposal of election of the Candidate
as a director of our Company, shareholders who wish to make
the proposal are urged to submit and lodge the Notice as early as
practicable before the relevant general meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of our Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. Our
Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the following:

Address: Suite 1001, 10/F, Tower 1

South Seas Centre

75 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East
Kowloon, Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Company Secretary)
(852) 2508 9767
investor_enquiries@medialink.com.hk

Fax:
Email:
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For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement,
or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address, apart from
the registered office of our Company, and provide their full name,
contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Our Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
Our Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At the annual general meeting, Directors (or
their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet shareholders and
answer their enquiries.

Policies relating to Shareholders

Our Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy
to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its
effectiveness.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of our Company for the year ended 31 March
2021.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon our
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of our Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 100 to 106 of this report.
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of Medialink Group Limited
(the “Company”) is pleased to present the third Environmental,
Social and Governance (hereinafter called “ESG”) Report (the
“Report”) of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively as
the “Group” or “we”). This ESG Report summarizes the policies,
sustainability strategies, management approach, initiatives and
performance made by the Group in the environmental and social
aspects of its business.

The ESG Report covers the Group’s businesses in the media content
distribution and brand licensing for the year ended 31 March 2021
(the “Reporting Period”). The Report discloses the required
information under the “comply or explain” provisions of the ESG
Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“HKEX").

The Board is responsible for the Group’s ESG strategy formulation
and reporting, oversight, evaluating and determining the Group’s
ESG-related issues (including risks to the Group’s business), and
ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG management approach
and strategies are incorporated in every thread of the Group’s
business.

ESG is not a slogan but a responsibility for everyone in the Group.
Townhall meetings were conducted to communicate the importance
and the Group’s ESG management approach, strategies and policies.
Tailored for the Group’s business, 5Cs (Creativity, Content,
Character, Care and Contribution) were adopted to drive the Group’s
commitment in ESG in addition to adoption of green office wherever
we operate.
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During the Reporting Period, we use our Creativity to launch an
art e-commerce website whateversmiles.com on 28 January 2021
to provide an online art and crafts platform for creative articles to
share their designs, ideas and stories. Through the Content that we
distribute, such as One Second Champion, Drifting, Twelve Night 2,
Save the Planet and Weather Boy, we bring positive messages to the
audience and also instill the importance of environmental protection
through our Ani-Kids® channel. Through online story telling of Le
Petit Prince, a brand that we have represented for over 17 years, we
share our Care to the underprivileged children and that they can also
dream. Each Character that we represent advocates positive change.
For example, Garfield, another brand that we represent, supported
SPCA flag day on 8 August 2020. We also Contribute to Caritas
Hong Kong and have been Good MPF Employer since 2018.
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Friends of Caritas Caring Company
PEZR ARREBIE
— A ruby donor for Caritas

Charity TV Show
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Good MPF Employer Awards
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Medialink Entertainment Limited
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Good MPF Employer
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STAKEHOLDERS’ ENGAGEMENT

The Group is committed to maintaining the sustainable development
of its business and the environmental protection of the communities
in which it operates. We maintain regular communication channels
with our stakeholders, including government/regulatory bodies,
shareholders/investors, employees, customers, suppliers, community,
etc. and strive to balance their opinions and interests through
constructive communications in order to determine the directions
of its sustainable development. We assess and determine our
environmental, social and governance risks, and ensure that the
relevant risk management measures and internal control systems are
operating effectively. The following table shows the management
response to the stakeholders’ expectations and concerns:

Stakeholder Expectation and Concern

HEEER
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Management Response

EEEDE

28 FVE R
> Information transparency
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Government/ > Compliance in laws and > Paying tax on time; observation and compliance of
regulatory regulations laws and regulations
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Timely and accurate > Establish comprehensive and effective internal control
announcements and system
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Shareholders/ > Return on investment > Ensure satisfactory financial performance, business
nvestors P % 6] 4 growth and a strong competitive position within the
e w G H industry
Corporate governance 4 b e o e e 1
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system s E g
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> Set up comprehensive business strategic plan for
achieving business goals and objectives
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> Ensure transparent and efficient communications by
dispatching information at the websites of HKEX and
the Company
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BHESE

STAKEHOLDERS ’ ENGAGEMENT (Continued)

Stakeholder Expectation and Concern Management Response
K40 E MR EER EEEDE
Employees > Compensation and welfare Ensure fair, reasonable and competitive remuneration
e & i 88 4 scheme
> Health and safety TR 2 OF - 5 BRI B 358 0 1O S I B R
e B B 2 2 Ensure a safe working environment
e e Rl IR 4%
> Career Development B % A 1 T B
R Encourage employees to participate in continuous
education and professional trainings to enhance
competency
SE) R B 2 B M BE R HER LR S RE D
Customers > High quality products and Provide high quality products and services
E-a= services continuously in order to maintain customer
R % RS satisfaction
. T A B 0 0 R O IRBS LA R B
> Reasonable price
{5 b 4 18 Provide a variety of value-added products and
B services
> Timely deliver ; 2
Y Y B2 48 4 0 (8 L R S
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Establish after-sales services to satisfy customers’
needs
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Suppliers > Integrity Select suppliers with due care
8 v R S it i 79 1t B P
> Corporate reputation Establish policy and procedures in supply chain
4 ¥{§ s management
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> Environmental protection Encourage employees to actively participate in
T B charitable activities and voluntary services
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{2 Maintain good and stable financial performance and
a business growth
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MATERIALITY MATRIX EEMER

During the Reporting Period, the Group has evaluated a number R EM A > AEFHC KL ZHME IR
of environmental, social and operating items, and assessed their B 4L gr KOS AN B R S > 0B R R
importance to stakeholders and the Group through various channels. ¥ 8 BF Al £ 7 & B A SR [H B X THH 0 1
This assessment helps to ensure that the Group’s business objectives T2 & > W55 FF AR A7 By 7 42 [ e R 6 755 48
and development direction are in line with the stakeholders’  BEAF & 50 & 193 B B R - 17 4% 45 B M
expectations and requirements. The Group’s and stakeholders’ matter 57 /> & Fr B 0o (1 S T 2 B DL N (W 5 22
of concern are presented in the following materiality matrix: P R A

Materiality Matrix
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OVERALL ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION MANAGEMENT APPROACH

The Group recognises the importance of good environmental
management and is committed to protecting and conserving the
environment and natural resources. We strive to continuously
improve our environmental performance for the management
philosophy of sustainable development. In response to the global
environmental protection trends, the Group implements the
environmental protection policies to promote energy conservation,
reduce emission of pollutants and to mitigate environmental risks,
including compliance of the applicable local laws and regulations,
ensuring efficient use of energy, water and other resources during
operations, raising staff’s awareness in environmental protection,
and management monitoring of the implementation of environmental
policies.

Management of Emissions

The Group recognises the close link between energy consumption
and greenhouse gas emissions and undertakes various energy saving
measures (refer to the “Management of Resources Utilization” section
below for details) to reduce energy consumption, improve energy
efficiency and reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Waste management
mainly involves disposal of domestic garbage and collection of
waste paper for recycling (refer to the “Management of Resources
Utilization” section below for details). The Group’s businesses are
media content distribution and brand licensing. We do not generate
any hazardous wastes.

Management of Resources Utilization

The Group carefully manages the use of resources and is committed
to ensuring that all resources are used in an efficient and prudent
manner. We continually seek to identify and reduce environmental
impacts attributable to our operational activities, strive to increase
our employees’ awareness of resources conservation. Our employees
are encouraged to make full and effective use of resources, and to
avoid wastage.

Energy Conservation

Gasoline is only used in the Group’s vehicles. We carry out regular
repairs and maintenance on vehicles for better energy use efficiency,
and reduction of fuel consumption and greenhouse gas emissions due
to part failure. During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed
approximately 1,828.1 liters of gasoline as compared to 1,920.7 liters
of gasoline last year.
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OVERALL ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION MANAGEMENT APPROACH

(Continued)

Management of Resources Utilization (consinued)

Energy Conservation (Continued)

The Group consumes electricity mainly in its offices. We have
implemented a number of measures to save electricity and to improve
the energy efficiency of electrical appliances, and to encourage
employees to cultivate good habits in using electrical appliances. For
example, promoting the use of energy-efficient lighting; encouraging
our employees to switch off air conditioners, computers, personal
electronic devices, light and common office equipment when not in
use; and keeping all electronic appliances well-maintained to ensure
electricity is used effectively. During the Reporting Period, the Group
consumed 102.7 megawatt hours (“MWh”) as compared to 82.7
MWh last year. There was an increase as a result of the expansion of
the office size to accommodate more employees in overseas offices.

Water Conservation

As the Group’s business nature and operations are mainly based in
Hong Kong, the issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose is not
relevant to the Group. The Group uses water mainly in its pantry and
common restrooms. We have educated our employees to save water in
daily life so as to reduce wastage. During the Reporting Period, the
Group consumed approximately 175.9 tonnes of water as compared
to 76.5 tonnes of water last year. There was an increase as a result of
the expansion of the office size to accommodate more employees in
overseas offices.

Paper Conservation

The Group promotes the “green office” policy by encouraging our
staff to save paper and avoid wastage. We distribute information
and documents in electronic format to minimize photocopying and
printing. We also encourage our staff to print on both sides of each
paper and to reuse single-sided used paper. We then collect double-
sided wastepaper by putting them into collection boxes for the further
handling by recycling companies. During the Reporting Period, the
Group consumed approximately 0.1 tonnes of paper as compared to
0.2 tonnes of paper last year.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, there was no non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.
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RIE - HERERHRE

OVERALL ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION MANAGEMENT APPROACH

(Continued)

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group has always been focusing on environmental protection
and envisions that everyone can work together to build a better
environment for living. In order to enhance our employees’
understanding of the adverse impact of our habit and business
activities on the environment, we continue to adopt various policies,
measures, and actions in reducing carbon footprint (refer to the
sections “Management of Emissions” and “Management of Resources
Utilization” above for details). We also encourage our employees
to convey the importance of protecting the environment to their
families, friends and business partners so as to build a stronger
network in alleviating climate change due to human factors.

OVERALL APPROACH ON EMPLOYMENT
AND LABOUR PRACTICES

Employees are our most valuable assets and key driver for the
Group’s sustainable and long-term business development. We are
committed to create a discrimination-free, equal, harmonious
and safe workplace; to build relationships with mutual-respect; to
encourage our employees to be innovative, flexible and committed
when dealing with our customers and to provide high quality
products and services. We also offer promotion opportunities to
attract, develop, retain and reward our talented staff and provide
commensurate remuneration and benefits.

Talent Selection

The Group adopts a fair employment policy. The appropriate
candidates would be selected based on their experiences, knowledge
and abilities, and other job requirements, and regardless of their
race, gender, age, nationality, or religion. This employment policy
applies throughout all phases of the employment, including but
not limited to hiring, promotion, performance appraisal, training,
personal development and termination. We have a gender diversified
workforce with employee gender ratio of 1 male to 3 females and our
Board also has a gender ratio of 3 males to 4 females as at 31 March
2021.

Labour Standards

The Group respects human rights and prohibits any unethical hiring
practices, including child and forced labour. Background checks
with the review of identity documents of job applicants would be
conducted in our hiring process. During the Reporting Period, we did
not hire any applicant under the legal working age and comply with
the local laws and regulations against child and forced labour. The
Group also complies with relevant immigration laws in respect of
foreign staff.
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OVERALL APPROACH ON EMPLOYMENT
AND LABOUR PRACTICES (Continued)

Compensation and Welfare

The Group reviews the salary levels of employees regularly and
benchmarks against up-to-date remuneration data in the industry,
so as to establish a fair, reasonable and competitive remuneration
scheme. Staff salary levels are decided based on one’s knowledge,
skills, scope of work, performance, experience and education
background. Our employee remuneration package includes fixed
salary, annual leave, paid sick leave, discretionary year-end bonus
and other benefits. We conduct periodic performance appraisal and
fairly assess the level of the discretionary bonus, salaries increment
and/or promotion recommendations based on a number of criteria.
All employees are entitled to rest days and holidays, for example,
annual leaves, sick leaves, maternity leaves, paternity leaves,
compassionate leaves and marriage leaves. We handle dismissal and
compensation in accordance with the local laws and regulations.
We pay attention to our employees’ health and encourage work-life
balance. Our employees’ working hours are based on the local labour
laws. We may require employees to report to work on weekend or
public holidays but they will be entitled to extra time allowances or
compensation time-off accordingly. The Group HR submits MPF
contributions on time, and the consistent good effort was recognised
by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority with the Good
MPF Employer Award, e-Contribution Award and MPF Support
Award in October 2020.

On 6 February 2020, the Board adopted the Share Award Scheme
which aims to reward our employees (and other eligible persons) for
their past, present or expected contribution and loyalty to the Group
and align their interests with those of the shareholders through the
grant of award.

Development and Training

The Group has always been paying attention to talent cultivation and
is committed to staff training and development, as well as staff self-
enhancement. Permanent employees with 12 months’ service or more
may apply for job-related training programme(s) approved by the
Group. Examples of training activities attended by our employees
during the Reporting Period include Perspectives of Effective
Management: Meeting & Capitalizing on Crises, Maxhub Training,
Alumni Club 100 Class — Strategy & Innovation for Sustainable
Growth Cost Cutting.
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OVERALL APPROACH ON EMPLOYMENT
AND LABOUR PRACTICES (Continued)
Health and Safety

We recognise the importance of our employees’ health and safety at
work, therefore we strictly implement office environment sanitation
and fire safety management to prevent occupational hazards which
might lead to staff injury. Smoking in the office areas are absolutely
prohibited. We have clear evacuation procedures in case of fire
outbreak in offices to ensure that our employees are able to take
sensible and immediate action.

The Group management and HR team have taken various
precautionary measures in response to the novel coronavirus
(COVID-19) outbreak, which was recognised as a global pandemic
by the World Health Organisation in March 2020. We actively and
frequently communicated with our staff to keep them well informed
of the measures adopted by the Group to ensure workplace hygiene
and staff wellbeing since the outbreak in January 2020. We provide
surgical masks and sanitizes in the office premises for the staff. We
also sent surgical masks to overseas offices. Flexi-working hours
were arranged for staff allowing flexibility to avoid crowds in public
transportation during peak hours. Arrangements were made for a
pregnant employee to work from home. Staff who traveled outside of
Hong Kong were asked to stay at home for 14 days upon their return
before returning to the office.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group (i) was not aware of any
non-compliance incidents relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare that have significant impact on the Group; (ii) has not
identified any cases of non-compliance in relation to child labour or
forced labour; and (iii) was not aware of any non-compliance of laws
and regulations in relation to health and occupational safety.
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OVERALL APPROACH ON MANAGING
OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

The Group strives to maintain long-term, stable and strategic
cooperative relationships with leading media content and brand
licensors, and to co-develop with them on the basis of equality to
achieve a win-win situation. We select and work with licensors
with reputation and strong commitment to their content and brand.
Many of them are also listed companies with commitment to social
responsibility.

Each media content provider will have different media content and
we enter into distribution agreements and/or licence agreements for
each media content for the relevant rights, territories, distribution
channels and licence period. Similarly, we also enter into agency
and/or licence agreements with each brand owner for the relevant
categories, territories and agreement period.

Product and Service Responsibility

Product and Service Quality

We have been dedicated in providing high product quality and
professional services with the highest degree of integrity and pursuit
of excellence to our customers. The distribution of the licensed
media content by our customers are subject to applicable laws and
regulations at the relevant countries and territories. We make sure
that the media content to be broadcasted will comply with the
relevant regulation. Any updates in such laws and regulations or their
interpretation may impose more onerous compliance requirement on
our customers and we work with our customers and support them
to obtain additional licenses, permits, approvals, registration or
certificates for the broadcast.

As the way of media content consumption continues to evolve, the
channels our customers used may be replaced by newer distribution
channels. We help our customers identify sufficient or suitable
distribution channels based on our knowledge and experience in the
media content distribution trend.

Management of Intellectual Property

The Group has standard operating instructions for all departments
and employees to follow so that the registration and on-going
protection procedures of intellectual property rights and trademarks
are conformed. By well-defined registration procedures such as pre-
registration preparation, internal application examination and renewal
of trademark, we ensure transparency in the decision making process.
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OVERALL APPROACH ON MANAGING
OPERATING PRACTICES (Continued)

Product and Service Responsibility (continued)

Management of Intellectual Property (Continued)

In order to protect our trademarks and intellectual property rights,
designated staff is responsible for periodically checking the Hong
Kong Intellectual Property Journal and other international webpages
if there is new application of trademark registration which is likely
to cause confusion with the Group’s trademarks and we will raise
objection accordingly. In case of any suspected infringement of the
Group’s trademarks, we will take action under the Trade Marks
Ordinance and other applicable rules and regulations in other
countries.

Sustainability

In terms of sustainability, customers’satisfaction is vital to our
constant and continuous business growth. Our products and services
are well recognised in the media content and brand licensing
industry. The viewership and subscribers increase in our proprietary
Ani-One® channel indicates that we meet our customers’ content
needs.

During the Reporting Period, our KIKI & NUNA animation was
awarded with “The 5th Jade Monkey Awards — The Top 10 New
Animated IP” and other awards. Co-founder Ms. Noletta Chiu was
awarded “Best Agent Ever” by the licensor of Le Petit Prince. These
awards reflected our high quality products and services, and our good
reputation in the media content and brand licensing industry.
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OVERALL APPROACH ON MANAGING
OPERATING PRACTICES (Continued)

Product and Service Responsibility (continued)
Confidentiality

Confidentiality is one of the Group’s core values. We have
established policies and procedures to protect suppliers’ and
customers’ information confidential through our employees’
handbook, employment agreement and trainings. We also adhere
to the requirement under the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(Cap. 486) in Hong Kong. We handle suppliers’ and customers’
information with integrity and diligence. The details are maintained
by assigned staff and they have to comply with the requirements of
confidentiality.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any issues
relating to violations nor receive any complaints concerning breaches
of suppliers’ and customers’ privacy and loss of data.

Anti-corruption

Maintaining an ethical working environment is one of the Group’s
core values. We have adopted a zero-tolerance approach for all
kinds of corruption, bribery and extortion situation. Offenders who
request and/or accept bribes, obtain other illegal interests are to be
heavily penalized. We require all employees to strictly comply with
our anti-corruption policies and procedures, and to prevent any case
of bribery. All directors and staff are required to follow our Code
of Conduct on acceptance of advantage and handling of conflicting
interest when dealing with the Group’s business. Disclosure forms are
provided to directors and staff for reporting on gifts or advantages
received and declaring any conflict of interest. We are determined in
combating corruption and building a clean society.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of (i) any non-
compliance with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201) in
Hong Kong, or (ii) any litigation cases related to corruption in which
the Group was involved.
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OVERALL APPROACH ON COMMUNITY
INVESTMENT

Our Group is based in Hong Kong and continues to invest in Hong
Kong and locations we operate by hiring local staff. We hire local
professionals and pay tax according to the local laws. We have
also enrolled on retirement fund and medical and travel insurance
schemes for our directors and staff. We conduct our businesses
according to good business practices, actively promote green and
environmentally friendly concepts, and strive for good business
development; contribute to social stability and building a harmonious
community.

We encourage our employees to help people in need by participating
in voluntary services or making charitable donations. During the
Reporting Period, we participated in the fundraising event “Shine
Tak Dynamic Online Sports Month” organized by Shink Tak
Foundation. We have also collaborated with Oxfam to deliver the
limited-edition Oxfam x Le Petit Prince silicone collapsible lunch
box in June 2020.

World
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE DATA BEXRBEEERE

SUMMARY
Unit 2019/20 2020/21
B 2019205 £ 202021F E
Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions:
BERBHERE
Scope 1t
GE—
Total Tonnes 5.20 4.95
BmE LUz
Intensity? Tonnes 0.05 0.05
B L
Scope 22:
BiE—=2:
Total Tonnes 51.82 49.14
wE g
Intensity? Tonnes 0.54 0.51
RS L
Air emissions*:
BERABHHE:
Nltro en oxides Tonnes 1.15 1.07
Sl o
Sulfur 0x1des Tonnes 0.03 0.03
it AL ¥ L
Particulate matters Tonnes 0.09 0.08
R LUz
Natural Resources Consumptlon:
AAEREREE :
Electricity:
T
Total MWh 82.7 102.7
weE JK BL IRF
Intensity? MWh 0.86 1.06
B JK B
Gasoline:
i
Total Liters 1,920.7 1,828.1
wme DI
Intensity? Liters 20.0 18.9
BES AP
Water Resources:
KER :
Total Tonnes 76.5 175.9
wnE L7}
Intensity? Tonnes 0.80 1.82
RS L
Notes: Wt
1 Scope 1 refers to the Group’s business direct GHG emissions, including 1 S0 [ — R G A R 2T R R R R S
combustion of gasoline. PR > AL A R BE T o
2 Scope 2 refers to the Group’s business indirect GHG emissions, including 2 07 R A [ S S A T RE I ) o 1)
consumption of purchased electricity. PANIGTE: GoRN i ke R R TR R i
3 Intensity is based on the number of employees. 3 wEELVE B A E
4 Estimation methods of data for environmental aspect have been revisited and 4 36 3 5% I 10 BOHE 0 Ak RO AT T N
revised, for a more comprehensive and accurate disclosure in the Reporting FAEFT - DUE AR 4 2 4F (Y 07 5 A o AF RE Y
Year when compared to last year’s methods. Therefore, last year’s data was %%E By AT R UERE o I . RAEMEED
revised. 2l e
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RIE - HERERHRE

“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE” BY R D

HKEX

General Disclosure/
Key Performance
Indicators (“KPIs”)

Reporting Guideline

BZTCERER - HERER

—REE
BREAERIER ] & 155l
A. Environmental
AREFH
Aspect Al Emissions
fEmAL B
General Disclosure Information on: 52
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
— 4 B A B R SR S i S SRS R K K s HEYS A E R E R 52
AR SE Y
@ BUR: & ‘
(b) ST P EEAT A O R B0 A B O R R R
KPI Al.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 63
R R AR R ALY | i R T B AR B PR i - 63
KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 63
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
B AUSCIE AL | S SRR AR R (LAME RT3 K& (W8 ) B2 (a0 DL A i B R - g H 63
el ) -
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity N/A!
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
B BUBCIE R AL | BT R AT R SE W AR (DA 59 B (i ) 4 B2 (A DA 7 4 BELA AN TE
15 38 R M 5 <
KPI Al1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, N/A?
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
Bl BUBCIE R ALA | BT R R R S W AR (UM B B (R ) 4 (A DA 7 R LA 78
E Rt E ) -
KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved. 52-53
B S IR BE ALLS | I A D R B 1 e % P A R 52-53
KPI Al1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, N/A!
reduction initiatives and results achieved.
BB BUSIE TR ALG | i B PR A E O BE 0 U5 0 WUIR A B 1 i R A5 R o A8
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“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE” BY

HKEX (Continued)

General Disclosure/

Key Performance

Indicators (“KPIs”)

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIB - 8 RERE

CRCEINEY

Reporting Guideline

A

BZTCERER - HERER

—REE
HRARIER HEES
A. Environmental
AREFH

Aspect A2 Use of Resources

B A2 EIRE M

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other 52-53
raw materials.

— K A RO TR (B8 BB R ~ 7K B Al JE B R B LR o 52-53

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) 63
in total (MWh) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility)

Bl G AR AR AL | HROSTAL  O) B A R I RE R (A0 R~ SRCER ) AR R (LLJB T IR T 63
) B PE (hn LA B B A5 TH i R D)

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, 63
per facility).

Bt BURIE TR A2.2 | BB KB R (DI B BAL - BIHS G R - 63

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved. 52-53

R B A AR R A2.3 | At R R 8 AR R B BT AR R o 52-53

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for 53
purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

B B R AR R A2.4 | 4 2 SR IROE KR L AT A AR AT B R DA R R T T K Rk g R K B A8 53
% o

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if N/A!
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

BB RS BEAR.S | B T TR e R B0 R (DL D) B (08 ) g AR EE B A o AN T8

Aspect A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

BTEA3 BERRRER

General Disclosure Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the environment 54
and natural resources.

— 4 B AR B AT N B BRI e R R IR R R B UK o 54

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and 54
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

TR B AR AR R AL | Al B I T B BR O e R AR TR O R B N PR IR AT B B 54

i) -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERHRE

“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE” BY

HKEX (Continued)

EE 5D

BZTCERER - HERER

General Disclosure  Reporting Guideline Page
—RRE ] & 1E Sl ¥
B. Social®
B.4t &3
Aspect B1 Employment and Labour Practices
fE HE B1 BREREZEIER
General Disclosure Information on: 54-55
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.
— 4 B A BT S AR~ RS SR T - AR R g - oot 54-55
S AL DA B H A 155 28 K AR R Y
@ HOR: KR ‘
(b)  BESFEFEEAT A RS B0 A B U5 R R 1 R
Aspect B2 Health and Safety
fE E B2 RERZZE
General Disclosure Information on: 56
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
— K A B R I 22 2 T B T (R B IR B AR S0 R SE T Y 56
@ BUR: & ‘
(b) ST P EEAT A A R R B0 A B I R R 1 R
Aspect B3 Development and Training
fE E B3 BRKRIEI
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging 55
duties at work. Description of training activities.
— Ji B #= A B B2 TR B JE AT AR S RGNk B 5 RE Y B o B B BN B - 55
Aspect B4 Labour Standards
[E E B4 % T XA
General Disclosure Information on: 54
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
— e A BB 1k Tk 2 L 54
(@ KK ‘
(b) BN B AT A TR B AR B A R R RO B EORL o
Aspect B5 Supply Chain Management
fE EB5 e E R
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. 57
— 4 B B R A Y B B R AL & A B O - 57

- 66 MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2021 Annual Report




Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERHRE

“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND BMRXWCGRE  H8RER
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE” BY HiE 5D
HKEX (Continued)
General Disclosure  Reporting Guideline Page
—RIXE HEEL BEH
B. Social®
B.#t &3
Aspect B6 Product and Service Responsibility
& EB6 EmREBEE
General Disclosure Information on: 57-60

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters

relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

— i i iR R AT B A IR M B A~ A AR AL BE S DL 57-60
T K
(@ R K
(b) RESEHEEAT NA K B A B A R R B0 R o

Aspect B7 Anti-corruption

& EmB7 RES

General Disclosure Information on: 60

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

— i B A7 B By AE B B B R IR B e R B 60
@ BEUR K
(b)  BESF I EEAT A K5 B 00 A B 5 R R B R -

Aspect B8 Community Investment

[E E B8 HERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 61-62

communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

— R B LA A I 2 B A R o T A A I T RN L S S ) S A 61-62
[ | 45 #Y) B IR -

Notes: M7t -

1 The Group’s businesses are media content distribution and brand licensing. We 1 A% B T I T S A SR A 0 A AT R MR
did not generate any hazardous wastes. HE > AV R A BE AR AT AT F Y B AT AT

AR RE -

2 The Group’s businesses are media content distribution and brand licensing. 2 A S T 1) SE TS By I N 25 B AT I AR E - dE
The non-hazardous wastes are mainly domestic garbage and waste paper. The R TR A A B R R BEAR - R B FUR
employees generate little domestic garbage and waste paper and the related A D AR TR B IR R JBE AR AR T R LD
data is difficult to be collected. So there is no statistics for the amount of P BULR A SR E B E L&

non-hazardous wastes generated.

3 Pursuant to Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on 3 WRIEB S P aE 75 Ll BRI BE 8 — - CABTE

the HKEX, the KPIs under Area B “Social” are recommended disclosures only. T B AL G | 1 B S A R A R R
Therefore, the Group chose not to disclose those KPIs in this Report. 68 305 TR G A A [ 988 9 ORI R % 5 BB A AL
TEHE -
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEEBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia

Position and Experience

Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia (/) # 2 &), aged 56, is the founder
of our business, the chairman of our Board and the chief executive
officer of our Company, an executive Director and chairman of the
Nomination Committee. Ms. Lovinia Chiu is primarily responsible
for formulating the overall development strategies and business plans
of our Group and overseeing the overall development and operations
of our Group. She was appointed as a Director on 29 October
2018. In addition, Ms. Lovinia Chiu currently holds the position of
director in MEL, MFE, MAIL, Medialink (Asia) Limited, Medialink
Holdings Limited, Medialink Entertainment Holdings Limited,
Medialink Investment Holdings Limited, Medialink Licensing
Holdings Limited, Medialink Pacific Limited, Whateversmiles
Limited, Whateversmiles # 3\ & %I which are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of our Company. She has over 30 years of experience in
the content distribution industry.

Prior to founding our Group in 2000, Ms. Lovinia Chiu started her
career in August 1988 in media content distribution as a marketing
assistant at a private Hong Kong company engaged in content
distribution. She later took on the role of marketing executive and
subsequently director of the marketing and acquisitions department
from November 1988 to January 1990 and January 1990 to June
1993 respectively. Ms. Lovinia Chiu later joined Media Assets
Limited, a company under Star TV Group which primarily focuses
on broadcasting services, as a sales manager from June 1993 to
January 1994. Subsequently and up till the founding of our Group,
Ms. Lovinia Chiu started to conduct media content distribution and
its related licensing business in 1994 through a predecessor of our
Group. Ms. Lovinia Chiu was also featured as one of the dynamic
women entrepreneurs under the 2015 EY Entrepreneurial Winning
Women Asia Pacific programme organised by Ernst & Young. In
November 2020, Ms. Lovinia Chiu was presented with The Greater
Bay Area Outstanding Women Entrepreneur Award 2020 by the
Hong Kong Small and Medium Enterprises Association and FM 104
Metro Finance. Ms. Lovinia Chiu is one of the judges and investors
for the Pan-Asia Venture Development Platform, an independent and
self-funded platform which engages EMBA and MBA students as
well as graduates for the purpose of developing quality high-growth
ventures in Asia. She has been a council member of Institute of ESG
& Benchmark since December 2020.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Lovinia Chiu received her diploma in business administration
from Hong Kong Shue Yan College (currently known as Hong Kong
Shue Yan University) in July 1987. In August 2012, Ms. Lovinia
Chiu also completed the CUHK EMBA-UC Berkeley Business
Negotiations Programme. She received her master’s degree in
business administration (Executive MBA programme) from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in November 2013.

Ms. Lovinia Chiu has been a co-opt member of the Promotion and
Consultation Sub-committee of the Cross-industry Training Advisory
Committee in HRM Sector of the Qualification Framework since
January 2021.

Length of service

Ms. Lovinia Chiu was appointed as executive Director on 29 October
2018. Ms. Lovinia Chiu has entered into a service contract with our
Company for a term of three years commencing from 29 April 2019.
Ms. Lovinia Chiu is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at annual general meetings of our Company pursuant to the Articles
of Association.

Relationships

Ms. Lovinia Chiu is the sister of Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta
(executive Director) and Ms. Chiu Siu Ling Barbara (member of the
senior management), and the sole shareholder of RLA (Controlling
Shareholders). Save as disclosed, Ms. Lovinia Chiu does not have
any relationship with any Directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders, or Controlling Shareholders of our Company.

Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta

Position and Experience

Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta (# /)N Bl 2 L), aged 52, is an executive
Director. She joined our Group on 27 September 2000 as the
executive vice president for sales and acquisition strategies and was
appointed as our Director on 29 October 2018. Ms. Noletta Chiu
was promoted as the managing director — brand acquisition and
licensing of our Group in May 2019. In addition, Ms. Noletta Chiu
holds the position of director in MEL, MFE, MAIL, Medialink
(Shanghai) Co., Limited, Medialink Brand Management Pte Limited,
Medialink Licensing Holdings Limited, Whateversmiles Limited,
Whateversmiles # xU & 41, Medialink Brand Management (Malaysia)
SDN, BHD., Medialink Cultural & Creative (Beijing) Limited and
Medialink Cultural & Creative Investment (Guangzhou) Limited,
which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of our Company. She is
responsible for supervising and providing strategic advice on the
Brand Licensing Business of our Group.

EENEHREEREE

/)N e L 2 R 19874 T H 7 i AR A B B
(508 7 v A O 5% ) L % T 7 45 B SR o
JA20124F8 1 > it /)N Me 2 IR 58 A s S0
REBITEON B T8 B L — A4 e
0K B B 3 23 1 1 B R F) R FE (CUHK
EMBA-UC Berkeley Business Negotiations
Programme) ° i A20134F11 H & 15 F
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20004F9H27H fim A A 45 B - U5 AT 8 B
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SHE T B 7 4 ] 25 S 40 58 10\ T8 i I e
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] 42 & BB 20 W (R ¥ 5 1 %% - MFE ~ #
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(Malaysia) SDN, BHD. * # ¥ 3¢k £ & (db
) A R E RIS B ARE (M) A
BR AW 2 o 5 A B R A 4 R o
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EENEHEERERE

Ms. Noletta Chiu began her career as a production assistant. She
subsequently focused on film distribution and video shooting and
secured distribution rights to films. Subsequently and prior to joining
our Group, Ms. Noletta Chiu worked for the predecessor of our
Group, namely Medialink International Limited which was engaged
in media content distribution.

Ms. Noletta Chiu graduated with a bachelor of arts degree (major in
cinema and photography) from Southern Illinois University in March
1992 for which she was entered onto the Dean’s list. Ms. Noletta Chiu
is also the Oxfam Hong Kong’s Advisor of Resources Development
on Fundraising and Communications and the member of HKTDC
Design, Marketing and Licensing Services Advisory Committee since
2019/20.

Length of service

Ms. Noletta Chiu was appointed as executive Director on 29 October
2018. Ms. Noletta Chiu has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 29 April 2019.
Ms. Noletta Chiu is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at annual general meetings of our Company pursuant to the Articles
of Association.

Relationships

Ms. Noletta Chiu is the sister of Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia (Chairman
of the Board, executive Director and Chief Executive Officer) and
Ms. Chiu Siu Ling Barbara (member of the senior management).
Save as disclosed, Ms. Noletta Chiu does not have any relationship
with any Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders, or
Controlling Shareholders of our Company.

Mr. Ma Ching Fung

Position and Experience

Mr. Ma Ching Fung (55 IE # % %), aged 45, is an executive
Director, the chief financial officer and company secretary of our
Company. Mr. Ma joined our Group on 30 September 2017 and is
primarily responsible for overseeing the financial management of
our Group. He was appointed as our Director on 29 October 2018.
In addition, Mr. Ma holds the position of director in Medialink
Cultural & Creative (Beijing) Limited and Medialink Cultural &
Creative Investment (Guangzhou) Limited, which are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of our Company set up in May and December 2020
respectively.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Ma has over 20 years of working experience in auditing,
accounting and finance in numerous positions across multiple
corporations. He began his career in auditing at Price Waterhouse
(presently known as PricewaterhouseCoopers), an accountancy firm,
in September 1998 and served as an audit manager before he left
the firm in May 2004. He served as the finance manager of Pantene
Industrial Co., Limited, a private company and the finance manager
of Hutchison Harbour Ring Limited, currently known as China
Oceanwide Holdings Limited (stock code: 0715), the shares of which
are listed on the Stock Exchange, from May 2004 to March 2005 and
from March 2005 to April 2006 respectively. Mr. Ma was the group
financial controller at IPE Group Limited (stock code: 0929), the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, from May 2006
to September 2007 and he then served as a corporate controller and
head of controlling at a private company involved in the production
of primary and processed aluminium products from November 2007
to October 2012 and November 2012 to September 2017 respectively
before joining our Group.

Mr. Ma graduated with a bachelor’s degree in accountancy from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 1998. He
subsequently obtained a master’s degree in business administration
(Executive MBA programme) at The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in November 2013 for which he was entered onto the Dean’s
list. He has been a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since March 2008, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since September 2014 and The Taxation Institute
of Hong Kong since September 2014. He has been an associate of
The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and an associate,
a chartered secretary and a chartered governance professional of the
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators) since December 2016.

Length of service

Mr. Ma was appointed as executive Director on 29 October 2018. Mr.
Ma has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term
of three years commencing from 29 April 2019. Mr. Ma is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meetings of
the Company pursuant to the Articles of Association.

Relationships

Mr. Ma does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders, or Controlling Shareholders of
the Company.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP

Position and Experience

Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP (E =1 & t), aged 49, joined our Group
on 1 July 2016 and was appointed as a non-executive Director on 29
October 2018. She is primarily responsible for providing strategic
advice to our Board. In addition, Ms. Wong holds the position of
supervisor in Medialink Cultural & Creative (Beijing) Limited and
Medialink Cultural & Creative Investment (Guangzhou) Limited
which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of our Company.

Ms. Wong had been a consultant for MEL since 1 July 2016. Prior to
joining our Group, Ms. Wong worked at Maxim’s Caterers Limited,
a food and beverage catering company in Hong Kong, from February
2007 to August 2015 where her last position was head of legal. She
then served as a consultant for Maxim’s Caterers Limited from
September 2015 to August 2016. Ms. Wong has been a consultant at
Liau, Ho & Chan, a Hong Kong law firm, since September 2017.

Ms. Wong had been a member of each of the Competition
Commission since May 2018, HKSAR Town Planning Board
since April 2016, HKSAR Chinese Medicine Practitioners Board
since September 2017, Audit Committee of West Kowloon District
Authority since January 2017, Hong Kong Council on Smoking and
Health since October 2017 and a member of the Hong Kong Advisory
Council on AIDS since August 2020. She has also been a council
and court member of Hong Kong Baptist University since February
2017. She was the vice chairman of the HKSAR Human Organ
Transplant Board from February 2013 to February 2019 and has been
the chairman of the HKSAR Human Organ Transplant Board since
February 2019.

Ms. Wong graduated with a bachelor’s degree in law from the City
Polytechnic of Hong Kong (currently known as the City University
of Hong Kong) in December 1994. She obtained a master’s degree
in law from the University of London in November 1995 and was
awarded the postgraduate certificate in laws from the University of
Hong Kong in September 1996. She has been admitted as a solicitor
in Hong Kong since September 1998 and a solicitor in England and
Wales since December 1998.
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Length of service

Ms. Wong was appointed as non-executive Director on 29 October
2018. Ms. Wong has entered into a service contract with our
Company for a term of three years commencing from 29 April 2019.
Ms. Wong is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
annual general meetings of our Company pursuant to the Articles of
Association.

Relationships

Ms. Wong does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders, or Controlling Shareholders of
our Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson, MH

Position and Experience

Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson, MH (O Z{& % &), aged 67, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 22 April 2019 and is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to our Board. He is also appointed
as the chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr. Fung was the financial
controller for Jardine Pacific Limited from June 1993 to March 2010.
He then served at Jardine Matheson Limited, a private company
principally engaged in providing management services to its parent
company, namely Jardine Matheson Holdings Limited (LSE: JAR,
BSX: JMHBD.BH, SGX:J36), the shares of which are listed on the
London Stock Exchange, Bermuda Stock Exchange and Singapore
Exchange respectively, as group financial controller from April 2010
to September 2014.

Mr. Fung has been a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since July 1987 and served as the president of
the same from December 2009 to December 2010. He has also been
a fellow member of each of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales since July 2017 and the Chartered Association
of Certified Accountants (currently known as the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants) since May 1985. He is the founding
president of the Hong Kong Business Accountants Association which
was established in June 2014. Mr. Fung passed his Advanced Level
General Certificate of Education Examinations in Hong Kong in or
around 1973.
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Mr. Fung has taken up responsibilities with certain Hong Kong
governmental bodies. He has been a member of Hong Kong
Productivity Council from January 2016 and Hong Kong Town
Planning Board since April 2016. In addition he has been a board
member of the West Kowloon Cultural District Authority since
October 2016 and a council member of the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology since April 2017. He served as a member
of the Financial Reporting Council from December 2014 to October
2020.

Mr. Fung has also taken up responsibilities with certain non-
governmental bodies. He has been chairman of the Board of
Hong Kong Dance Company Limited since November 2015 and
an independent non-executive director of Hongkong International
Theme Parks Limited, a private company which owns the Hong Kong
Disneyland Resort, since September 2018.

Length of service

Mr. Fung was appointed as independent non-executive Director on
22 April 2019. Our Company has issued a letter of appointment
to Mr. Fung for a term of three years commencing from 22 April
2019. Mr. Fung is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
annual general meetings of our Company pursuant to the Articles of
Association.

Relationships

Mr. Fung does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders, or Controlling Shareholders of
our Company.

Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda

Position and Experience

Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda (R R & A 2 L), aged 68,
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 22 April 2019 and is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Leung started her career with MTR
Corporation Limited (stock code: 0066), a public transport service
company, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange,
as a public relations manager from August 1985 to January 1994.
She then served as a corporate relations manager from February
1994 to December 2003 and as a general manager for corporate
relations from January 2004 to January 2013. In January 2009, Ms.
Leung was also appointed as a member of the executive committee
for MTR Corporation Limited and remained in such position until
her retirement in January 2013. Ms. Leung served as the Project
Coordinator of PLA Agencies Ltd from September 2020 to February
2021. Ms. Leung has been a presenter in Radio Television HK since
June 2013.
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Ms. Leung graduated with a Certificate for Private Secretaries
from Hong Kong Technical College (currently known as Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) in July 1972. She has been a fellow
of The Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in Hong Kong
since June 1997, a member of The Chartered Institute of Transport
(currently known as The Chartered Institute of Logistics and
Transport) in the United Kingdom since October 1985 as well as a
member of The Institute of Public Relations in the United Kingdom
since January 1988.

Ms. Leung was a member of the Council for Sustainable Development
from March 2009 to March 2015, the Women’s Commission
from January 2012 to January 2018, the Community Involvement
Committee on Greening since March 2015 to March 2021 and has
been a member of the Executive Committee of the Hong Kong
Society for the Protection of Children since December 2011, a
member of the Executive Committee of the Hong Kong Equestrian
Federation since May 2013, a member of the Hong Kong Housing
Society since July 2014 as well as the Advisory Committee on Built
Heritage Conservation since May 2016. She was also appointed by
The Hong Kong Equestrian Federation and The Equestrian Events
(Hong Kong) of the Games of the XXIX Olympiad Company Limited
as the National Technical Official for the Equestrian Events of the
Beijing 2008 Olympic Games from 8 August 2008 to 24 August 2008
as well as the National Technical Official for the Equestrian Events
of the Beijing 2008 Paralympic Games from 1 September 2008 to 12
September 2008.

Length of service

Ms. Leung was appointed as independent non-executive Director
on 22 April 2019. Our Company has issued a letter of appointment
to Ms. Leung for a term of three years commencing from 22 April
2019. Ms. Leung is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
annual general meetings of our Company pursuant to the Articles of
Association.

Relationships

Ms. Leung does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders, or Controlling Shareholders of
our Company.
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Mr. Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP

Position and Experience

Mr. Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP (E#f £ 4), aged 66, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 22 April
2019 and is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to our Board. He is also appointed as the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Wong has extensive experience in human resources management
and administration with local and international organisations of
renown. He has been a council member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Human Resources Management since June 2000 and later served as
its president from July 2008 to June 2010.

He has also been the founder and director of RESOLUTIONS HR
& Business Consultancy Company Limited, a private company
principally engaged in the provision of business and human resources
solutions as well as consultancy services, since March 2015. He has
been an independent non-executive director of Pine Care Group
Limited (stock code: 1989), the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange, since October 2020 and served as the non-executive
director of Bamboos Health Care Holdings Limited (stock code:
2293), the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, from
September 2014 to June 2018. In addition, Mr. Wong had/has taken
up responsibilities with a number of Hong Kong governmental
bodies and had served/has been serving as an advisor for various
matters concerning the local community, including human resources,
education, labour, welfare, commerce and economic development
matters, just to name a few.

Mr. Wong graduated with a bachelor’s degree in business
administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
December 1996. He subsequently obtained a master’s degree in
business administration (Executive MBA programme) from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in November 2013.

Length of service

Mr. Wong was appointed as independent non-executive Director
on 22 April 2019. Our Company has issued a letter of appointment
to Mr. Wong for a term of three years commencing from 22 April
2019. Mr. Wong is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
annual general meetings of our Company pursuant to the Articles of
Association.

Relationships

Mr. Wong does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders, or Controlling Shareholders of
our Company.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Chiu Siu Ling Barbara (#/ ¥ & 1), aged 58, joined our
Group on 27 September 2000 where she served as an administrative
executive until March 2017. She has been the director of human
resources and administration as well as head of treasury for our
Group since April 2017. Ms. Chiu was promoted as senior Director
— HR & Admin in May 2019. Ms. Barbara Chiu also holds the
position of director in Medialink Brand Management Pte Limited,
which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company. She currently
oversees our daily human resources operations and is also responsible
for reviewing internal controls and liaising with financial service
providers.

Ms. Barbara Chiu has over 20 years of experience in corporate
administrative matters. She began her career as an administrative
clerk in 1982. Subsequently, Ms. Barbara Chiu started working for
BMI (Hong Kong) Limited as an administrative assistant in 1993.

Ms. Barbara Chiu graduated from Delia Memorial School in July
1982. She is the sister of Ms. Lovinia Chiu and Ms. Noletta Chiu.

Ms. Lee Yat Ping (ZF# RE Z L), aged 47, joined our Group on
13 October 2000 and is currently a senior vice president (content
acquisition and distribution) of our Group. Ms. Lee has over 20 years
of experience in the media industry. Her current responsibilities
include reporting to our chief executive officer, supervising content
acquisition and distribution by the content department, formulation of
sales strategies as well as identification of new business opportunities
for our Group.

Ms. Lee began her career as a marketing assistant at Rich China
Industries Holdings Limited, a private company principally engaged
in the trading of health and beauty supplements, from August 1997 to
December 1997.

Since joining our Group in October 2000, Ms. Lee has served
numerous positions in MEL, including as senior manager from
January 2004 to December 2009, director — content programme
distribution from April 2015 to March 2017 and vice president
(distribution and sales) from April 2017 to April 2019. Ms. Lee
was promoted as senior vice president — content acquisition and
distribution of our Group in May 2019.

Ms. Lee graduated with a bachelor of arts degree in language
information science from the City University of Hong Kong in
November 1997.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHE

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the audited
financial statements of our Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Our Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are media content distribution,
investments in media content production, and brand licensing in
Hong Kong, Taiwan, Mainland China and other Southeast Asian
countries.

The activities of our Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 1 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of our Group’s business and performance during
the year and a discussion on our Group’s future development
are provided in the Chairman’s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis. A description of possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing can be found under
“Risks and uncertainties relating to our Group’s business” in
this report. Discussions on the Group’s key relationships with its
employees, customers and suppliers are contained under the section
“Key relationship with employees, customers, suppliers and other
parties” in this report. Discussions on our Group’s policies and
compliance with laws and regulations in respect of environmental
and social aspects which have a significant impact on our Group
are contained in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
In addition, our Group’s principal corporate governance practices
adopted which have a significant impact on our Group are contained
in the Corporate Governance Report.

RESULTS

The results of our Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 107.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors declared an interim dividend of HK 0.28 cents per
share for the six months ended 30 September 2020, amounting to
approximately HK$5,578,000 which was paid on Tuesday, 19 January
2021.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK 0.20 cents per share for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020:
HK 0.21 cents per share), amounting to HK$3,984,000 (2020:
HK$4,183,000), to the Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of our Company on Wednesday, 29 September
2021. The proposed final dividend will be paid on Thursday, 21
October 2021, subject to approval by the Shareholders at the annual
general meeting.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company is scheduled to be
held on Friday, 17 September 2021. The notice of the annual
general meeting will be published on the website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the Company
(www.medialink.com.hk) in due course.

Further details of the dividends of our Company are set out in note 12
to the financial statements.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting, the register of members will be closed from
Tuesday, 14 September 2021 to Friday, 17 September 2021, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the annual
general meeting, all completed transfer forms, accompanied by
the relevant share certificates, must be lodged for registration with
our Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor
Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong by no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 13
September 2021.

To ascertain entitlement to the proposed final dividend, the register
of members will be closed from Friday, 24 September 2021 to
Wednesday, 29 September 2021, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify
for the proposed final dividend, which is subject to approval of the
Shareholders at the annual general meeting, all completed transfer
forms, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong by no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 23 September 2021.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

Charitable and other donations made by our Group during the year
amounted to HK$389,000.

ISSUED CAPITAL

Details of the issued capital information of our Company are set out
in note 28 to the financial statements.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 6 February 2020, the Board adopted the Share Award Scheme.
A total of 3,005,000 Award Shares were granted under this Scheme
during the Reporting Period. The purpose and the principal terms of
the Share Award Scheme are summarised below.

1. Purposes of the Scheme
The purposes of the Scheme are to reward the Eligible
Persons for their past, present or expected contribution and
loyalty to the Group and align their interests with those of the
Shareholders through the grant of Award.

2. Duration

Subject to any early termination by the Board, the Scheme shall
be valid and effective for the Award Period, after which no
further Awards will be granted, but the provision of the Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to
give effect to the vesting of such Awards granted prior to the
expiration of the Scheme or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the provisions of the Scheme Rules.

3. Administration

The Scheme shall be subject to the administration of the Board
in accordance with the Scheme Rules and, where applicable,
the Trust Deed. A decision of the Board shall be final and
binding on all persons affected thereby. Without prejudice
to the Board’s general power of administration, to the extent
not prohibited by applicable laws and regulations, the Board
may also from time to time appoint the Trustee to implement
granting, administration or vesting of any Award Shares.

4. Operation of the Scheme

The Board may, from time to time at its absolute discretion,
select any Eligible Person to be a Selected Participant and
grant an Award to such Selected Participant during the Award
Period. In determining the Selected Participants, the Board may
take into consideration matters including the past, present or
expected contribution of the relevant Selected Participants to
the Group.

Each grant of an Award to any director (excluding independent
non-executive Directors), senior management, consultant or
advisor of the Group shall be subject to the prior approval of
the independent non-executive Directors. Where any grant of
Award Shares is proposed to be made to any person who is a
Connected Person of the Company, the Company shall comply
with such provisions of the Listing Rules as may be applicable.
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The Board shall not grant any Award Shares to any Selected
Participant in any of the following circumstances: (a) where the
requisite approval from any applicable regulatory authorities
has not been granted; (b) where the Group will be required
under applicable securities laws, rules or regulations to issue a
prospectus or other offer documents in respect of such Award
or the Scheme; (c) where such Award would result in a breach
by the Group or its directors of any applicable securities laws,
rules or regulations in any jurisdiction; (d) where such grant
of Award would result in a breach of the Scheme Limit or
would otherwise cause the Company to issue Shares in excess
of the permitted amount in the general and specific mandates
approved by the Shareholders in the general meetings of the
Company from time to time; (e¢) where an Award is to be
satisfied by way of issue of new Shares to the Trustee, in any
circumstances that cause the total Shares issued or allotted
to Connected Persons of the Company to be in excess of the
amount permitted in the mandate approved by the Shareholders,
and any such grant so made shall be null and void to the extent
that it falls within the circumstances above.

Timing of Awards

No Award shall be made to Selected Participants and no
directions or recommendation shall be given to the Trustee with
respect to a grant of an Award under the Scheme: (a) where
any Director is in possession of unpublished inside information
in relation to the Company or where dealings by Directors are
prohibited under any code or requirement of the Listing Rules
or any applicable laws, rules or regulations; (b) during the
period of 60 days immediately preceding the publication date of
the annual results or, if shorter, the period from the end of the
relevant financial year up to the publication date of the results;
and (c) during the period of 30 days immediately preceding
the publication date of the half-year results or, if shorter, the
period from the end of the relevant half-year period up to the
publication date of the results.

Issue of Shares to the Trustee and acquisition of
Shares by the Trustee

The Company shall, for the purposes of satisfying the grant of
Awards:

(a) allot and issue Shares to the Trustee under the general
or specific mandate granted or to be granted by the
Shareholders at the general meetings from time to time;

(b) pay to the Trustee such monies and instruct the Trustee
to acquire Shares through on-market transactions at the
prevailing market price;
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(¢c) direct and procure the Trustee to receive existing Shares
from any Shareholder; and/or

(d) instruct the Trustee to apply any Returned Shares held in
the Trust.

Where the Trustee has received instructions from the Company
to acquire Shares through on-market transactions, the Trustee
shall acquire such number of Shares as instructed by the
Company on-market at the prevailing market price as soon
as reasonably practicable after receiving the necessary funds
from the Company. Any excess amount of the funds provided
shall be returned by the Trustee to the Company forthwith
after completion of the purchase of the Shares. Where the
amount paid or caused to be paid by the Company or where
the amount that the Trustee is directed by the Company to use
is not sufficient to purchase all of the Shares it is instructed to
purchase, the Trustee shall acquire the maximum number of
board lots of Shares that it is able to acquire with the net cash
available in the fund of the Trust and the Company undertakes
to provide further funds to the Trustee to purchase all of the
Shares required to satisfy the Award. The purchase of Shares is
subject to the maintenance of an orderly market and the Shares
so purchased shall form part of the capital of the trust fund of
the Trust.

The Company shall comply with the relevant Listing Rules
when issuing new Award Shares and application will be made
to the Stock Exchange for the listing of and permission to deal
in, the new Award Shares to be issued. The Company shall not
issue or allot Shares in excess of the amount permitted in the
general and specific mandates approved by the Shareholders
in general meeting of the Company from time to time. The
Company shall neither issue, allot Shares nor instruct the
Trustee to acquire Shares through on-market transactions at the
prevailing market price, where such action (as applicable) is
prohibited under the Listing Rules, the SFO or other applicable
laws from time to time. Where such a prohibition causes the
prescribed timing imposed by the Scheme Rules or the Trust
Deed to be missed, such prescribed timing shall be treated as
extended until as soon as reasonably practicable after the first
Business Day on which the prohibition no longer prevents the
relevant action.
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Vesting of Award, settlement/payment of Award

The Board may from time to time while the Scheme is in force
and subject to all applicable laws, determine such vesting
criteria and conditions or periods for the Award to be vested.

Upon the satisfaction of the vesting criteria and conditions, the
Board may either: (a) direct and procure the Trustee to release
from the Trust the Award Shares to the Selected Participants
by transferring the number of Award Shares to the Selected
Participants in such manner as determined by the Board from
time to time; or (b) to the extent that, in the reasonable opinion
of the Board, it is not practicable for the Selected Participant to
receive the Award in Shares due to potential legal or regulatory
restrictions with respect to the Selected Participant’s ability
to receive the Award in Shares or the Trustee’s ability to give
effect to any such transfer to the Selected Participant, the Board
will direct and procure the Trustee to sell, on-market at the
prevailing market price, the number of Award Shares so vested
in respect of the Selected Participant and pay the Selected
Participant the proceeds in cash arising from such sale based on
the Actual Selling Price of such Award Shares as set out in the
Vesting Notice.

Subject to the Scheme Rules, within a reasonable time period
as agreed between the Trustee and the Board from time to time
prior to any Vesting Date, the Board or its delegate(s) shall
send to the relevant Selected Participant a vesting notice. The
Board or its delegate(s) shall forward a copy of the vesting
notice to the Trustee and instruct the Trustee the extent to
which the Award Shares held in the Trust shall be transferred
and released from the Trust to the Selected Participant in the
manner as determined by the Board or its delegate(s), or be sold
as soon as practicable from the Vesting Date and the payment
of the Actual Selling Price in cash to the Selected Participant in
satisfaction of the Award.
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Cessation of employment and other events

Subject to the Scheme Rules, if a Selected Participant
ceases to be an Eligible Person by reason of: (a) resignation
of the Selected Participant’s employment; (b) termination
of the Selected Participant’s employment or contractual
engagement with the Group by reason of redundancy; (c)
retirement of the Selected Participant; (d) end of the term of
the Selected Participant’s contract for provision of services or
otherwise with the Group; (e) end of the term of the contract
of the Selected Participant’s engagement with the Group
as contractual staff; (f) winding-up of any member of the
Group in which the Selected Participant is employed or is
contractually engaged; (g) death of the Selected Participant;
(h) the employer terminating the contract of employment of
the Selected Participants without notice or payment in lieu of
notice; (i) the Selected Participant having been convicted of
any criminal offence involving his or her integrity or honesty;
or (j) termination of the Selected Participant’s employment or
contractual engagement with the Group by reason of his/her
permanent physical or mental disablement; any outstanding
Award Shares not yet vested shall be immediately forfeited,
unless the Board determines otherwise at its absolute
discretion.

All such Award Shares which are not vested and/or are forfeited
pursuant to the Scheme Rules shall immediately become
Returned Shares, which shall be held by the Trustee and applied
in accordance with the instructions from the Board and the
Scheme Rules for the purpose of the Scheme.

Transferability and other rights to Award Shares
Any Award granted under the Scheme but not yet vested shall
not be assignable or transferable and no Selected Participant
shall in any way sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber
or create any interest in favour of any other person over or in
relation to any Award, or enter into any agreement to do so.
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10.

11.

Interest in the assets of the Trust

For the avoidance of doubt: (a) a Selected Participant shall have
only a contingent interest in the Award subject to the vesting
of such Award; (b) no instructions may be given by a Selected
Participant to the Trustee in respect of the Award or any other
property of the Trust; (c) neither the Selected Participant nor
the Trustee may exercise any voting rights in respect of any
Award Shares that have not yet vested; (d) a Selected Participant
shall have no right to any dividend that has accrued prior to
the vesting of such Award Shares, any Returned Shares or any
dividend of the Returned Shares, all of which shall be retained
by the Trustee for the benefit of the Scheme; (e) a Selected
Participant shall have no rights in the balance of the fractional
shares arising out of consolidation of Shares (if any) and such
Shares shall be deemed Returned Shares for the purposes of the
Scheme; and (f) in the event a Selected Participant ceases to be
an Eligible Person on or prior to the relevant Vesting Date and
the Award in respect of the relevant Vesting Date shall lapse or
be forfeited pursuant to the Scheme, such Award shall not vest
on the relevant Vesting Date and the Selected Participant shall
have no claims against the Company or the Trustee, unless the
Board determines otherwise at its absolute discretion.

Equity issues
If there is an open offer of new securities, the Trustee shall not
subscribe for any new Shares.

If there is a bonus warrant issue, the Trustee shall not subscribe
for any new Shares by exercising any of the subscription rights
attached to the bonus warrants and shall sell the bonus warrants
created and granted to it, the net proceeds of sale of such bonus
warrants shall be held as funds of the Trust.

In the event the Company undertakes a scrip dividend scheme,
the Trustee shall elect to receive the scrip Shares and such
Shares will be held as Returned Shares.

In the event of an issue of Shares by the Company credited as
fully paid to the holders of the Shares by way of capitalisation
of profits or reserves (including share premium account), the
Shares attributable to any Award Shares held by the Trustee
shall be deemed to be an accretion to such Award Shares and
shall be held by the Trustee as if they were Award Shares
purchased by the Trustee hereunder and all the provisions
hereof in relation to the original Award Shares shall apply to
such additional Shares.

In the event of a rights issue, the Trustee shall seek instruction
from the Company on the steps or actions to be taken in relation
to the nil-paid rights allotted to it.

10.

11.
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12.

13.

In the event of any non-cash distribution by reason of which the
Board considers an adjustment to an outstanding Award to be
fair and reasonable, an adjustment shall be made to the number
of outstanding Award Shares of each Selected Participant as
the Board shall consider to be fair and reasonable in order to
prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential
benefits intended to be made available under the Scheme for
the Selected Participants. The Company shall provide such
funds, or such directions on application of the Returned Shares
or other funds in the Trust, as may be required to enable the
Trustee to purchase Shares on-market at the prevailing market
price to satisfy the additional Award.

In the event of other non-cash and non-scrip distributions made
by the Company not otherwise referred to in the Scheme Rules
in respect of the Shares held upon Trust, the Trustee shall sell
such distribution and the net sale proceeds thereof shall be
deemed as cash income of a Share held upon the Trust.

Scheme Limit

The Company shall not make any further grant of Award which
will result in the aggregate number of Shares underlying all
grants made pursuant to the Scheme (excluding Award Shares
that have been forfeited in accordance with the Scheme) to
exceed 10% (i.e. 199,200,000 Shares) of the total number of
issued Shares as at the Adoption Date without Shareholders’
approval.

Except as otherwise approved by the Board, the total number of
Award Shares which may be granted to a Selected Participant
under the Scheme shall not exceed 5% of the total number of
issued Shares as at the Adoption Date, subject to the compliance
of the Listing Rules (including the requirement concerning the
maintenance of the public float).

Alteration of the Scheme

The Scheme may be altered in any respect by a resolution of the
Board provided that no such alteration shall operate to affect
adversely any subsisting rights of any Selected Participant
unless otherwise provided for in the Scheme Rules, except: (a)
with the consent in writing of Selected Participants amounting
to three-fourths in nominal value of all Award Shares held
by the Trustee on that date; or (b) with the sanction of a
special resolution that is passed at a meeting of the Selected
Participants amounting to three-fourths in nominal value of all
Award Shares held by the Trustee on that date.
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14.

15.

16.

Termination

The Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of: (a) the end of the
Award Period except in respect of any non-vested Award Shares
granted prior to the expiration of the Scheme, for the purpose of
giving effect to the vesting of such Award Shares or otherwise
as may be required in accordance with the provisions of the
Scheme; and (b) such date of early termination as determined
by the Board.

Shareholders’ mandate

To the extent that the Scheme Limit is subsequently increased
by way of alteration of the Scheme and the Company is required
to issue and allot new shares to satisfy any Awards in excess
of any amount previously approved by the Shareholders,
the Company shall at a general meeting propose, and the
Shareholders shall consider and, if thought fit, pass an ordinary
resolution approving a mandate specifying: (a) the maximum
number of new Shares that may be issued for this purpose; and
(b) that the Board has the power to issue, allot, procure the
transfer of and otherwise deal with the Shares in connection
with the Scheme.

Listing rules implications

Given that the Scheme does not involve the grant of options
over any new Shares, it does not constitute a share option
scheme or an arrangement analogous to a share option scheme
for the purpose of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of our Group and our Company and the
reserves available for distribution to shareholders of our Company
during the financial year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 111 and in note 37 to the financial
statements respectively.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of our
Group for the last 5 financial years is set out on pages 198 to 199 of
this report. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.
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Report of the Directors

EEEWRE

DIRECTORS

The directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia
(chairman of the Board and chief executive officer)
Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta
Mr. Ma Ching Fung

Non-executive Director
Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson, MH
Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda
Mr. Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP

Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association provides that at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being,
or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director (including those appointed for
a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-
election. Our Company at the general meeting at which a Director
retires may fill the vacated office. According to Article 108(b), the
Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to
obtain the number required) any Director who wishes to retire and
not to offer himself for re-election. Any Director who has not been
subject to retirement by rotation in the three years preceding the
annual general meeting shall retire by rotation at such annual general
meeting. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those who have
been longest in office since their last re-election or appointment
and so that as between persons who became or were last re-elected
Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise
agree among themselves) be determined by lot. Accordingly, Ms.
Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia, Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda and Mr.
Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming
AGM in accordance with the Articles of Association. All of the
above Directors will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the AGM.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
our Group are set out on pages 68 to 77 of this report.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION OF
DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1)
OF THE LISTING RULES

Set out below are the changes in the information of the Directors
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules:

1. Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia has been appointed as a council
member of Institute of ESG & Benchmark and a coopt
member of the Promotion and Consultation Sub-committee
of the Cross-industry Training Advisory Committee in HRM
Sector of the Qualification Framework.

2. Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta has been appointed as a director
of Medialink Cultural & Creative Investment (Guangzhou)
Limited.

3. Mr. Ma Ching Fung has been appointed as a director of
Medialink Cultural & Creative Investment (Guangzhou)
Limited.

4. Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP has been appointed as a supervisor
of Medialink Cultural & Creative Investment (Guangzhou)
Limited.

5. Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson, MH was awarded Medal of
Honor. He ceased to be a member of the Financial Reporting
Council.

6. Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda ceased to be the Project
Coordinator of PLA Agencies Ltd.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other changes to the Directors’
information as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules since the date of 2021 interim report and up to the
date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS/
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors and the non-executive Director has
entered into a service agreement with our Company, pursuant to
which each of them agreed to act as an executive Director and non-
executive Director for an initial term of three years commenced from
the Listing Date. The term of the service agreement shall be renewed
upon the expiry of the then current term. The service agreement can
be terminated by not less than six months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with our Company, pursuant to which each
of them agreed to act as an independent non-executive Director of
our Company for an initial term of three years commenced from the
Listing Date. The term of the letter of appointment shall be renewed
upon the expiry of the then current term until terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other.

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors has or is proposed to enter
into a service contract or letter of appointment with our Company or
any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable by our Company
within one year without the payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates has any
interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete with the
business of our Group during the year.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The Controlling Shareholders provided a Deed of Non-Competition
in favour of our Company, pursuant to which the Controlling
Shareholders undertook not to, and to procure her/its respective close
associate(s) (as appropriate) (other than our Group) not to, during the
term of the Deed of Non-Competition, either directly or indirectly,
alone or with a third party, engage in, participate in, support to
engage in or participate in any business that competes, or is likely to
compete with any business of our Group.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has reviewed her/its business
and businesses of its respective subsidiaries and has provided a
written confirmation (“Confirmation”) to the Company that she/it
had fully complied with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition
during the Reporting Period. The independent non-executive
Directors had reviewed the Confirmation and are not aware of
any matter concerning the non-compliance of the Deed of Non-
Competition for the year ended 31 March 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 9 to the financial statements, no transaction,
arrangement or contracts of significance to which our Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
any Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the financial year under review or at any time
during the financial year under review.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF OUR COMPANY OR ANY
OF ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
HELD BY DIRECTORS, CHIEF
EXECUTIVES AND THEIR ASSOCIATES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the
directors, chief executives and their associates in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of our Company or any of its
associated corporations (as defined in Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by our Company under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to our Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code are as follows:

Interests in the shares of the Company
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors
or chief executives of our Company had or was deemed to have
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of our Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which had been recorded in
the register maintained by our Company pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO or which had been notified to our Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, so far as the Directors are aware, the following
persons or corporations (not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had interests or short positions of 5% or more in the shares
or underlying shares of our Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

R b SCRT 8% 8% & 4 0 202143 H31H » &
oy F)EE el AT BN B R AR A H &
R B 1 I (e 8 o B U B A ) 2B XV R 1Y
WFE) 2 e ~ MBI &SRS > A
oA A A AR N FIAR IR 5 O & A
5535245 78 A7 B 6 wC M T R B o SR BE
T R B oy S A e S B LN g A A | O
2 T AT o] BE 25 SR A e

TERRAROREER S
E @

202143 H31H » EHE F T A > N AL
A (E R ANF EETB A BERIM
AR 2N 7 R A9y 5XAH BE I 003 AR A 5% Bl D b
HE 25 5l IR B I ZE AR 5 55 g% SO & 0k 1 2R
33646 BT R it B 2 2 B B R A

Approximate
percentage of
Class and the issued
Name of Nature of number of issued Long/ shares as at
Shareholder interest shares held® short position 31 March 2021
2021638311
BE HE#T
ERTRGOMN IR 43 69
HRRBBEO BRr/ KR MABDHE
RLA Beneficial owner 1,434,240,000 Long position 72%
ordinary shares
RLA IRk XEUN 1,434,240,000 L5 72%
Note: Wtk
(1) All interests stated are long positions. (1) JIT 7R T A RE R 1 B A e

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Directors are not
aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or short
position in the Shares or the underlying Shares of our Company or its
associated corporation(s) which would require to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336
of the SFO.
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CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Our Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on such
confirmation, our Company considers that all of its independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, the Group had not entered into any
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions which
are required to be disclosed in this annual report pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

To the best of the Director’s knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, the related party transactions
disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements do
not constitute non-exempt connected transactions or non-exempt
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which our Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which any Controlling Shareholder
of our Company or any of its subsidiaries had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the financial
year under review or at any time during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2021 was our Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, our Company or any
other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of our Company were
entered into or in existence during the financial year under review.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and top five highest
paid individuals of our Group are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2021, our Group had a total of 113 full-time
employees in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Taiwan, Singapore,
Malaysia and Indonesia.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of our Company is reviewed regularly,
making reference primarily to the market conditions and
performance of our Company and individual staff (including the
Directors). Remuneration package includes, as the case may be,
basic salary, Director’s remuneration, contribution to pension
schemes, discretionary bonus relating to financial performance of
our Group and individual performance. The remuneration policy
and remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management
are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and the Board,
having regard to Director’s experience, duties and responsibilities,
performance and achievement.

PENSION SCHEME ARRANGEMENT

Our Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) in Hong
Kong under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of our Group
in an independently administered fund. Our Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of our Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentages of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount of
revenue attributable to our Group’s five largest customers accounted
for 62.0% of our Group’s revenue and the revenue attributable to our
Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 32.2% of our
Group’s revenue.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount of
purchases attributable to our Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 48.1% of our Group’s purchases and the
purchases attributable to our Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 24.5% of our Group’s purchases.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates nor any
shareholder (who or which to the best knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the issued share capital of our Company) has
any interest in the top five customers and top five suppliers of our
Group during the financial year under review.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHER
PARTIES

Our Group recognises the employees as the most important and
valuable assets of our Group. The objective of our Group’s human
resource management is to reward and recognise performing staff by
providing a competitive remuneration package and implementing a
sound performance appraisal system with appropriate incentives, and
to promote career development and progression by appropriate on-
the-job training and providing opportunities within our Group for
career advancement.

The Directors are of view that employees, customers, suppliers and
bankers are the keys to the sustainable development of our Group and
the Company has been maintaining a good relationship with the key
stakeholders.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES RELATING
TO OUR GROUP’S BUSINESS

Our Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
directly or indirectly pertaining to our Group’s businesses. The
following are the key risks and uncertainties identified by our Group.
There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on our Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern. There may be other risks and uncertainties in
addition to those shown below which are not known to our Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in
the future.
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Business Risk

Business risk is the risk related to our business and industry
that deteriorates profitability or affects ability to meet business
objectives. The management of our Group manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

The business performance, results of operations and financial
condition may be materially and adversely affected if:

(i) our Group fails to source high-quality, popular media content/
brands from media content/brand licensors upon terms
acceptable to us or if there is any loss or deterioration of
relationship with our media content/brand licensors;

(ii)) our Group fails to identify sufficient or suitable customers for
our licensed media content;

(iii) our Group fails to identify the market trend and our licensed

media content/brands fail to compete successfully with other

media content/brands;

(iv) acts of piracy and copyright infringement or any type of
infringement, due to technological advances and upgrades, are
prevalent in many parts of the world;

(v) there is any imposition of additional or more stringent laws,
regulations or policies on the distribution of media content by
the PRC government or governments of other regions;

(vi) our Group faces risks related to natural disasters, health
epidemics and other outbreaks of contagious diseases, such as
COVID-19;

(vii) there are changes in the PRC market or economic conditions
resulting from the macroeconomic challenges by the
uncontrollable events, including but not limited to Sino-US
trade war, as our Group mainly derives revenue in China.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed
internal processes, people and systems or from external events.

Responsibility for managing operational risks basically rests with
every function at divisional and departmental levels. Key functions in
the Group are guided by their standard operating procedures, limits
of authority and reporting framework. The management will identify
and assess key operational exposures regularly so that appropriate
risk response can be taken.
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Investment Risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of occurrence of
losses relative to the expected return on any particular investment.
Key concern of investment framework will be balancing risk and
return across different investments, and thus risk assessment is a
core aspect of the investment decision process. Proper authorisation
system has been set up and detailed analysis will be made before
approving investments. Regular updates on the progress of the
investments of our Group would be submitted to the Board.

Manpower and Retention Risk

Our Group may face the risk of not being able to attract and retain
key personnel and talents with appropriate and required skills,
experience and competence which would meet the business objectives
of the Group. The Group will provide competitive remuneration
package to suitable candidates and personnel.

Financial Risk

Our Group also faces financial risks including foreign currency risk
and credit risk. Details of these financial risks are set out in note 36
to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, if our Group
fails to recoup its minimum guarantee paid to the media content/
brand licensors, the licensed assets may be subject to further write-
down.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company maintained
the public float of its issued shares as required under the Listing
Rules during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY

PROVISIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this
annual report, our Company has in force indemnity provisions for
the benefit of the Directors. The permitted indemnity provisions are
provided according to the Articles of Association and our Company
has maintained the directors and officers liability insurance in
respect of potential liability and costs associated with any legal
proceedings which may be brought against the Directors of our
Company.
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EEEWRE

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Our Group is committed to supporting environmental protection
to ensure business development and sustainability. Our Group
implements green office practices to reduce the consumption of
energy and natural resources. These practices include the use
of energy saving lightings and recycled paper, reduce energy
consumption by switching off idle lightings, computers and electrical
appliances and the use of environmentally friendly products
whenever possible. Details of the environmental policies and
performance are set out in the section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 46 to 67 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, our Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operations of our Company
and its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to
the date of this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by our Group or
existed during the financial year under review.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The details of the use of proceeds for the year ended 31 March
2021 is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 11 to 31 in this annual report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

The Group did not hold any significant investment (representing any
investment in an investee company with a value of 5% or more of
the total assets of the Company as of 31 March 2021) during the year
ended 31 March 2021.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SHARES

During the Year, neither our Company nor any of our subsidies
purchased, sold or redeemed any of our Company’s listed shares,
except that the Trustee of the Share Award Scheme acquired a total
of 64,615,000 shares of the Company on and off the market for the
purpose of the Share Award Scheme and the grant of the Award
Shares.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 March 2021, our Group did not have any interest-bearing or
external borrowings.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 March 2021, our Group was not involved in any material
litigation or arbitration and no material litigation or arbitration was
pending or threatened or made against our Group so far our Group is
aware.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

Our Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of our Company’s
securities.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event of the Group which requires disclosure
since the end of the Reporting Period.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2021 have been audited by Ernst & Young, who will retire at the
conclusion of the AGM. Ernst & Young, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia
Director
28 June 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R R - EES

e
EY::

To the shareholders of Medialink Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Medialink
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 107 to 197, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
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accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

MREITER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RMNBHEEFARFENETENS X

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B2 EWREAENRERT G

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had trade receivables
of HK$179,572,000, representing approximately 24% of
the total assets of the Group. Significant management
judgements and estimations are required in assessing the
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for the trade receivables,
with reference to the ageing profile of the trade
receivables, historical credit loss experience and both the
current and forecast general economic conditions at the
reporting date.

20214E3A31H > B A BB HE 5 B ik K H A
179,572,000 7€ - {5 ¥ 4 B & & M 4124% - 7F
BB RENHAGEEHR(RBEEBR) A
%Y 5 BUGRIEIR A G R 1R B 4E RSB Sk
O A BT R Y R AR IR DU AE H R R B
HLALFE

The relevant accounting policy, significant accounting
judgements and estimates and disclosures are included
in notes 3.2, 4 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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In evaluating management’s impairment assessment,
our procedures included: (i) obtaining evidence of
subsequent settlements for trade receivable balances
on a sample basis; (ii) evaluating management’s
assumptions used to determine the ECL through testing
of the underlying information in the ageing reports
and assessing the historical credit loss experience of
the debtors as well as the forward-looking factors with
reference to the related publicly available information;
and (iii) assessing the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures in relation to trade receivables included in
the consolidated financial statements.

T Al A5 B R (EL AT A IR o IR P A - () A AR
7 IAG B T R WSO R T 45 B L AR A5 SR RB 4R 5 (i) RF
fili 8 B T A o E TEAE Bl A IR - iR A T
ol R % e A BR A 5 B A BB N M5 Bl 1R
A8 B DA be %8 2575 AR B 2> B AT A5 R AG HIRE MR A R
Fe (i) oF Ad 5 56 T B 98 R 5 B 5 ORI W )
T K T B AH B R AR S R o

202158 BHEEERAT 101 -
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BYZEETHRE

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HREEASE

Net realisable value of licensed rights

RENTEEFE

As at 31 March 2021, the Group recorded licensed rights
of HK$188,684,000, representing approximately 25% of
the total assets of the Group. Significant management
judgements and estimations are required in assessing the
net realisable value of the licensed rights, with reference
to the ageing analysis, historical sales pattern, expectation
of future saleability of the licensed rights based on current
market conditions and other specific attributes that might
have an impact on the sales projections.

JR20214F3H31H > 555 Bk 154521 188,684,000 T >
W B AR T R A925% o WA PR B RT 8 B
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The relevant accounting policy, significant accounting
judgements and estimates and disclosures are included
in notes 3.2, 4 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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In evaluating management’s assessment, our procedures
included: (i) obtaining an understanding of the net
realisable value assessments made by management;
(ii) reviewing the licensed rights ageing report; (iii)
obtaining evidence of subsequent sales of the licensed
rights on a sample basis; and (iv) assessing the
reasonableness of the sales projections prepared by
management, on a sample basis.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
SO.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% RN

FHRPBENEMER

Bor#Ef A MERAR - HbFEE
BLEAERAIE S - HAEH RS BB
R B BAM B A% B o

FAM 35 &5 B 5 ¥k 3R B9 B R I R 3R
fofE B > A IS A B % 55 Al (S B8 RAT
i JE 2K 28 78 &5 7

Ga AME AL S MBS IR A FE R > BT
AR R B ARG S - TEHRRE T - B &
FoAt 5 B2 75 B 5 B 5 i 3 s TR AE
A T AR ) DU A E TR AR A B
AL 7 A6 B K 8 ik B B 1 0L o R AP
EHATHY TAE - Q2R 3R 5 H Al (5 B A7
TEH R SR Bt > BT EREZHH -
TE %8 7 T > AN A AE AT H A -

EERGEMBHRRAREN

BEfE

RAFERHAARRBETEEGFMA G
WA 22 A s S s i ot Y ) % A o O ] A6 191
WY 45 B B A B 1 B TP I AR B
e o Sl SRR A A O AR A RS R N
HER M A A E b R U BB R T A BAY OK
B R O BT R R R B B o

TEBEM 55 5 M B RIS > HAFEEA
Al EEMFEKENED > WAEE
FAAE LS # 5R BE R A A A B S IE > DU
LR s e et ket > BRI BAL
AIERAEN BEEHRIELEE
B 40 FE Al B B G B AT R

BAr#EEERRZREGNH TARE
BORAEE MBS R o

202158 pHEEERAT103 -



Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% BT R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

C Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR G

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wu Ka Lai, Cary.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

28 June 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
meEmK

Year ended 31 March 2021
BE20215F3A31ALEFE

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$°000
THExT F# o
Revenue W &= 6 335,184 315,122
Cost of sales £ B A (170,762) (169,548)
Gross profit E A 164,422 145,574
Other income and gains, net HAb g A MWt F5E 7 6,115 4,414
Selling and distribution expenses $ B K 4y 8 B 2 (44,801) (44,778)
General and administrative expenses — % e AT BB 52 (55,390) (51,261)
Other expenses, net HoAth B 2 (VF 4H) (30,291) (18,783)
Finance cost Rl & AR A (109) (132)
Profit Before Tax R B¢ A F 8 39,946 35,034
Income tax credit/(expense) Bk, (BIZ) 11 1,379) 917
Profit For The Year Attributable to RAATRREEER
Shareholders of the Company s A 38,567 35,951
Earnings Per Share Attributable to KA RREMN
Shareholders of the Company BREF 13
Basic and diluted BTN HK 2.0 cents HK 1.9 cents
2.058 1l 1.9l
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SmeZHEWER

Year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HILFE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$°000
FTHERT T W7o
Profit For The Year F AR 38,567 35,951
Other Comprehensive Loss Hit2HEE B
Other comprehensive loss that may be i FE A% A TR T B R 2
reclassified to profit or loss 48 i 1Y H At 4 T g 1R
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of MA N ER EERN
foreign operations [ 5d, 25 %A a12) 418)
Total Comprehensive Income For ARARRREMLEFRAZEK S
The Year Attributable to Shareholders of w
the Company 38,555 35,533
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

31 March 2021
72021%3H31H

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
B 5 FE T T W7o
Non-Current Assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment BN Y& ] 14 7,599 10,473
Goodwill (kS 15 29,709 29,709
Intangible assets T E 16 15,832 11,831
Investments in media contents Ei'g g U RS 17 36,661 25,083
Prepayments and deposits TA AT O K e 21 1,058 542
90,859 77,638
Current Assets REBEE
Licensed assets WG E 18 227,339 148,430
Inventories Py 19 391 —
Trade receivables B 5 I WK H 20 179,572 149,590
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables T 3K IH ~ 4% 4 K HoAth fE Ui
AIH 21 9,679 3,746
Tax recoverable Al i [B] B IH 8,448 19,279
Cash and cash equivalents B RBl &S EY 22 246,129 298,047
671,558 619,092
Current Liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B 5 EAT 3R] 23 143,226 133,943
Accruals and other payables JRE w5t 2 K A JE Ash B IH 24 66,233 47,709
Contract liabilities BRI AR 25 37,734 26,726
Lease liabilities HE AR 26 848 2,999
Tax payable JRE A5 6 IH 1,679 591
249,720 211,968
Net Current Assets REBEERE 421,838 407,124
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities EEHAERRBERE 512,697 484,762
Non-Current Liabilities FRBEME
Lease liabilities HE A 26 358 1,114
Deferred tax liabilities IR A B TH A K 27 4 70
362 1,184
Net Assets EEFAE 512,335 483,578
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R BRI R

31 March 2021
A2021F3H31H

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$’000
THT Tt
Equity &
Share capital i A 28 19,920 19,920
Reserves ki 30 492,415 463,658
Total Equity EREE 512,335 483,578
Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia Ma Ching Fung
/N # BFIEH#
Director Director
HE HE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEERmBER

Year ended 31 March 2021
HBZE2021FE3H831AILLEE

Attributable to owners of the parent
BARERARL
Shares
held under
Share  the Share Exchange
Issued  premium Award Capital Other  fluctuation ~ Retained
capital account Scheme reserve reserve reserve profits

RERS
Kt RBiH HE
BRTRE HEER BENRG AREE  HERFE  RBRE  REER 5
Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
i T T#7 T T TiEx i T T
(note 29) (note 30) (note 30) (note 30)
(B0 (&30 (Hs0 (o)

At 1 April 2019 H2019%471H = = = 40,001 (85) (506) 229357 268,767
Profit for the year Lyl - - - = = = 35,951 35,951
Other comprehensive loss for the year: EREM2EER:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign WEBAEHEEMERER

operations — — — — — 418) — (418)
Total comprehensive income for the year ERATEIE A% - — — — — (418) 35,951 35,533
Issue of shares under initial public offering REERAMERERRG 8 19.920 204,180 = = = = = 204,100
Share issue expenses BHRBRL - (14,126) - - - - - (14,126)
Dividends k& 12 — — — — — — (30,696) (30,696)
At 31 March 2020 and at 1 April 2020 TR202043A31H 120204

4f11H 19,920 190,054* —* 40,001% (85)* (924)% 234612 483,578

Profit for the year EREF - - - - - - 38,567 38,567
Other comprehensive loss for the year: ERimAEER:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign WM ET R IV IE KR

operations - - - - - (12) - (12)
Total comprehensive income for the year ERA TG A% - - - - - 12 38,567 38,555

Capital contribution by a controlling shareholder 7%/ ¢ it ik &

of the Company 29 - - (7,590) 7,590 - - - -
Purchases of shares for the Share Award Scheme 4% 5 (3 52 i 31 &1 55 B 1t (7 29 - - (647) - - - - (647)
Share-based payment expense DR G B 2 3B 29 - - 435 - - - - 435
Dividends 35} 12 - - - - - - (9,586) (9,586)
At31 March 2021 202153731 H 19920 190,054* (7,802) 47,591* (85)* (936)  263,593* 512,335

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$492,415,000  * 7 S R A AR S M S AR DL R AR A
(2020: HK$463,658,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 492,415,000 % T (20204F : 463,658,000%5 JC) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

Year ended 31 March 2021
BIE2021F3A31HLEE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

RETBHFBEETRE

Profit before tax B B AT v Al 39,946 35,034
Adjustments for: Bt DL 4 TEAE B g R
Interest income FE WA 7 (1,284) 4,169)
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEYZE - W Kt E B
plant and equipment JIT 45 W 4 7 — (120)
Finance cost il B AR 8 109 132
Share-based payment expense LIRS 5 BB 2 AF KBS 8 435 —
Depreciation of right-of-use assets o7 1 HE G T R 8 3,367 2,501
Depreciation of other items of property, W2 ~ kB S A I E
plant and equipment w4 % 8 1,177 1,225
Amortisation of intangible assets T A 8 8 6,051 13,701
Impairment of intangible assets Y & B W E 8 1,668 349
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 M IS R IH 8 5,655 2,398
Reversal of impairment of trade B S IRE e R VE ek (E 3 1]
receivables 8 (78) (1,366)
Write-off of trade receivables B T JRE U K TR S B 8 2,397 8
Write-down of licensed rights to net 52 HE I 25w g B R
realisable value, net ikl 8 20,649 16,852
Fair value gains on investments in media % & # il 4 25 19 A 7 {H Ik
contents, net % VAR 6 (565) —
Loss on termination of a lease # R B W s 1R 8 37 —
79,564 66,545
Increase in licensed assets 2 0E & B (99,542) (22,456)
Increase in inventories 75 #mn (386) —
Increase in trade receivables 52 5y LK TE 3 (37,822) (39,644)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, AT AIE i A S HAth B i
deposits and other receivables A A (38 ) (6,246) 5,942
Increase in trade payables B2 5y WEASF 5K TE 38 i R 367
Increase/(decrease) in accruals and other JE w2 A S HAth A 2K A
payables H4n () 18,219 9,192)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities HHAEER M, G 10,915 (3,301)
Cash used in operations T B 4 (26,111) (1,739)
Hong Kong profits tax refund/(paid) B (B &R SR 10,497 (12,456)
Overseas tax paid ELA 53 A1 B IR @7) (150)
Net cash flows used in operating activities %% % {if %ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂ &
I B (15,661) (14,345)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERERER

Year ended 31 March 2021
BIE2021F3AR31HLEE

2021
Notes HK$°000
W 5T TERT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHHBERERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2 U il B 1,377 4,048
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE - WE K
property, plant and equipment % A JE B BT 15 30H — 120
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEE Y3 - R
equipment % i H H (671) (458)
Purchases of intangible assets =i A (11,402) (12,560)
Additions of investments in media contents 3 Jjil £ & I 8 (X 2% (10,725) (18,818)
Placement of time deposits with original 7 T A7 TR T A7 5K 9
maturity of more than 3 months when A = A B E A K
placed — (609)
Redemption of time deposits with original  J8 [F] i 77 jilt B J5 A7 2K
maturity of more than 3 months when A = AE A B E A K
placed 307 302
Net cash flows used in investing activities & & 7% B B Fi 31 & i &= 15 48 (21,114) (27,975)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBHRERENE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares under initial R 98 & 2 B & I 88 17
public offering Ji& A5y By 45 3K TH 28(c) —_ 224,100
Share issue expenses AT A BH X — (14,126)
Lease payments EN-ERE 31(b) (3,626) (2,762)
Purchases of shares for the Share Award %l Ji& £73 3% Jih 51 &) % B A% 1
Scheme 29 (647) —
Dividends paid BT B 31(b) (9,586) (30,696)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing Tl VS B r A3 (i A
activities Bl & il & A (13,859) 176,516
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN RERBESEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 32 0 / (R D) 35 (50,634) 134,196
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 4% 7@] e R &EEY
of the year 297,740 163,754
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [fE 3% %% 8 5 28 (35 H) 977) (210)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FXRERAESEEY
THE END OF THE YEAR 246,129 297,740
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH HRERBEEESENERIN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances B B BT 4 B 22 126,076 101,206
Time deposits E WA 3K 22 120,053 196,841
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the 1] 7~ & B %5 IR It 26 19
statement of financial position Bl G KBS E D 246,129 298,047
Less: Time deposits with original maturity I8 : i 77 5 R R AT 2% 3
of more than three months when placed A = AE A B E A — (307)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the %1/~ A Bl & i & 32 19
statement of cash flows B & RBe%EEY 246,129 297,740
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RRME

31 March 2021
202143H31H

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Medialink Group Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered office of the
Company is located at Walkers Corporate Limited, 190 Elgin
Avenue, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-9008, Cayman
Islands. The principal place of business of the Company is
located at Suite 1001, 10/F, Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75
Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),
the immediate holding company and the ultimate holding
company of the Company is RLA Company Limited, which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The shares of the
Company have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since
21 May 2019 (the “Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
Year, the Company’s subsidiaries were involved in the following
principal activities:

U media content distribution and investments in media
content production (“Media Content Distribution
Business”)

U brand licensing (“Brand Licensing Business”)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital

ORITEE/

S/
AfkEXEE ERRA

Medialink Animation Hong Kong HK$2
International Limited

RABE BB ARAR  Fik 2T

Medialink Entertainment Hong Kong HK$10
Limited

R A R ik 10% 7
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PR EEA R AR RS # M
YA R Sl E /N R NE/N N < R
= Ji V7 /s Walkers Corporate Limited,
190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand
Cayman KY1-9008, Cayman Islands °
AR\ T T B 3 B A R A W URE
2 Y WL TR S 3 75555 e L B —
10#£1001% - A XA HEHE(ES) R
By o AN ) B R A ) B B A
/A 7 Z5RLA Company Limited >
TS JB O e B SR ST o AR S EI R
B E20194E5 H21 H R EEF W G658 5
A RAR (R £k B (£
Ml e

ARFRHBEEB AT - KEER
A% m B 2 F A 3T 8 R SR

o BN A AT KB KA RAE
BE(RBARRITER]
e MMM (REeRERE)

i B AR E R
A% ) BB Ja 28w A AT

Percentage of equity
attributable to the
Company

ERARMEED
Bl

Direct

EE

Principal activities

Indirect

B

100 Sub-licensing of brands; and
provision of licensing agency

services
100 rﬁq%ﬁﬁ% A it B AR A

100  Distribution of licensed media
content; sublicensing of
brands; theatrical release; and
investments in media content
roduction ~ B
100 BRI p T
%gﬁ&%ﬁkﬂﬂ% RN R



1. CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

1. PEAIREEER @

B B D Bl & R )

Principal activities

TERH

Sub-licensing of brands; and
provision of licensing agency
servic

uu%ﬁfx% s B 4% At £ HE A2 A

Provision of licensing agency
services
2 1 5 X R

Provision of sales, marketing and
administrative support services to

Toup com anleS
BTV tyly A

R B 4B IR

Media content distribution and
investments in media content

roduction
n%mﬁﬁn&n%mﬁﬁn&

Sub-hcensing of brands; and
provision of licensing agency

&'ﬁvﬁgﬁﬁ%;&%ﬁﬁ%ﬁmﬁ
I

Investment holding and investments
in media content production

U P R R A RAE SR

Investments in media content
production

AR RELE

Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration and registered share attributable to the
business cap ltgj Comp an¥E
EmmY/ BROTER/ ARFREEER
dfkEXxLE FREX BAt
Dlrect Indirect
BE# &
Medialink (Far East) Limited Hong Kong HK$2 — 100
Medialink (Far East) Limited 7 # 2 7T — 100
Medialink Brand Singapore Singapore dollar — 100
Management Pte Limited (“SGD”) 10
Medialink Brand Hm 3 1077 J33C — 100
Management Pte Limited (T3 )
Medialink (Shanghai) People’s Republic of  US$850,000 — 100
Co., Limited* China (“PRC”)/
Mainland China B
REEECRE (L) PEARLNE  850,000% T — 100
HIRA A (@), i
H
Medialink Cultural & PRC/Mainland China  RMB10,000,000 — 100
Creative (Beijing)
Limited* )
i’\ﬂUUI:ﬁJ (L) mERE R AR 3 — 100
H IR 10,000,0007C
Medialink Cultural & PRC/Mainland China  RMB10,000,000 — 100
Creatlve (Guangzhou)
%iﬁ)‘dtaﬁ?&% B R EAE AR B — 100
e YNGR 10,000,000
Whateversmiles Limited Hong Kong HK$100 — 100
Whateversmiles Limited s 1003 75 — 100
Whateversmiles# & 4. Japan Japanese Yen = 100
(“JPY”)
) 5,000,000
Whateversmilestk X &4 HA 5,000,000 H [A] — 100
(TAE)D
& The company is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise

established under PRC law

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

@ % 23 A AR A ek A R A S A —
S v M A 3

EHG M > L REIIN A~ A8~
7)335%%%@%%%&%522&%
P 9 (B RS T A R o HE
AR o B A BB 4 R R 1
FEIRRAR -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e TSR R MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 21 iRBE %

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, under the historical cost convention except for
investments in media contents which have been measured at
fair value. They are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”)
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$’000)
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2021.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to owners of the parent of the Group and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

2.1 SR E X 4

mEREEw

15 f5 M H A 4 T g 09 A A RRGER
Bt JE AR 4R T BE S R RN M9E B
% HE 25 > BIAE b 22 5] B0k 5 R 2
RSB A ABALE KA
o Pl 5 vl A S INE/NE N1 B < 94
BfE - M A XA SR E
N &5 A N IR IR 2 SO 8N o

an S 2R RN DL BUR B R ) =
HIOTRP —HE ZIHA & > QAL
) BT AT 4G E SR D AR 4
BH R o W A E R B HERE 4R
A 5 B (£ RS R 2K %) > RIHR A
PN

i A 5 ) 2 2 S R R A D 0 4 oA
HI JCT T 58 (1) % BT B AN WD G (|
FE ) K A o i) AT AT IR R RE 3
1) R TR B A% (i) 7 HE 25 1A RTS8k 1 R 5T
B 2R O R () P A 1 A
B > Gi) T PR B ATAT & A T H K
(iii) 18 25 B w4 o] IR 0t 2 A A 2 B B
i A o A A A A T 0 £R A A R
B A 42 ) JRE Ak 8 40 ¥ BRL A 1 AR 42 [
O B AT
B AH ] 2 e H A B 2 4R g s R
5 A (A ) o
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

s

B BEmKRMEE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

2.2 ADOPTION OF CONCEPTUAL

FRAMEWORK FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRSs

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for

Financial Reporting 2018 and the following amendments to

HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.

Amendments to Definition of a Business
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39
and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Amendments to Definition of Material

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting 2018 and the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“Conceptual Framework”) sets out a comprehensive set of
concepts for financial reporting and standard setting, and
provides guidance for preparers of financial statements in
developing consistent accounting policies and assistance to
all parties to understand and interpret the standards. The
Conceptual Framework includes new chapters on measurement
and reporting financial performance, new guidance on the
derecognition of assets and liabilities, and updated definitions
and recognition criteria for assets and liabilities. It also clarifies
the roles of stewardship, prudence and measurement uncertainty
in financial reporting. The Conceptual Framework is not a
standard, and none of the concepts contained therein override
the concepts or requirements in any standard. The Conceptual
Framework did not have any significant impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.2 ADOPTION OF CONCEPTUAL

FRAMEWORK FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING AND AMENDMENTS TO

HKFRSS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to be
considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, an input
and a substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create output. A business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed to create
outputs. The amendments remove the assessment of whether
market participants are capable of acquiring the business and
continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether
acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to
focus on goods or services provided to customers, investment
income or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore,
the amendments provide guidance to assess whether an
acquired process is substantive and introduce an optional fair
value concentration test to permit a simplified assessment
of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a
business. The Group has applied the amendments prospectively
to transactions or other events that occurred on or after 1 April
2020. The amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address
issues affecting financial reporting in the period before the
replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark within an
alternative risk-free rate (“RFR”). The amendments provide
temporary reliefs which enable hedge accounting to continue
during the period of uncertainty before the introduction of
the alternative RFR. In addition, the amendments require
companies to provide additional information to investors about
their hedging relationships which are directly affected by these
uncertainties. The amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group as the Group
does not have any interest rate hedge relationships.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition
of material. The new definition states that information is
material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. The amendments clarify that materiality
will depend on the nature or magnitude of information, or both.
The amendments did not have any significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B RR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

3.1 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

Amendments to
HKFRS 3
Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and
HKEFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 17
Amendments to

HKAS 1
Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to

HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2!

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture’

Insurance Contracts?*
Insurance Contracts* 7

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current* ¢

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use’?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract’

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and
HKAS 413

Disclosure of Accounting Policies*
Definition of Accounting Estimates*
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

beyond 30 June 2021*

Defterred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction*
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.1 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

: Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

2

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

s No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

o As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause was revised in October 2020 to align the corresponding wording
with no change in conclusion

7 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual
periods beginning before 1 January 2023

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
application. So far, the Group considers that these new
and revised HKFRSs may result in changes in accounting
policies and are unlikely to have a significant impact on the
Group’s financial performance and financial position. Further
information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference
to the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in June 2018 without
significantly changing its requirements. The amendments also
add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for
an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine
what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies
that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be
within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they
were incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to
HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the
Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify
that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition at the
acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 April 2022. Since the amendments
apply prospectively to business combinations for which the
acquisition date is on or after the date of first application, the
Group will not be affected by these amendments on the date of
transition.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B RR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

3.1

3.2

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments specify that if an entity’s right to defer settlement
of a liability is subject to the entity complying with specified
conditions, the entity has a right to defer settlement of the
liability at the end of the reporting period if it complies with
those conditions at that date. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments
also clarify the situations that are considered a settlement
of a liability. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be
applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over
the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If
the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash- generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B RR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 32 FEEGTHEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level | — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than licensed
rights and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

2 FTESTHERE 4

AFEEFTE@®

B A BB i 3R R R ek i #E N T
M EE K BfE > TR B A T E
R S & KM AR AR A
Y5 AE R 4l N F- 8 & 8% N HE AT 0 8

o — B — MR B R R S BT
55 14 i OR 5238 )

B — REBERXVEE RSB
EDNICEIE E W NN 311
] 22) 114 o B 5 1 i A i
9 A 1L 2 fil

B — REBERXVEHE RN SE
EPNIER/NTIR S F -0 4 i
3] i A IR 1) A Tl

% K R S R IV OBS R A e D
CEEXAMFEMS A EHZERR
A ot ) R R AT A 23 BT CRR EA
FEF R RETS B E R R K
il g A BCHE) > R E T R A A A
ARIETES -

FETREENRE

WA B 5 R W B E B E R
HEAT AR 0 (E T Al (IR HE X 4 R 7
BR A1) > RISt a% B R BY R R TE] O
FT At wt o B A AT Wi E) B S % B
BOH A AR R R E L H S
PRI A 2 B o S A
R E o BRIE A BR A A I A R
TEAR R A2 B b 57 R HoAb & A &
FEAL A BB A o FELLEIL T > Al
W [|] < B B R E T B R B & R
(LM i 5E

950 (EL i 1818 7 A R T (D R A ]
W [m] & B I T DL D o WP 6 T
(B 5 > Al 5 o 2R B 4 I & 9% AT ik
B Iy T 5 G W R [ S O
SE A B 1 R Al B9 B AT I B4 B
BAE o WE B 18 A A % A
S L 9B T E — B S A o
FEA R i o

202158 BHEEEERAT 125 -



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B RR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 32 FEEGTHEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i1) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (continued)

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(b)

®

(i1)

(iii)

@iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B RR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 32 FEEGTHEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

5% to 10%
Over the shorter of the lease
terms and 33'/3%

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% to 33'/3%
Computer equipment 30% to 33'/3%
Motor vehicles 30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Media content commercial rights, computer software and brand
licensing contracts are stated at cost less amortisation and any
impairment losses. Media content commercial rights under
production include production costs, costs of services, direct
labour costs, facilities and raw materials consumed in the
creation of media contents. Upon completion and available for
commercial exploitation, these media content commercial rights
under production are reclassified as media content commercial
rights.

Media content commercial rights and brand licensing contracts
are amortised based on the proportion of actual income
earned during the year to the total estimated income. Media
content commercial rights under production are accounted for
on a project-by-project basis and are stated at cost less any
impairment losses. The computer software is amortised on a
straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 5 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e TSR R MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(@) Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leased properties 1 to 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as
an expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are presented separately in
the statement of financial position.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(¢) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are

measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial assets’ contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B RR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 32 FEEGTHEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (coninuea)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group has certain investments in media contents, each of
which entitles the Group to receive a fixed rate of return or
minimum amount of return based on the Group’s investment
amount as specified in respective investment agreements. All
investments in media contents which give rise to cash flows
that are not solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding are stated at fair value through
profit or loss.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding
to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B RR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 32 FEEGTHEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continuea)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms. The amount of ECLs is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since the initial
recognition of the respective financial instruments.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continuea)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECLs for trade
receivables and measures the lifetime ECLs on a specific basis
according to management’s assessment of the recoverability of
an individual receivable. Management considers the number
of days that an individual receivable is outstanding, historical
experience and forward-looking information to determine the
recoverability of the trade receivable.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for the measurement of ECLs.

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 1 —

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 —

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal

to lifetime ECLs
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B RR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking
information considered includes the future prospects of the
industries in which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from
financial analysts, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

J existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligation;

U an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

J an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligation.

Despite the aforementioned, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:
(i) it has a low risk of default (i.e., no default history); (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term; and (iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

Based on historical experience, the Group considers that default
has occurred and additional credit risk mitigating measures will
be taken when the instrument is more than one year past due.
In certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

J the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual

reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

. it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g., when the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedure, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made
are recognised directly in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e TSR R MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and borrowings and payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at
amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Licensed assets

Licensed assets relate to media content distribution rights and
brand sub-licensing rights (collectively “licensed rights”)
granted by licensors to the Group over a definitive licence
period.

Licensed rights are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices
less any estimated costs to be incurred to disposal.

When the Group has signed the licensing agreements and when
the licence period has yet to begin, these acquisition costs are
recorded as prepayments included in “Licensed assets”.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on the estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when placed, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature
to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B RR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

J in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

U when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

J in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of each reporting period.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e TSR R MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same tax authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced amortisation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised when the Group has fulfilled the
obligations stated in the contracts, and when the Group has
transferred control over relative goods or services to the
customer, on the following bases:

Media Content Distribution Business

The Group distributes media content including animation
series, variety shows, drama series, animated and live-action
feature films and other video content, which are licensed from
third party media content licensors, to customers. Content
licensing agreements are entered into with the media content
licensors which have definitive licence periods and give the
Group the rights to sub-licence the right of use of the media
content to other third parties. The Group then enters into
content sub-licensing agreements with customers for a period
that falls within the original licence period with the licensors,
pursuant to which the Group will grant exclusive or non-
exclusive rights to use the media content (sub-licensed from the
media content licensors) in certain territories.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Media Content Distribution Business (Continued)

As the Group takes the primary responsibilities of content sub-
licensing arrangements, including selecting the customers,
providing the media content, and controlling specifications of
the content sub-licensing arrangements, including the pricing
and territories of distribution, it considers itself as a principal
in such arrangements. Accordingly, revenue is recognised on a
gross basis, which is the amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring the promised media content to customers. The
relevant amounts to be paid to the media content licensors as
stated in the content licensing agreements are recorded in cost
of sales.

(@) Distribution of licensed media content

The Group recognises revenue from the distribution of
media content at the point in time when all the following
criteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of a sub-licensing
arrangement with a customer exists; (ii) the media content
has been delivered or has been made available for the
customer’s right to use and there is no requirement for
significant continued performance by the Group; (iii)
the sub-licensing period of the arrangement has begun
and the customer can begin its exploitation of the media
content; and (iv) collectability of the sub-licensing fee is
reasonably assured.

(b) Distribution of feature film

Income from distribution of feature film represents the
Group’s share of box office sales from films exhibited in
movie cinemas, after the deduction of direct taxes and
charges in relation to the exhibition. The Group’s share
of income is determined in accordance with the sharing
ratio mutually agreed between the Group and the movie
cinemas.

Income from distribution of feature film is recognised
at the point in time when all the following criteria are
met: (i) the films are exhibited in movie cinemas; (ii)
the amount of income can be measured reliably; and (iii)
the collectability of the entitled proceeds is reasonably
assured.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Brand Licensing Business

The Group obtains various rights to use third-party owned
brands, which may include certain merchandising rights,
location-based entertainment rights and promotion rights,
and generates revenue by either sub-licensing the use of these
brands to customers or acting as agent for the brand licensors.

(a) Sub-licensing of brands

Brand licensing agreements are entered into with the
brand licensors which have definitive licensing periods
and give the Group the rights to sub-license the brands
to other third parties. The Group then enters into brand
sub-licensing agreements with customers for a period
that falls within the original licensing period with the
licensors, pursuant to which the Group will grant non-
exclusive rights for the customers to access the brands for
the categories of products or consumer promotions and
activities as stipulated in the sub-licensing agreements.
The Group receives fixed and non-refundable amounts or
minimum guarantees in advance from the sub-licensees
and recognises the amounts over the sub-licensing periods
as stipulated in the relevant agreements with the sub-
licensees. In addition, the Group also earns additional
sales-based royalties when cumulative royalties are in
excess of the minimum guarantees and these additional
royalties are recognised as revenue when the minimum
guarantees are exceeded on a cumulative basis.

As the Group takes the primary responsibilities of the
brand sub-licensing arrangement, including selecting the
customers and controlling the specifications of the brand
sub-licensing arrangement, including the pricing and
territories of distribution, it considers itself as a principal
in such arrangements. Accordingly, revenue is recognised
on a gross basis, which is the amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring the promised right of use to
a customer. The relevant royalty to be paid to the brand
licensors as stated in the brand licensing agreements is
recorded in cost of sales.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Brand Licensing Business (Conzinued)

(b) Provision of licensing agency services
The Group also provides integrated licensing agency
services to licensors in return for agency service fees
which are based on a certain percentage of the total
royalty received or receivable by the licensors. The
integrated licensing agency services mainly include (i)
identifying potential licensees; (ii) negotiating terms of
contracts with licensees on behalf of the licensors; (iii)
assisting in promoting brands on behalf of licensors; and
(iv) collecting royalty fees on behalf of the licensors.
These services are rendered by the Group over the
licensing periods of the relevant licensing agreements and
the agency service fees are recognised as revenue over
time.

The Group has evaluated and determined that it is not the
primary obligor in the services rendered and is therefore,
acting as agent in the arrangements. Accordingly, the
Group recognises its revenue on a net basis, which is the
Group’s share of the total royalty earned by licensors.

Included in the sub-licensing of brands and the provision
of licensing agency services, the Group delivers materials
for the events organised by the Group’s customers and
provides holographic approval stickers/labels to sub-
licensees as approval of their products. The Group
recognises revenue at the point in time when control of the
asset is transferred to the customer, which is on delivery
of the materials or holographic approval stickers/labels.

(c) Sales of merchandise
Income from the sales of licensed merchandise is
recognised at a point in time when the control of the
asset is transferred to the customer, i.e., delivery of the
merchandise to the customer.

Revenue from other sources

Investments in media contents are measured at fair value
through profit or loss with gain or loss arising from net changes
in fair value of such financial instruments recognised as
revenue from other sources in the statement of profit or loss.

AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

2 FTESTHERE 4

RKEEFEFESHNZWA @)

MEREER )

(b) &I AC PR T
A% A5 [ IR ) 34 O 1R A A %
HE A H AR S > DA R AR B IR A
o A B RS 2 Y i R HE T Uk
T Bl M i B R B AR —
e AR AR R =
35 () wk T8 A o A s (i)
RTINS
M6 3K 5 (i) oh B AR R AR O HE
JEE BB 5 B (iv) AR 3R B E 5 U
R B o 5% %5 MR B A 4R [ AE AR
B % WE T o 00 1% ME B R R 0L
7 A 22 Al 75 2 i IR [T 4 7% 7 52
Bl ts o

A B H 2R Al K E o R JF
B A AR 5 A b R AR K
& o R %R PR A — 4
OB o R BE > 7 42 [ DA 7 A 2
e e SR A BE M A o A A 4R TR
i 5 HE J7 B TR ) i B AR O 3
i o

AL W P HE % 4R 3t M AR R
MeBs T > AR A EEE
J5 5 i 14 1 B S AT AR o Sl 1
T 4452 HE O £ 43 A B 41 of it AR
SRR o AET R S o A
FEREELENEER RS
9 IR [ B (R 32 AF 1 6 B 4 Bt
T S AR B ) i BRI AR o

© P # e
S B 452 HE 7 BT A5 AR B
12 il HE RS T % 5 (B SH A 22
45 % ) 14 15 [H] B e 3 -

B E M RIR 2 WA
PR B A o F R 1R AR T
BZSem IR A HFEH
FE A B R AR B 1R 1R AR AR AR RE
A H At AP Z WA

2021565 pHREEERAT 145 -



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e TSR R MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 32 FEEGTHEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other income

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis, using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Shares held under share award scheme

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by
the Company or the Group are recognised directly in equity
at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the
purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity
instruments.

Share-based payments

The Group operates a share award scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in
the form of share-based payment, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-
settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees and non-
employees for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expenses, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing
of an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

Employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
in Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Pension schemes (Conrinued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentages
of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company's memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as
a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of
the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Principal versus agent considerations

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to its customer, the Group determines whether it is a principal
or an agent in these transactions by evaluating the nature of its
promise to the customer. The Group is a principal and records
revenue on a gross basis if it controls the promised goods or
services before transferring them to the customer. However, if
the Group’s role is only to arrange for another entity to provide
the goods or services, then the Group is an agent and will need
to record revenue at the net amount that it retains for its agency
services. The Group controls the goods or services when it has
the ability to direct the use of, and obtain substantially all the
remaining benefits from, the goods or services. This includes
the ability to prevent others from directing the use or obtaining
the benefits of the goods or services.

Current tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in multiple jurisdictions.
The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of its
transactions in accordance with prevailing tax regulations
and makes tax provision accordingly. However, judgement
is required in determining the Group’s provision for income
taxes as there are many transactions and calculations of
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, the differences will impact on the current tax and
deferred tax provision in the periods in which the determination
is made.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Further
details are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Non-financial assets with finite useful lives
are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction
of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future
cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

E K2 H B R fh 5

fl 5t 2~ E

N OCHI A B R AR 2 EE AR - DL
TP 3% 393 R A SRR B A e E
< H At ER A HHE A REE K
JHEN — B B 2 B R AR
R THT L AR B OR 9 2 R OR L e

BEEE

A B2 ] i /D 5 A 7B E TR A
BZEME R E RN & E AR
fir 2 ff AR AE  fhatfE REEHE A
4 [ BB AR B 2 R R AR B
R (T [ A2 = R o
HURAZFR SR EZHME - 5
T B B R R B RS o

FEHEE (BEUIN) BAE

Z LD R I N L S
il A BT T E B R o AT
JRAE A R 00 JF < Rl TR A IR R
715 A A S8 325 g [m] HiR T B 0l R (E
i ¥ BB 4 AR AL 2 MR T (EL
i TG AT i o] < B (R Z P (6 3 B
ARG HEEWE 2 BRE) > L
B BAE o 2 F (B0 B AR TS 5
T B UL 7 4% 08 S IR A AT B AR
T2 85 % 32 5 B A5 Bk BT g
Sy B AE A0 B B E 2 8 B A R
B o whHAME B AR B RE a Ah
SE B R A B Al R R AR
Haend > WM ZWBRE . D
AAEZERESRE ZBUE -

202158 BHEEERAT 151 -



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B RR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Net realisable value of licensed rights

The Group performs regular review of the carrying amounts
of licensed rights with reference to ageing analysis and other
specific assessments including projections of expected future
sales based on historical sales patterns and other specific
attributes, and management experience and judgement. Based
on such review, write-down of the licensed rights will be made
when the estimated realisable value of licensed rights decline
below their carrying amounts.

Due to changes in market and economic environment and
customers’ preference, actual saleability of licensed rights and
actual selling prices that could be realised might be different
from the original estimation and profit or loss could be affected
by differences in this estimation.

Impairment of trade receivables

The provision rate of receivables is made based on assessment
of their recoverability and ageing analysis of the receivables
as well as other quantitative and qualitative information and
on management’s judgement and assessment of the forward-
looking information. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customers’ actual default in the future. Information about the
ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 20 to
the financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has two
reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the media content distribution segment comprises
distributions and investments in media contents including
animation series, variety shows, drama series, animated
and live-action feature films and other video contents; and

(b) the brand licensing segment comprises (i) obtaining
various rights to use third-party owned brands, which
include certain merchandising rights, location-based
entertainment rights and promotion rights, and sub-
licensing the use of these brands to customers; and (ii)
acting as an agent for the brand licensors.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax.
The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit before tax except that interest income
and unallocated gains, depreciation and other corporate and
unallocated expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude property, plant and equipment, cash
and cash equivalents, tax recoverable and corporate and other
unallocated assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude tax payable, lease liabilities,
corporate and other unallocated liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.

5.

AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H
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R B RAR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. &= 5 &R w

(Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2021 B E2021F3R8318 L&
Media content Brand
distribution licensing Total
1] ;
RA BT bR A BEr
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FTERT THERT THET
Segment revenue: 7 EB UK £
Sales to external customers ] 71 38 % 5 ) &5 B
(note 6(a)) (Fff £ 6(a)) 266,801 67,818 334,619
Fair value gains on investments in & S 88 9 25 19 A P
media contents, net Wi 5 35 A8 565 — 565
Total At 267,366 67,818 335,184
Segment results o EBEE 41,940 17,182 59,122
Reconciliation: HHE
Interest income and unallocated gains | 5L Uit A K K 43 it 4l 75 5,926
Depreciation e 4,544)
Other corporate and unallocated HoAth A 3 K R 5 i B =2
expenses (20,558)
Profit before tax B B4 AT it A 39,946
Segment assets ﬁ ﬁB é B 417,470 78,063 495,533
Reconciliation:
Corporate and other unallocated pd % & A R 43 i 5
assets 266,884
Total assets & HE 762,417
Segment liabilities i ﬁ & 167,725 58,692 226,417
Reconciliation: HIR
Corporate and other unallocated P & LAt R 20 i 1
liabilities 23,665
Total liabilities A AR 250,082
Other segment information: Hi ﬁ & K
Amortisation of intangible assets iz ﬁé EE i 8 5,580 405 5,985
Impairment of intangible assets 0TV 1,668 — 1,668
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 e Wi R IH UE 4,579 1,076 5,655
Reversal of impairment of trade B2 G IR s K T (L 8 [l
receivables , - — (78) (78)
Write-down of licensed rights to net 43 HE it ¥ == nJ 5 Bl
realisable value, net EiRIEREE | 20,228 421 20,649
Write-off of trade receivables 52 7 B W5 Tl — 2,397 2,397
Capital expenditure* =ENEC A 21,978 — 21,978
< The capital expenditure relates to the purchase of intangible assets and & A B S B A Y B IR A
investments in media contents. A -
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AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

KREFHER w

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.
(Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2020

BZ2020F3831HLLEE

Media content Brand
distribution licensing Total
it g 4
WA AT vt WL 452 HEE F
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T 7T T T
Segment revenue: 2 HB UL &
Sales to external customers 8] 038 2 5 0 8 248,635 66,487 315,122
Segment results P EIEE 46,194 9,060 55,254
Reconciliation: HR -
Interest income and unallocated LR WA B & o B IR 75
gains 4,289
Depreciation 85 (3,726)
Other corporate and unallocated Ho At A 2 Je R 43 B B 52
expenses (20,783)
Profit before tax B B I v A 35,034
Segment assets PHEE 300,075 66,495 366,570
Reconciliation: HIHR -
Corporate and other unallocated A 3 R A o 43 il
assets 330,160
Total assets YR 696,730
Segment liabilities PHEE 148,566 50,176 198,742
Reconciliation: HR -
Corporate and other unallocated b 3 F H A AR 0 e B
liabilities 14,410
Total liabilities SRR 213,152
Other segment information: Hithp & H:
Amortisation of intangible assets I T G Y 8,308 5,339 13,647
Impairment of intangible assets TV & R M 349 — 349
Impairment of trade receivables & Ly R W K E T (E 729 1,669 2,398
Reversal of impairment of trade B4 5 IR WA 5k T Y {43 [
receivables 413) (953) (1,366)
Write-off of trade receivables & 5y I 2K TE i 8 8 — 8
Write-down of licensed rights to net {5 ¥ #it Js{ & n] % Bl
realisable value, net ERERE R il 15,298 1,554 16,852
Capital expenditure* AN B S+ 39,389 — 39,389
S The capital expenditure relates to the purchase of intangible assets and o A BH S B R B R N

investments in media contents.

R -
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R B RAR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. &= 5 &R w

(Continued)

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

i 13 &
@ XEINIBEFHK

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$°000

TF#& T Tt

Hong Kong s 125,059 36,304
Mainland China A [ A b 102,613 204,682
United States of America ("United States") 3% | B & & B ([ % [ 1) 32,631 20,970
Taiwan & 1 19,112 11,278
France % 12,598 5,280
Japan H A 10,767 11,841
Singapore S 3k 9,810 1,562
Philippines FRE 7,127 1,492
Thailand #® 6,698 6,402
United Kingdom e 2,362 6,623
Others HoAth 5,842 8,688
334,619 315,122

bt W g R R %S B AL )
o3 HAS 6L A5 B0 R A O P (E R

The revenue information above is based on the locations
of the customers and exclude fair value gains in media

contents, net. %JAI Y% gﬂ °©

(b)) ¥RBEE

(b) Non-current assets

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET T o

Hong Kong i 37,065 39,964
Mainland China B A HE 5,447 4,664
Others HAth 10,754 7,386
53,266 52,014

Al I U R R R
TE Hb 3 73 FLAS 645 4 /& o

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes financial assets.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Information about major customers
Revenue from external customers contributing over 10% to the
total revenue of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2021
and 2020 is as follows:

Customer A
Customer B

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

KREFHER w

ERTFTEEZEFMNER
TR AR S5 [ £ 20214F K 20204E3 H31H
1A P i A AR AE R 10% 1Y 2R H AR

&5 U 45 #6840 E
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$°000
FTHE T F o0
EFA 107,997 98,886
B 35,360 —

*  Less than 10% of the total revenue of the Group.

KA AR 4R L g5 AR I 10% -

REVENUE 6. W
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH T Tt 76
Major product or service lines FEEMBARBR
Media Content Distribution Business T 2 BT T
Distribution of licensed media contents BEATIZME IR A 248,811 233,746
Distribution of feature films BITRRER 17,990 14,889
266,801 248,635
Fair value gains on investments in media g g AN /NS S |-
contents, net I % 5 AH 565 —
267,366 248,635
Brand Licensing Business i W 1 T S T
Sub-licensing of brands i L % R 35,264 37,955
Provision of licensing agency services $ L 152 0 A 2 IR 5 28,109 26,814
Sales of merchandise 8 B 7 il 4,445 1,718
67,818 66,487
335,184 315,122
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R B RAR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

6. REVENUE (Continued) 6- LI& é (#5)
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHT Tt
Geographical locations i3y B
Media Content Distribution Business TR 2 BT
Hong Kong B 116,895 25,101
Mainland China H I A 90,830 194,833
United States Eq 21,007 5,384
Taiwan =R 13,630 7,475
Singapore B 3 9,618 1,294
Thailand e 4,269 3,263
Philippines FEHEE 6,988 1,078
Others* Ho A+ 3,564 10,207
266,801 248,635
Brand Licensing Business 17 W1 T S B
France % E 12,598 5,280
Mainland China F [ A 11,783 9,849
United States ES 11,624 15,586
Japan SN 10,227 10,375
Hong Kong s 8,164 11,203
Others* H At # 13,422 14,194
67,818 66,487
334,6197 315,122
& Others mainly include geographical locations of Indonesia, Japan,
Malaysia, the United Kingdom and Vietnam. * Hfth E A FEENEE B P EE « HA ~ B3k
[N DS & el R i A
# Others mainly include geographical locations of Korea, Taiwan,
Thailand and the United Kingdom. # Hib T EQEEE - 58 ZE LK
HO b P A
A Exclude fair value changes in media contents, net.

A A 45 R R A P (B R R
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AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

6. REVENUE (Continued)

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$’000
T8 T T T
Timing of revenue recognition 58 Uk 2R Y B
At a point in time A IRE [ B e 52
Media content distribution TR IR 2 AT
Distribution of licensed media contents BEATIZHE IR A 248,811 233,746
Distribution of feature films BORRER 17,990 14,889
Brand licensing i W1 T
Sub-licensing of brands i L P 2 11,870 17,620
Provision of licensing agency services P 4t 7 A B AR 6,536 6,159
Sales of merchandise & B M 4,445 1,718
289,652 274,132
Over time i B[] B e 52
Brand licensing 17 W1 T
Sub-licensing of brands i L P 2 23,394 20,335
Provision of licensing agency services P 4t 3 A 2R AR 21,573 20,655
44,967 40,990
334,619* 315,122
& Exclude fair value gains in media contents, net. o ZNTEC S RN SN S N € R

7. Htt AR &= FHE

7. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$°000

FERT T 7t

Bank interest income AT FLE A 1,284 4,169

Foreign exchange differences, net BEE 50, 22 #H (79 %#6) 1,870 —

Government subsidies (note) R R (Bff ) 2,769 —
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant Y2 - RS MR A

and equipment TH B B A3 0L 4a — 120

Others HoAth 192 125

6,115 4,414

Note: The subsidies were mainly granted under the Employment
Support Scheme from the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. There were no unfulfilled conditions relating

to these subsidies.

AT B A B T AR R A U R AT
R 10 TR 3 36 ) 51 310 8% A - A 4 A5
5% S A S 2 AR A R
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R B RAR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

8. FR %A= R
5 4 I 4 T i ) 0 (REA) R

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting): -SRI
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$°000
F#E T T
Auditor's remuneration A2 Sl 7 T 2,219 2,205
Cost of goods sold and other services rendered JIf 8 & fh K& Jir 2 {t H fth
iz B B A 164,777 155,901
Listing-related expenses T A B BH S — 4,514
Depreciation: e -
Right-of-use assets i HE & 3,367 2,501
Other items of property, plant and equipment ¥ 2 ~ k& F &
% A At JH H 1,177 1,225
4,544 3,726
Amortisation of intangible assets* I T2 G 6,051 13,701
Lease payments not included in the Rt AHEAER EH
measurement of lease liabilities GEN-E R 184 869
Loss on termination of a lease #FFH B 4R 37 —
Employee benefit expenses (including A& B A 1) B S (60 35 25 =5 %
directors' and chief executive's remuneration 3 = 17 BC A & 1) 37 Bi
(note 9)): (Bt 5%9)) =
Salaries, wages, allowances and bonuses B L& - A
AL 61,620 48,520
Pension scheme contributions (defined AR ARET H A 3R (FUE {3k
contribution schemes) ah#l) 2,620 2,819
Share-based payment expense P iﬁ]\j% H
A5F 3K B 32 435 _
64,675 51,339
Foreign exchange differences, net A HE 2= %H 5 8 (1,870) 542
Impairment of intangible assets™ Y G 1,668 349
Impairment of trade receivables* B S IRE e % VE R (E 5,655 2,398
Reversal of impairment of trade receivables* % 5y I ir K JA i {E 1% 1] * (78) (1,366)
Write-off of trade receivables* B 5 M W K TE L B 2,397 8
Write-down of licensed rights to net realisable et CELE &)
value, net* ERIEREE T 20,649 16,852
Finance cost — interest on lease liabilities il & i A — LB A E RS 109 132

* These amounts are included in “Other expenses, net” on the face of the *

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

& Included HK$5,580,000 (2020: HK$8,308,000) and HK$405,000 (2020: #
HK$5,339,000) in respect of amortisation of media content commercial
rights and brand licensing contracts, respectively, which are included in
“Cost of sales” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

9. EEREEITHAENF
[y
R4 A U Bt & 22 2 T A BR A Al B 25 b
R R~ U 2 G B 55 383(1)(a)
(b) ~ (©) B (f) I LA S /A W] (4 & 5 =5 F
i ERE) KR RN B2 AR 22 BT B R 2 AR A
BwHBM

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T T
Fees i 4 630 507
Other emoluments: At T 4
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind B4~ R KCE WY AE A 8,915 11,194
Performance related bonuses* LR B A B 2 AE 4L+ 12,762 4,510
Pension scheme contributions HRRFTHI A 3K (RLE ik 3K
(defined contribution schemes) w1 #) 102 115
22,409 16,326
@ Certain directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments which & AN AT E SRR B AL - A B

are approved by the Group’s remuneration committee with reference to
the Group’s current year profit and the individual performance of the
directors.

(@) Independent non-executive directors

WAL B M Z B & 2 AL E A
A B U ) B A% HE S B0 I8 N SR B A oE

@ BIkHTES

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors SO 5L IR AT S AR N
during the year were as follows: W

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T T
Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda R L+ 210 169
Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson UG RSB 210 169
Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP BB SE 2R CRF- 4 1) 210 169
630 507

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2020: Nil).

Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda, Mr. Fung Ying Wai
Wilson and Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP were appointed as
independent non-executive directors of the Company on
29 October 2018 with effect from 22 April 20109.

ARIA) > AN E) A A AT 48 ST FE
AT HE 2 H AL 4 (20204F -
E) o

WS Lt WIS K
w5 T AR CROF-#h ) 7R 2018 4F
10 H29 H # Z AT B A8 /A 5] 1Y 8 57
IE 47 # F 3 2 20194F4H22H
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R B RAR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9.
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Executive directors and a non-executive

director

The remuneration of each of these directors set out below
includes those recorded in the financial statements of the

BEENBEITHRAENS
[, %
(b) HITEERIHTES

B 2 S I O A R
O E) A B AR T

subsidiaries.
Salaries,
allowances, Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
 Feo2MR RER
e  BUEN BEZTAL BAGEER @
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$’000
T T T T T
2021 20214
Executive directors: WrES:
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin, Lovinia HAEL L — 3,595 7,173 42 10,810
Ms. Chiu Siu Fung, Noletta WALt — 2,494 3457 42 5,993
Mr. Ma Ching Fung BE#EE — 1,386 1,556 18 2,960
Non-executive director: FATES:
Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP BEERLL
(KF4+) — 1,440 576 — 2,016
— 8,915 12,762 102 21,779
2020 20204
Executive directors: WirEF:
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin, Lovinia :H — 4,48 2,250 4 6,540
Ms. Chiu Siu Fung, Noletta #B L+ = 2,847 1,476 4 4,365
Mr. Cheung Wai Kit REHEEAE = 1,269 = 13 1,282
Mr. Ma Ching Fung BIE&EE — 1,502 560 18 2,080
Non-executive director: FafrES:
Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP PEX SN
(KF#h 1) = 1,328 24 — 1,552
— 11,194 4,510 115 15,819

Mr. Cheung Wai Kit resigned as an executive director of
the Company on 30 November 2019.

Ms. Wong has entered into a service contract with the
Company and was appointed as a non-executive director
of the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 29 April 2019. During the year ended 31 March
2020, Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP received consultancy fee of
HK$50,000 before Listing from the Group for provision of
the advisory services.
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AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERBETHRAENH

REMUNERATION (coninuea) B a0
(b) Executive directors and a non-executive (b) BITEERFHTEEw
director (Continued)
There was no arrangement under which a director waived AR Sl 0 i 5 TR R B
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year A 0] 357 B 119 22 BF (20204F © &) ©
(2020: Nil).
During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group RN o A S B NIG A ) S A
to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining A AT 357 P > AE 2 W51 A A 4R
the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2020: ] B A A B IR 2 A ) B AR
Nil). T Wl B8 A A (20204 < ) o
10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. B BRESHMES
The five highest paid employees of the Group included 4 (2020: A A ) A4 B R B AL Y 4
4) directors, details of the remuneration of the five highest paid HF(20204F U K) > B AEFRNT
employees who are directors are set out in note 9 above. Details 2 B T TR T I RE A R B s
of the remuneration of the remaining one highest paid employee M 5E9 o AN BE IR 35 08 IF & AT
who is neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are BN B8R — 4 B 35 AR B 1
as follows: P S5 AN
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$°000
T TT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind B4 BN KB AR A 1,380 1,495
Discretionary bonuses M 1% 1L AL 115 900
Share-based payment expense DR A5y 77 5 i 2 A5 R Bl S 10 —
Pension scheme contributions FER NG R
(defined contribution schemes) (58 ft 3 HT ) 18 18
1,523 2,413
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest S T A DA A Y JE S R PR R
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following TTBUN B S B g B AN BT -

bands is as follows:

Number of employee

BEAH
2021 2020
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T % 2,000,000 % 7© 1 —
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001#5 7T %2,500,000% J© — 1
1 1
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R B RAR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

11. INCOME TAX 11.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the Year, except for one subsidiary of
the Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime effective from the year of assessment
2019/2020. The first HK$2,000,000 (2020: HK$2,000,000) of
assessable profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2020:
8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%
(2020: 16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

8%

T s A 15 Bl O 4% A 4F B R & W E
A YAl FTRE R BL % R 1916.5% (2020
A 1 16.5%) FE IR BEAR > MEAS S — ]
M8 A FEIBR S > 2B AR AT A A
2019/2020%% Bl 47 B A 2 1Y 9 A
FIAS B 2R W H B - % Mg A R
JHE SR B U8 A A 12,000,000 45 7T (2020
4 12,000,000%  JC) $8.25% (2020
4 8.25%) B ERBL o MER T ME LB
i A #216.5% (20204F © 16.5%) # Bl o
A b Y RE SR B s R % AR 4R E
B R A kR R B AT B
REEBLIH o

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$°000
TERT T# T
Current — Hong Kong RUHE — 7 s
Charge for the year N X 1,379 1,289
Overprovision in prior years A1 AR B R A (76) (1,578)
Current — Elsewhere R — At [
Charge for the year N X 142 172
Underprovision in prior years o A AF B AN 2 — 81
Deferred 5 e (66) (881)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year ENBLIE ()
M 1,379 917)
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11. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation between profit before tax multiplied by the
applicable tax rate to the tax charge at the Group’s effective tax
rate is as follows:

AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

11. FTE8H w

DA 5 5 BT 38 R e L@ P B R
352 7% S T 1 OO B B 3 A0 B JE %
iHL g S B

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T 7T
Profit before tax B Bt Ri fhi £ 39,946 35,034
Tax at the domestic rates applicable to 238 1 A 4 [ 28 BT TE I K
profits in the countries/jurisdictions /R RE [ 5 A 2 A R
where the Group operates REH AR BLIH 6,601 5,668
Income not subject to tax T 78 SBUB0 B e A (982) (666)
Tax credit for PRC withholding tax w2 TR 0B Y Bl TE K (5,800) (7,965)
Expenses not deductible for tax ZNGIE(E N0 1,450 3,649
Adjustments in respect of current tax of S A 1 S [ B3R B T P 4
previous periods o (76) (1,497)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods  ## fF ] [#] © B A i Bl 15 &5 18 (219) ©95)
Tax losses not recognised 2% T 7R 14 B TH e 15 109 —
Others HoAth 296 (11)
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s effective ¥ 4% [#] ‘B P& Bl R 51 5 1)
tax rate BLIH SO (%) 1,379 917)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unrecognised
tax losses of HK$11,669,000 (2020: HK$14,225,000), subject to
the agreement by the relevant tax authorities, that are available
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose. Out of which, an aggregate of
HK$1,892,000 (2020: HK$2,586,000) is available indefinitely
and the remaining unrecognised tax losses will expire in
around one year to ten years. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as they have mainly arisen
in entities that have been loss-making, and in the opinion of the
directors, it is currently not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised.

R B R o A 4R E Y ok e R OB
JH 5 48 511,669,000 JT (20204 :
14,225,000%5 70) > 7€ A0 B B 15 1 B 1
PR T o 3% 5 B IE s 1R TR R
WHEAZERBEBRZ AR Z K
A& JE B I A o F A 451,892,000 45
JC (20204 : 2,586,000k 7C) 4 [ i 11
R > R T oK B w2 B0 IH s 48 S R A —
ERETFEN - AN ZEEREEE
AEHRGEEMNER HESRREAE
AT AS 0] BE A nT ) B JE G 4R 2 FE R
Bl s Al o RS R A% 4 s 1E R R
R HIE B TE A R o
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R B RAR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

12. DIVIDENDS

The dividends declared by the Company are as follows:

12.

g\
7% 20 T E IR A IR A0 -

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$°000
TERT T# T
Dividends declared and recognised as AN E R KR R 2y 43 IR
distribution during the year: NS
Interim dividend for the year — AR S —
HK 0.28 cents (2020: HK 0.24 cents) A% 0.28 #% Al
per ordinary share (20204F : 0.24 ¥ fill) 5,578 4,800
Less: Dividend for shares held under the I8 : & 4 i {7 3 J& 51 #1 £7
share award scheme HE By 2 BB a7s) =
5,403 4,800
Final dividend for the previous year — MR RRE — K
HK 0.21 cents (2020: HK 1.3 cents) 38 f0.21% il
per ordinary share (20204F = 1.3% 1) 4,183 25,896
9,586 30,696
Dividend proposed after the end of the WG WIREEREIRME -
reporting period:
Proposed final dividend — HK 0.20 ERERNRKBRE — &
cents (2020: HK 0.21 cents) per J% % 38 120,20 % 11l (2020
ordinary share 0213 Al 3,984 4,183

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021
is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders (the
“Shareholders”) at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share for the year
ended 31 March 2021 is based on the profit attributable to
shareholders of the Company of HK$38,567,000 and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,961,841,507
in issue during the year, as adjusted to exclude the shares held
under the share award scheme.
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AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. XRARRRELEERER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS (#)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
The calculation of the basic earnings per share for the year £ 20204F3H31H 1k 4F B 1 & B 3
ended 31 March 2020 was based on the profit attributable A J R T R R AR 28 ) B 5RO A TR
to shareholders of the Company of HK$35,951,000 and the 35,951,000 % 7 Fl 5% 4F £ 0 & 8% 47
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,923,967,213 in W RE S 1Y $01,923,967,213 8 w5
issue during that year. B oo
No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share FH A 22 20214F 12 20204F3 H 31 H 1L 4F
presented for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 as JE A £ N B VB TE R AU
the Group has no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue BEAT A - N A AR R T 2 51 Y
during those periods. % 55 S WY B TR A LR o

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 4. V¥ BENKE

Furniture,
Right-of-use Leasehold  fixtures and Computer
assets Buildings  improvements equipment equipment  Motor vehicles Total

B %E

ERREE S ) &1 Rk EERE nE it
HKS'000  HESO0  HKSO00  HKS000  HESO0  HKS000  HKS'00
TAL TR TR TER TER TR TEL

31 March 2021 A21E3A31A

At 1 April 2020: 205 4A1R:
Cost IS 6,143 10,155 1,097 676 2,610 1,397 2,678
Accumulated depreciation 25k (2,501) (4,638) (944) (600) (2,105) (1,397) (12,205)
Net carrying amount B 5 (E 4,42 5497 153 76 505 - 10473

At 1 April 2020, net of accumulated 2020 4A1H

depreciation Mk Zit & 44 5497 153 76 505 - 10473
Additions KE 1,359 - - 19 475 - 2030
Depreciation for the year FERirE (3,367) (784) () (62) (287) - (4,544)
Termination of a lease RIEAE (786) - - - - - (786)
Exchange realignment EiA% - 396 8 6 16 - 426

At31 March 2021, net of accumulated 1202134318 »

depreciation Nk 23 & 1448 5,109 1 26 709 - 7599
At 31 March 2021: 202153318 -

Cost A 6.920 10,888 1,135 890 31 1397 U359

Accumulated depreciation LithE (5472) (5,779) (1018) (674) (2420) (1397) (16,760)

Net carrying amount W (A 1448 5,109 1 216 09 - 7599
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R B RAR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

.

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

4. ME BERXE

Furniture,
Leasehold
improvements

fixtures and
equipment
il %&
i ¢ Rthi fi HE &5t
HKS'000 HKS000 HKS§'000 HKS 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000
T Tk Tk Tk T T T

Right-of-use
assets Buildings

Computer

equipment  Motor vehicles Jell

BREKE

31 March 2020 NNE3RHA
At1 April 2019: R9F4IH
Cost A 808 10,842 957 646 2403 1960 17,616
Accumulated depreciation BiE = (4,163) (896) (558) (1839) (1960) (9412)
Net carrying amount TR i A 808 6,679 6l 8 568 = 8,204
At 1 April 2019, net of accumulated RN10F4ALE > kg
depreciation ZtiE 808 6,679 6l 88 568 - 8,204
Additions WE 5,93 — 166 4 20 — 6,393
Depreciation for the year ERiE (2501) (786) (15) (52) (312) = (3,726)
Exchange realignment 3L = (396) I ) () = (398)
At31 March 2020, net of accumulated 202083 A31H »
depreciation nEEHE 44 5497 153 76 505 — 10473
At31 March 2020: RA020F3A31H
Cost s 6,74 10,155 1097 676 2610 1397 0678
Accumulated depreciation ZitthE (2301) (4659) (944) (600) (2105) (1397) (12.20)
Net carrying amount R 424 5,497 153 76 505 — 10473
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15. GOODWILL

AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

15. &

HK$°000
T T

At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, 1 April 2020 and
31 March 2021

A20194E4H1H ~ 202043 H31H ~
20204F4H1H 202143 H31H 29,709

Impairment testing of goodwill
Goodwill acquired through business combination is allocated to
the brand licensing cash-generating unit.

The recoverable amount of the brand licensing cash-generating
unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering
a five-year period approved by senior management. The
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 15.0%
(2020: 15%). The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash
flows of the brand licensing unit beyond the five-year period is
2.5% (2020: 2.5%), which is the same as the long term average
growth rate of the brand licensing market.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
brand licensing cash-generating unit. The following describes
each key assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average
gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year, increased for expected efficiency improvements,
and expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the brand licensing unit.

In the opinion of the Directors, any reasonably possible changes
in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is
based would not cause the brand licensing cash-generating
unit’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

[k RAER
EES IR EE IR il N K
MEB S -

i WP WE 3R 4 7 AR BEA B AT i [m] 4 %
T EM A EAEFAEES - e
T AR B AR B AT AL o TR 2 AR
H A B BT G A R B A O TR
A o B4 i R T B 0 R
F515.0% (20204F : 15%) A7 18 1
T4 HA B AR 5 R B RE R AL 0 B &
=T 3SR & 552.5% (20204 ¢
2.5%) > B & ML HE TH 85 0 R T8
B2 R A o

A S T A S A R A ME B A B
37 BA 8 {8 (L Wy 288 PRI AR R DA i 571
g DB 4 B TE B AT v R e
(L 0 sk Ry 11 2% B o B %

HEBHE — AUEEHEE SR
1B (B 1O 22 ¥ 5 R T O AR R R — 4F
Jir 3 SO -4 B A R > [N T EF R
& T+ K FE wE T 2 B g i

G BLA — i G B R A BR BLAT -
F W B ity 5 M R A B G R E R

B o

RS AT e S R AR
B AT o 5 B AT RE 2 B A AN 4 A
i P A B 4 7 AR B 9 R T (EL R
HoA] i ] A o
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R B RAR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. BEEE

Media content
commercial ~ Media content
rights under commercial Computer Brand licensing
production  rights (note) software contracts
REEPBE RERAER mERE
RABXER  EN(ME) BREH L
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#x T T Ti#n
31 March 2021 2021538318
Cost at 1 April 2020, net of accumulated 202044 H1H M AL »
amortisation and impairment B 25t 8 RO - 11,344 61 426 11,831
Additions e 5450 5,803 149 - 11,402
Amortisation during the year AF R 8 - (5,580) (66) (405) (6,051)
Impairment during the year* A — (1,668) — — (1,668)
Exchange realignment HE 8 118 200 - - 318
At 31 March 2021 202143310 5,568 10,099 144 2 15832
At 31 March 2021 20214331
Cost RS 5,568 41,950 4 8,037 55,972
Accumulated amortisation and St b
impairment - (31,851) 2m3) (8,016) (40,140)
Net carrying amount W (A 5,568 10,099 144 A 15832
31 March 2020 220534318
Cost at 1 April 2019, net of accumulated 12019411 H f i % »
amortisation and impairment Bk 25T 8 K = 5,669 115 5,765 11,549
Additions hE = 14,306 = = 14,306
Amortisation during the year ERg — (8,308) (54) (5,339) (13,701)
Impairment during the year* ARG — (349) = = (349)
Exchange realignment B 31 78 = 26 = = 26
At 31 March 2020 12020431310 = 11,344 61 426 11,831
At 31 March 2020 #2020%3A31H
Cost A — 35.868 268 8.037 44173
Accumulated amortisation and St 08 R
impairment - (24,524) 207) (1611) (32,342)
Net carrying amount HR T = 11,344 61 426 11,831
Note: The Group has invested in certain media content production projects of MaE: AEFHCORES THBENAERIEEE
which the Group is entitled to certain distribution rights and/or other EAAREBEAMRES G EPTHEEN
commercial rights (including copy rights) of related media contents 6 200 15 M B IS B N A 10 2 T B AT RE
and/or share of profit in accordance with the terms stipulated in the Ko /B H A 7 2 E A (B FE RORE) A
respective agreements. The Group intends to exploit the distribution EEAG A o AR A 5 uE
rights or other commercial rights through its own distribution channels A7 LG T IE 5 4 R ORE AR BE B a8 4T
rather than through sales of the rights. g% L Ath p 2EHE R o
& During the year ended 31 March 2021, an impairment loss of #* B E20214F3 31 H 1F4F B > iy i 1 a
HK$1,668,000 (2020: HK$349,000) was recognised in respect of the AT 25 T 2 W R B T A e 4 e D > -
media content commercial rights of media contents due to the decrease BB A A Y I B A 2 P 2 RE R
in the recoverable amount of the media content commercial rights. As at 2 E B 151,668,000 T (20204F -
31 March 2021, the recoverable amount of the media content commercial 349,000% JT) o JA20214E3H31H »
rights was determined based on a value in use calculation using cash R 25 P 2 HE A Y BT e [B] 4 A AL R A
flow projections approved by management. JTAE L A1 o 1 B 4 U T A 0
HE A& E -
The impairment of HK$1,668,000 (2020: HK$349,000) was recognised WH 1,668,000 G (20204F : 349,000k
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and included in the “Media IT) A G A 18 R 7 T RR A A (I A R
Content Distribution” segment. BT A
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENTS IN MEDIA CONTENTS

Movements in investments in media contents during the year
are as follows:

17.

AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

REFERBAR
A L 08 2 B T

2021 2020

HK$°000 HK$’000

FERT T# T

At the beginning of the year AW 25,083 —

Additions B4 10,725 25,083
Net gains from fair value adjustments (note 8) 72 ~F~{E 3 % [ i 25 15 4H

(Fff 5E8) 565 —

Exchange realignment [ifE 54, 3 & 288 —

At the end of the year A AER 36,661 25,083

The Group has invested in certain media content production
projects of which the Group is guaranteed by the respective
media content producers for a fixed rate of return or minimum
amount of return after the release of the media contents within
the specified periods. In addition, the Group is also entitled
to certain distribution rights of related media contents as
stipulated in the respective agreements.

The Group’s investments in media content production projects
are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss as their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of
principal and interest.

AEBOBES THEBNE RIFH
B o T8 A7 48 0 2% 1 T 2 AR
PR S AT A FE ML RE By ] 1A AT LR
PR Ao ] 1] e < e K [ ¥R
BEAh > A 4 TS A HE AR B A el Y
L5 M Ao A B LB N R T R AT
fE o

ALEEBEBAFRIEEANEE
Beor UM 3% 28 F (6 75 8 8 45 51 R 1Y
ERMERE > TTHRZEREELENS
# B B I R MORE B S A e R
AR -

LICENSED ASSETS 18. REEE
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT ARCP
Licensed rights = 188,684 135,745
Prepayments for licensed rights % HE FE AL FOH 38,655 12,685
227,339 148,430

Licensed assets represent payments to licensors in connection
with cost to obtain media content distribution rights and brand
licensing rights over a definitive licensing period. These
licensed assets are held to generate revenue in the ordinary
course of the Group’s businesses.

FEHE B 7 7y 1) M 5 S A R A W e
52 HE 0 TR BT B T A AT R L
FEARHE B IH o A R H A %% R
REE A DA B 6B T AR AR o
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R B RAR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

19. INVENTORIES

19. #E

2021 2020
HK$’000

HK$’000
FHT T

Finished goods SR

391 —

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES

0. 85 EWHE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$°000

FET T 0
Billed [ 146,909 142,064
Unbilled PN 48,866 18,367

195,775 160,431
Less: Allowance for impairment W Uk (R A (16,203) (10,841)

179,572 149,590

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit. For the Media Content Distribution Business,
the payment terms with customers are generally of two to
four payments with the first payments usually due upon
the submission of the letters of authorisation relating to the
media content to the respective customers. The credit periods
generally range from 30 to 45 working days after the payment
milestone as specified in the underlying contracts. For the
Brand Licensing Business, the payment terms are generally of
one to two payments with the first payments usually due upon
the execution of the contracts. The credit period is generally 30
days after the payment milestone as specified in the underlying
contracts.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables as overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (coninuca) 20. B 5 BUWRRIE @)
An ageing analysis of the billed trade receivables as at the end PRER - REFEABFREZCH
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: 5 5 e R TE Y B g A N T
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT T# T
Within 30 days 30H A 7,807 2,461
31 to 60 days 31260H 8,904 5,825
61 to 90 days 612 90H 7,847 1,395
91 to 180 days 912180H 51,300 74,576
181 to 360 days 1812360 H 21,958 31,237
Over 360 days it 4% 360 H 49,093 26,570
146,909 142,064
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade W’ Sy M R IE W AE T AR s 1R B A
receivables are as follows: A 5 B 4R
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$’000
THERT T TT
At beginning of year 7 AE W) 10,841 11,316
Impairment losses recognised (note 8) L T 52 U6k (HL Js 18 (M 518) 5,655 2,398
Impairment losses reversed (note 8) L 48 [n] 3 E i 18 (B 52 8) (78) (1,366)
Amount written off as uncollectible S AT Uk a] Y EL S B E (269) (1,498)
Exchange realignment [ifE 54, 3 e 54 )
At end of year AR R 16,203 10,841
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31 March 2021
202143H31H

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (coninued) 20. EZ EIRRRIE &)

The Group has applied the simplified approach to recognising
allowance for ECLs prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected credit loss allowance for all
trade receivables. To measure the ECLs, the trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. ECLs are estimated based on historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors and general economic conditions. During the
year, the expected loss rates for certain customers that are
credit-impaired are assessed specifically by management. For
other trade receivables aged more than one year past due but
not credit-impaired, management has not observed objective
evidence of financial difficulties of the debtors and has been
taking credit risk mitigating measures.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

A S RE 5 50 35 O A O B S i
o e R S50 5% AT B Y TEH A5 B s 1R
R % e RN R O A R )
W T T A R A TR R s 18 48
fli - HEt BEHMGEEEE > "B
ANOH AR B8 It A5 8 A B R K
WH S A o THNE E R R
EY AR SN A S PN
R AR R K — ik RS R B AE R
B ERN A THEEBRERFHEN
e 48 R b B B RE 2 R RE AL - BR
it 760 ) B AR — AR {H R R B Bl A
it 5 5y FE W s IE T & - B I R
g Th-t i § N PN
o Sl 2R U B T B R A G o

LTS 851 47 B A 5 £ P98 4 7
537 0 55 ME T 3K B 0 15 0% IR B 0
R

Expected Gross
credit carrying
loss rate amount Impairment
=
FEBRER IREAE B
HK$°000 HK$°000
F il 5t Tt
As at 31 March 2021 A 20214E3H31H
Credit-impaired receivables {5 B 9 (A 18 Wi 3k A 100% 13,388 13,388
Other trade receivables aged: oAt B2 7 IR i T AR
Current and within one year R[HA K 2 1 — 4 DAY
past due 0.5% 163,556 740
More than one year past due i A A — 4 11.0% 18,831 2,075
195,775 16,203
As at 31 March 2020 202043 A31H
Credit-impaired receivables {5 68 Yok (B M8 it 7K JH 100% 10,109 10,109
Other trade receivables aged: HoAth 2 5 IR i 3 A R %
Current and within one year R HA Kz g 9 — 4E AN
past due 0.3% 146,342 406
More than one year past due i 1 A — A 8.2% 3,980 326
160,431 10,841
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AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 21. FE{IFIE - &R HtEW

22.

RECEIVABLES ™I
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#& T T
Prepayments At 3CIE 5,918 3,014
Deposits i 4,225 832
Other receivables At 1 i K IE 594 442
10,737 4,288

Less: portion classified under non-current W AR R I A B A A B
assets HR 4 (1,058) (542)

Portion classified under current assets R 45 L B A R 4 9,679 3,746

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to
deposits and receivables for which there was no recent history
of default and past due amounts. As at 31 March 2021 and
2020, the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

22,

FRA bl & 6% 1 4 FlOE S BT B A
RS0 Bk T v BA K OTE 0 4% 4 K ME R
AR o R20214E % 202043 H31H -
=R R S ol T G S K

ReRBReSEY

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$°000

FERT T3 0

Cash and bank balances Bl 4 BOSRAT &5 R 126,076 101,206
Time deposits 7E A AF 3K 120,053 196,841
Cash and cash equivalents B& KRBl E& S EY 246,129 298,047

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group’s PRC operation denominated in Renminbi
(“RMB”) amounted to approximately HK$4,447,000 (2020:
HK$1,966,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
varying periods between 1 month and 6 months depending
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn
interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The
bank balances and short term time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

PR > REBMUARE (AR
MDFHEMNHPEETES NI & X
SRAT G5 BR4) 554,447,000 I0(20204F ¢
1,966,000 70) » A R0 H i fn ik
Fy oAt & > bE AR P8 o B R A
B AR K 45 T ~ EEBE K AT T B
KRR o AR SE O O 0 R IR R AT
Zg%i%Zﬁ&ﬁﬂ%AE%Eﬁ%%ﬁ

SATBLEARAR 1 H 2 SRAT A7/ 4%
B AR B ORI S, o S5 WA B0 A
FARAF 108 A 26 fil A 2 A%
IR T A 4 B Y B B B 4 oK > 3z 9%
A TR R 00 A7 R A B R S o SRAT
5 B L o A7 B A ) 4 R A
Bk B {52 R4 R SRAT -
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R B RAR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

23. TRADE PAYABLES

23. EZ BN RIEA

2021 2020

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHT T

Billed E B 5% 78,337 56,204
Unbilled KB 64,389 77,739
143,226 133,943

An ageing analysis of the billed trade payables as at the end of
the Reporting Period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

R R > HBEFHMF R ZEM

SR 5 I A RROE MR B AT AT

2021 2020

HK$°000 HK$°000

THER T T

Within 30 days 30H A 44,015 8,442
31 to 90 days 31H #90H 2,106 23,692
Over 90 days 90 H 32,216 24,070
78,337 56,204

The trade payables are unsecured and non-interest-bearing. For
the minimum guarantee payments to the licensors, the payment
terms and the due dates are specified in the relevant contracts
and are usually settled by instalments at the early stage of
the relevant licensing periods. For royalty payables which
exceed the minimum guarantee, the amounts are due when
the Group submits the royalty reports to the licensors which
are subsequent to the collection of the corresponding trade
receivables from the licensees.

The unbilled trade payables relate to royalty amounts that
are payables to but not yet invoiced by licensors which are
calculated based on the royalty rates as stipulated in the
respective licensing contracts.

- 176 MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2021 Annual Report

B 5 WA AT o SR B R EEE o A
SCAHZHE DT R R BN S > B A
) epRT B S AR R R B S E
TS AH BR300 4 0 T 2 o L R
B AR AR 8 2 R AR BE I = > A B &
JH T A 4 T A i) 4 4% 4 7 W IROAR R
B 5y B WK TR A% 1) $% 4 7 B 5 RROBL
ek E Y o

oA B 5 ) A O B4 45 SR 40
P K53 %€ B 2 R 4 8 A 42 7 B
R ME S HE T3 B 5 2 OB K TR B



24.

25.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

24. Bt E AR Eft BN FRE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$°000

TER T o

Accruals e 512 H 26,762 17,919
Other payables Al JE A B IE 39,471 29,790
66,233 47,709

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average
term of three months.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities include (i) advance payments received from
customers for the Group to deliver the media content or render
brand licensing services; and (ii) unsatisfied performance
obligations resulting from fixed-price long-term brand sub-
licensing contracts as at the end of the year. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue upon satisfying the performance
obligations by the Group under the relevant contracts.

25.

LAt B AT B J A RIS BT A =
A -

EHNERE

BHAREEREROKBEFETRA
45 B 22 AT S T A AR Rt R A
i 5 1) BRGR5 B (ii) PR [ 5 (B A% = 30 i
i P £ HE 5 A B0 0 R B A
BAE - 8HAGUAAEERBME &
)2 JRH B ) ST R AR AR -

2021 2020

HK$000 HK$°000

FET T 0

Media Content Distribution Business BN AT ER 10,774 7,346
Brand Licensing Business i W% R 2E T 26,960 19,380
37,734 26,726
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25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Movements in contract liabilities during the year are as follows:

25. BHEB W

A B BT

2021 2020

HK$°000 HK$°000

FERT Tt

At the beginning of the year A W) 26,726 30,073
Additions i 328,916 292,985
Revenue recognised during the year AF TR BT R Y i 4R (317,908) (296,332)
At the end of the year AR 37,734 26,726

The increase in contract liabilities was mainly attributed to the
increase in advance payments received from customers.

The transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) are as follows:

AR A MEERHREFEMNK
TEBEm -

43 2 68 JB 40 94T (R JBLAT 5 4>
S JBAT) 138 5 (B K 20 F

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$’000
T& T T
Within one year — AN 32,706 22,816
After one year — 415 5,028 3,910
37,734 26,726
Revenue recognised from: LR 25 T e w8 0 Ui 4

Amounts included in contract liabilities FEYFIAS K AER &8

at the beginning of the year 22,816 22,818
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AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements AN B AR R BR T (E & s B RS L
during the year are as follows: U
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT T# T
At the beginning of the year AW 4,113 808
New leases & 1,359 5,935
Termination of a lease O (749) —
Accretion of interest recognised AN E ERR IR B B R
during the year 109 132
Payments I 3K (3,626) (2,762)
At the end of the year TR 1,206 4,113
Analysed into: Iy A
Current portion R 1A 38 43 848 2,999
Non-current portion FE B 35 &6 43 358 1,114
1,206 4,113
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 36 iER == RSB G NE R T A
to the financial statements. R M EE36 ©
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are A B E N E AR ST
as follows:
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT T# T
Interest on lease liabilities & & EF R 109 132
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets HHAEEENITE S 3,367 2,501
Expense relating to short-term leases L 40 AL 5 A B B S 184 869
Loss on termination of a lease R BE W R 37 —
Total amount recognised in profit or loss iR A NR RO Rk ) 3,697 3,502
The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 31(c) to the FH & 09 30 4 0 o A A N B i 3R B
financial statements. FE31(c) P #& o
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R B RAR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 27. EERIEEE

Fair value
adjustment
arising from
acquisition of a

business
WBEBEE
WAFEAE
HK$’000
T T
At 1 April 2019 R20194F4H1H 951
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated statement of 4F A 51 A %5 & 48 5 & 19 4 4t Fi 1A
profit or loss during the year (note 11) (B &E11) (881)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 ~20204F3H31H 5202044 H1H 70
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated statement of 4F A 5T A 45 & 18 5 2% 1) IE %€ B T8
profit or loss during the year (note 11) (B 5E11) (66)
At 31 March 2021 202143 A31H 4
28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. g A&
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$°000
FTERT T T
Authorised: RAE
5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 5,000,000,000 % 5 Ji% 1fi (&
HK$0.01 each 0.01¥% 7T 1Y ¥ 7 Jik 50,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: CEIT R
1,992,000,000 ordinary shares of 1,992,000,000 /8 45 J1 1 {H
HK$0.01 each 0.01% 7T 19 % 78 fix 19,920 19,920
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AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

28. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 28. A 4
A summary of movements in the Company’s authorised and AN R E R E AT IRAR 2 8 B A
issued share capital is as follows: R
Number of Share
shares capital
%14 & B iR 7=
HK$°000
T T
Authorised: HE -
At 1 April 2019 R20194F4H1H 38,000,000 380
Increase of 4,962,000,000 R201944 H12H 34 i
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 4,962,000,000 1% 5 i
each on 12 April 2019 T8 {E0.01%5 7T A 5 48 ik (@  4,962,000,000 49,620
At 31 March 2020, 1 April R20204-3H31H ~ 20204F
2020 and 31 March 2021 4H1H }%20214E3H31H 5,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: CEITRHE
At 1 April 2019 R20194E41H 1 —
Capitalisation issue of R20194FE5 121 H & A Ak
1,493,999,999 ordinary shares #£171,493,999,999 /i%
of HK$0.01 each on 5 i T {H0.01% 7T
21 May 2019 1) 3 4 i (b)  1,493,999,999 14,940
Issuance of 498,000,000 ordinary JA20194F5H21H ¥ 17
shares of HK$0.01 each on 498,000,000 /i & 1% 11 {E0.01
21 May 2019 W T 1Y 78 ik © 498,000,000 4,980

At 31 March 2020, 1 April 2020  #*20204F3H31H ~ 20204
and 31 March 2021 4H1H K% 20214E3H31H 1,992,000,000 19,920
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31 March 2021
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28.

29.

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Pursuant to the written resolution of the sole shareholder of the
Company passed on 12 April 2019, the authorised share capital of
the Company increased from HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000
shares of a par value of HK$0.01 each to HK$50,000,000 divided into
5,000,000,000 shares of a par value of HK$0.01 each, by the creation of
an additional 4,962,000,000 shares with a par value of HK$0.01 each.
The 4,962,000,000 new shares shall rank pari passu in all respects with
the existing issued shares of the Company.

(b) Pursuant to the written resolution of the sole shareholder of the Company
passed on 12 April 2019 and the minutes of the committee of the Board
on 17 May 2019, 1,493,999,999 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were
allotted and issued, credited as fully paid at par, by way of capitalisation
from the share premium account to the holders of shares whose names
appeared on the register of members of the Company at the close of
business on 20 May 2019. This allotment and capitalisation issue were
conditional on the share premium account being credited as a result of
the issue of new shares to the public in connection with the Company’s
initial public offering as detailed in note (c) below.

(c) In connection with the Company’s initial public offering, 498,000,000
ordinary shares of par value of HK$0.01 each were issued at a price
of HK$0.45 per share for a total cash consideration, before share issue
expenses, of approximately HK$224.1 million. Dealing in the shares of
the Company on the Stock Exchange commenced on 21 May 2019.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 6 February 2020 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company
adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”)
for the purpose of recognising the contributions by certain
eligible person and providing them with incentives in order
to retain them for the continual operation and development of
the Group and to attract suitable personnel for the growth and
further development of the Group.

Eligible person of the Share Award Scheme include, inter alia,
employees, directors, officers, consultants or advisors of any
member of the Group. The Share Award Scheme will remain
in force for 10 years from the Adoption Date, unless otherwise
terminated or amended.
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29. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

The aggregate number of shares of the Company currently
permitted to be awarded under the Share Award Scheme
is limited to 10% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company as at the Adoption Date without shareholders’
approval (the “Scheme Limit”). The Scheme Limit shall
be refreshed automatically on each anniversary date of the
Adoption Date during the duration of the Share Award Scheme,
such that the Scheme Limit refreshed shall not exceed 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at each anniversary
date of the Adoption Date.

The eligible person for participation in the Share Award Scheme
is selected and the number of shares to be awarded under the
Share Award Scheme is determined by the board of directors.
The shares to be awarded under the Share Award Scheme may
be purchased by a trustee (the “Trustee”) from the open market
out of cash contributed by the Group and be held on trust for
the selected participants until such shares are vested with the
selected participants in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Award Scheme.

The Trustee shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of any
shares of the Company held by it under the Trust, including but
not limited to the awarded shares, any bonus shares and scrip
shares.

The fair value of the Awarded Shares awarded was based on
the quoted market prices of the Company’s shares at the grant
dates and the Group recognised an equity-settled share-based
payment expense of approximately HK$435,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

During the year, 59,760,000 shares of the Company were
contributed by Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia, the controlling
shareholder and an executive director of the Company, via her
wholly-owned company, RLA Company Limited, to the the
pool of shares for the benefit of the Share Award Scheme. The
fair value of those shares amounted to HK$7,590,000 on the
date of contribution.

AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

29, IR BB E & )

R KE e AL HE 5 B Ry AR R 0y 5% D
al H M HE 1R T AR 2 A 0 B BOR
TS 23 R BR AR F I 4 T 2 B AT A
910% ([ 5+ BIPRER 1) o & & R A R
e 473 4 B st ) A 268 00 FRT 8 4R A A 1)
0 A 0B B BB > R AR S B
{14 w3 R AR A 159 A 7 PR Ak H ARG A%
A H AN R EEATRAKI10% °

EEGHIESEMA L2 H
JEh wE o Sl R RE AR 4R A 0 5% Y T
AR T 0 B B H o AR R B €
FE#EDIF R TR AT RE R ZEE A (T3
FEAD DA EEEERNE A AR
SWEE M DA SR 2 B R By % 45 TR
RREEETIRA - HEZFRORE
e 4% T w8 B4 A SC B Ja S B R 2
E Ry L

32 wE N1 AT 8 A B HL AR 98 15 ST §F
B Z A FAE AT By 2 B SR (R AR
{ELAS KR 7S 4€ J8) BBE iy ~ AT A7 AL i 4
B AR B BEA) -

N /N SR EWEE - ATl il =
AN AR B T B SR AE o A SR
A R 220213 A 31 H 1E4F ¥ 72
i &5 DAy 2 B 2 A BB 2 A
£5435,000%5 JC (20204F : 4E) o

GANEEV NN RS -
H /Mo L@EEHEE2E RN A
RLA Company Limited /£ & 4} #& &)
T B Y ] 25 1) B 0 o A R A AR D
59,760,000/ {0y o 3% MM HE A 2
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31 March 2021
202143H31H

29. R EBIETE
AL T8 55 38 D 3 0 A 5 5
o

29. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

The movements in the Shares Held Under the Share Award
Scheme are as follows:

Shares held under the Share Award Scheme

BERORBITEFEZRG
2021 2020
Number Number
of of
ordinary Value of ordinary Value of
shares shares shares shares
ZERYE ROEE LTEKREE KHhEE
HK$°000 HK$’000
THERT T# 7T
At beginning of year A A — — = —
Purchases of shares for the %l & {7 4 J& 51 #1 s =
Share Award Scheme Ry 4,855,000 647 — —
Capital contribution by a A F) ¥ IR R
controlling shareholder of
the Company 59,760,000 7,590 — —
Shares granted during the N B %R
year (3,005,000) 435) — —
At end of year AR 61,610,000 7,802 — —
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30. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 111 of the financial
statements.

31.

(@)

(b)

(©

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents reserve arising from
(i) the reorganisation and capital contribution from
Ms. Lovinia Chiu and RLA Limited (“Controlling
Shareholder”) in relation to the acquisition of Medialink
Animation International Limited (“MAIL”); and (ii) the
shares transferred to the Share Award Scheme from the
Controlling Shareholder, further details are set out in note
29 to the financial statements.

Other reserve

Other reserve mainly represents the difference between
the acquisition of additional equity interest in a
subsidiary from the non-controlling shareholder and the
consideration paid.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

Exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign
currency exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Major non-cash transactions

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group
invested in certain media content production
projects. As at 31 March 2020, investment costs
of HK$1,746,000 and HK$6,265,000 which were
recognised as intangible assets and investments in
media contents, respectively, remained unsettled
with corresponding amounts credited to trade
payables.

(i1)) During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Group had non-cash additions of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of HK$1,359,000
(2020: HK$5,935,000) and HK$1,359,000 (2020:
HK$5,935,000) respectively, in respect of lease

arrangements for office premises.

e AR R M
31 March 2021
2021%3H31H
30. &
7 45 [ A A AR R % 8 1R AE B R fRk A
G A N L5 i B S R AR SR 1TE W

,vT\/\Tgﬁn Al RS o

(@)

(b)

(©

31.

(@)

BEXRREE
A i A B (1) TR AL OB /N e 2
+ J RLA Limited ([ R BRE])
ﬁ%%#%%iﬁw AR
Al ([ 3B EE (B BR)D) (K 5E29)
ﬁ'ﬁ(fg\ R (i1) #8 : s of e ¥
%%%%ﬁﬁM%%%?im
fiti Mt > HE — 20 FF A HUR BB i
%Wﬁwo

H b 7 8

At fof 2 2 B R R R
Wi S A 2 )RR AD B HE BRL AR
REZEH -

N BE 7 B ek 1

S TE 3 B fik 5 oy 45 591 0 75
A 5 0 % E A 1 B R A1 W S
EHA A -

RERERERWE

FEFRERS
(i) BE202143H31H L4
AEBRESE THBAE

%ﬂ"ﬁlﬁﬁ 8202043 A31

s o A R AR R G E R
ﬁﬁzm,m,ooo«%m 54
v <g L NEAN IR & < W
6,265,000%5 7T 1) 7 & i >
S AR E G 5 HE AT 3K IH
EF]D

() AE20214E3H31H IEFRE >
A4 H A BN M
BN REEE
HEeERhE HEAES R
%51,359,000%5 JT (20204F :
5,935,000% J6) 1,359,000
# 0 (20204F : 5,935,000
JG) °
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31 March 2021
202143H31H

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

3. ZEBERERM T w0

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b BMEITBHELENAEGEEH
activities
The table below details the cash flows and non-cash N E A S S B E AR AN 4R

changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing
activities. Except as disclosed below, there were no non-
cash changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities.

B AR A B R B
B o BR N SCHT 0 BR E AN > M
il S O B R A A R B
B s o

Dividend Lease

payables liabilities

ENRE HEAE

HK$’000 HK$’000

Tt T T

At 1 April 2019 R20194E4H1H — 808
Changes from financing cash flows il B 4 ) (30,696) (2,762)

Dividends declared EERKE 30,696 —

New leases B — 5,935

Interest expense F BB 3 — 132

At 31 March 2020 and 202043 31H &

1 April 2020 202044 H1H — 4,113
Changes from financing cash flows Tl B 4 R A ) (9,586) (3,626)
Dividends declared SA=R1 ) P5 9,586 —
New leases A & — 1,359
Interest expense FIE BH % — 109
Termination of a lease AR & — (749)
At 31 March 2021 202143 A31H — 1,206
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AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED . ZKEBRERERMT »

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continuea)

(¢) Total cash outflow for leases ¢ HEREARHLAE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement # £20204E3H31H IE4F > B
of cash flows within operating activities and financing B R R S B R B
activities were HK$184,000 (2020: HK$869,000) and G0/ L= R N = e o il R |
HK$3,626,000 (2020: HK$2,762,000), respectively during £5184,000% JT (20204 : 869,000
the year. #0) %3,626,000% JC (20204F

2,762,000%5 JC) ©

32. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS N, REBEARE

The Group leases certain of its office premises, warehouses and AEBERBREEMHBELZHME LA T
a car parking space under operating lease arrangements. Leases WA ~ TR — R AL o P
for properties are negotiated for terms ranging from 6 months i B A RS RE T AR 0 A A P ofi A &2
to 26 months. 2616 A -

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future AR B R > A AR AR R OR AT 8
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating A8 FH B AT 5 4 T2 A R R B
leases falling due as follows: RAH & RIE AT

2021 2020

HK$°000 HK$°000
TAET T T

Within one year — R 85 44
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R B RAR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3B. @B LIRS
(@ In addition to the transactions and balances detailed (@ BREZFMBEREFENZ S K
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the #ERAL o RN > A 4R [ B
following material transactions with related parties during BT AU TNTERRZS:
the year:
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$°000
TERT T# T
A related party*: Bk e
Consultancy fee TR ) 0) 840 630
# A related party, is a close family member of a director of the # W W 7 B AR N W) — 4% S
Company. oo
Note: Mt 5
@) The consultancy fee relates to the provision of the consultancy (i) B A B AR EHE RE
services with respect to the Group’s investment projects and Al 2R 0 T Sk g R AR A 0 R R
information system upgrade. The consultancy fee was charged on A - BB EMHBERT ST Z
terms mutually agreed between the relevant parties. ] 3L 7] 15 22 9 Mk sk Mg & o
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group (b) AEEHEZEEHABNM &
Remuneration for key management personnel of the ALEEEEEMABNME (2
Group, including directors’ remuneration as disclosed in Fif B 5 e 2% B S 0 B R 1 = =R I
note 9 to the financial statements, is as follows: £)E
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$°000
FE T T oo
Short term employee benefits 5 I B AR A 24,281 19,663
Post-employment benefits ik B3k 1% A A 150 170
Total compensation paid to key W EZEE A B AW
management personnel P 4 48 4H 24,431 19,833
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AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY M. RENES>HEMIA
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial K > & 4R H AR IR
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T (B 40 F
Financial assets cREE
Financial
assets at Financial
fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BAVEEE B
BmdlRKN AR N
EtMEE EHRMEE 4ot
HK$’0® HK$’O(p HK$’O(10
T Tt T T
As at 31 March 2021 20214F3 A31H
Trade receivables E 5 JE WK TR — 179,572 179,572
Financial assets included in FEATEA ZOE - %4
prepayments, deposits and other T At JRE AT K TH B
receivables 4z il G E — 4,819 4,819
Investments in media contents Evg<g UL INE 36,661 — 36,661
Cash and cash equivalents BHe B E&%EEY — 246,129 246,129
36,661 430,520 467,181
As at 31 March 2020 £ 20204F3H31H
Trade receivables H G E R SR TE — 149,590 149,590
Financial assets included in SPATEA E - %4
prepayments, deposits and other B L At B i 3K T
receivables Sz il EE — 1,274 1,274
Investments in media contents Evg<g UL INE 25,083 — 25,083
Cash and cash equivalents BH4e &% EY — 298,047 298,047
25,083 448,911 473,994
Financial liabilities tRBEE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REBHERETIENERES

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

THERT R ETH

Lease liabilities iR =R 1,206 4,113

Trade payables 52 5% JE A+ I 143,226 133,943
Financial liabilities included in accruals FEA M S 22 R Al R A

and other payables H 1) < fl 2 7,189 12,884

151,621 150,940
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R B RAR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, trade payables
and financial liabilities included in accruals and other payables
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short
term maturities of these instruments or the effect of discounting
is not material.

For investments in media contents, in which the underlying
media contents were in the production stage, their fair values
were estimated with reference to their respective production
budget and profit sharing projection. For investments in media
contents completed and broadcasted during the year, their
fair values are estimated with reference to the net proceeds
receivable from those attributable to the Group. As at 31
March 2021 and 2020, the fair values for investments in media
contents were approximate to its carrying amounts and were
measured using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3).

Below is a summary of significant unobservable input to the

valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis as at 31 March 2021 and 2020:

Valuation technique

35. eMIANAFERAF

15 4 5l

LG CREAL - i A B T A A9 A
B EE BB AR R B
e LB EEEY A BIEWEIE > 5t
N T FOH ~ i A K H At 18 Ui koA
Y < B > o M A I DA R ETA
JE Tt T % A R A CTH B 4 Al B
R S (B HC R T (E K BOAR A

T8 I TR 2 (DA B I A R 2R
BAERB) WA TEDZBERNR
VE T8 B 5 3 A 43 7 T B AT A 3 o i
P& 4E R B 52 i #E A0 1 B R 25 T
T HN (B T 58 2 5 A 4 T E G
W T 15 2K EF B AG RS o R 20214F
K 202043 H31H » BEHHEANEN LA
- {F B H R T (E AR A o M K
Al A B (R =R E -

IS A A 202143731 H 4 il T B Ak (8
Z KA A] B A A SR A )
FE T R A T

Significant unobservable
input

EART
ER@AYE

e B 7
Investments in media % & 8 N A& Discounted cashflow method
contents BEHBESRERE

As at 31 March 2021, it is estimated that with all other variables
held constant, a decrease/increase in discount rate by 1% (2020:
1%) would result in increase/decrease in the Group’s profit
before tax by HK$347,000 (2020: HK$386,000).
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Discount rate 6.6%-10.2%
BEE  (2020:9.2%-11.7%)

202143 H31H > 7 fr A H b 5 &
HEFEARSB MG DT > B g D1
TN1% (20204F : 1%) 1% 5 B A 4 E 1
W B AT s A 38098 2 347,000 J6
(20204F : 386,000 JC) °
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3
during the year are as follows:

AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

5. eMIANAFERAF

R

FERNAFEFEES = RANEES)
R/ U

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$°000

THER T

At 1 April W4H1H 25,083 —

Additions 4 10,725 25,083
Total gains recognised in the statement of R 18w R A e 58 37 7 AL

profit or loss included in revenue Tt I i 4 A R 565 —

Exchange realignment i3 EE RS 288 —

At 31 March W3H31H 36,661 25,083

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2020: Nil).

A 4 E A 20214 12 202043 H 31 H 3 4
AT AT 2 2N °F-{H 51 & 1) & Bl A i o

A PR Sl 7R SF — A BEL A A ] 4
- {H w5 H S O K R
R B = el B 26 = S H (2020
) o
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RE B RR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. ERIEREERERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments include cash and
cash equivalents and an amount due to a shareholder. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which
arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures mainly arise from sales or purchases by operating
units in currencies other than the unit’s functional currencies.
The majority of the Group’s foreign currency purchase
transactions are denominated in US$. On the other hand, the
sales and disbursements are mainly denominated in US$, RMB,
HKS$ and JPY. As HKS$ is pegged to USS$, the directors of the
Company anticipate that there will be no significant movements
in the US$/HKS$ exchange rates and the exposure on US$ will
not be material.

The Group’s risk management principle with regard to its
foreign currency denominated monetary assets, liabilities,
commitments, and cash flows is to match as far as possible
the values of such assets and cash flows against similarly
denominated liabilities and cash flows. Decisions on either
holding net short or long positions in foreign currency
denominated monetary assets or liabilities are taken on a case-
by-case basis and by taking into consideration the amount and
duration of the exposure, market volatility, economic trends and
requirements of the business.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in RMB
and JPY exchange rates, with all other variables held constant,
of the Group’s profit before tax.

31 March 2021 2021%3A31H

If HK$ weakens against RMB 11 5 7T 58 N B W B2 (E
If HKS strengthens against RMB i 8 o0 50 N R THE
If HK$ weakens against JPY i ¥ G 56, H [E] B2 (8

If HKS strengthens against JPY i ¥ oG 56, H [E T

31 March 2020 2020%3H31H

If HK$ weakens against RMB i 8 7T 58 N R B2
If HKS$ strengthens against RMB i 5 7T 58 N R TH (B
If HK$ weakens against JPY i 5 T 58 H 8 i (8

If HKS strengthens against JPY i 5 T 58, H [8] 7B

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties, there is no requirement for collateral.
Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/
counterparty. At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
certain concentrations of credit risk as 33% (2020: 20%) and
72% (2020: 60%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due
from the Group’s largest debtor and the five largest debtors,
respectively.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note
20 to the financial statements.

AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

3. cRIEREEEERBE

(4#)

SN LB )

TR BRI & WA ORI
LA 5 WAE R B > A 5 TR BR B
Hil 4 A1) 360 A B M e FI I TE 2% AT fE 5 B
52 B 1) SRR E -

Increase/
(decrease) in
Change in  profit before
exchange rate tax
B B Al 3% F
Exgg ®=m  CHD)
HK$°000
T#H T
5% 496
5% (496)
5% 969
5% 969)
5% 407
5% (407)
5% 598
5% (598)

FERR

7 45 [ 4 B R R W] R A AR R AR =
TANLE G - ﬁW$E@Mﬂ% P
A B R SR 5 W& P HAC
HHEBERF o Mo > B8l RIE R
M Z R FmA L KX
Y 39 Ja B S E K e

H A A S [ B SR T KA MR B
=N S s il 4 R K 4
u”u c EHEREMBES/ K5 E

o AR HIK > A EE 5 HE
tlﬁz KIE A 33% (20204F © 20%) 52 72%
(20204F : 60%) 43 FIl £ FE Wi A< 48 4]
KEB AN K HKEBNHE > AR
LA A T EPEEREB -

A B A S 1 B R 5 I S T AR AR

5 L B 19 — 2 B 1L OB A B 5 9
2 I 3207 35 % -
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R B RAR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. ERIEREERERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued ()

Credit risk EE R
Maximum exposure and year-end staging REREERFELRER

R A AR R A R B 4y
ZIEHER R mmfE S E b o £"
AR O 1 R (R I A ZE A
R 2 B A B A B AT BT
fib & R LA R JR3HA31H 2 4F K B B
DR BIBE L TMEREZ BIK

The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 March. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

TH{E -
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 B #
FEESR 2HHEAEERFR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  Approach Total
E-KE F-BR =K Etri @t
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
THT TT TikT TiBT THT
As at 31 March 2021 R202153A318
Trade receivables 5 B 3R — — — 195,775 195,775
Financial assets included in FEAEAM B - BE R
prepayments, deposits and other HoAl B i I
receivables SHERE 4,819 - - - 4,819
Cash and cash equivalents Be KB E&5EY 246,129 - - — 246,129
250,948 — — 195,775 446,723
As at 31 March 2020 R2020%3A31H
Trade receivables B 5 e i 7R0H — — — 160,431 160,431
Financial assets included in FEATEAM HOE - AR
prepayments, deposits and other A JE i SRR
receivables SHERE 1,274 — — — 1,274
Cash and cash equivalents BHe kB E%EY 298,047 — = = 298,047
299,321 — — 160,431 459,752
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to ensure there are adequate funds to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer terms by
considering the maturity of its financial assets and liabilities
and projected cash flows.

The following tables show the maturity profile of the Group’s
financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based
on the contractual undiscounted payments.

AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

3. cRIEREEEERBE

(#)

REEERERE

A S T ) B AR £ 3 i 2 i A S
KAMBRHEI Y H L TEE SR E
A 7T 2 &4 S LRI

MEE &R o

T%%Fﬁ%

5 B i
DL -

AN
= &
AR

More than
1 year but In the
Less than less than second to
On demand 1 year 2 years fifth years Total
BE-F E-F2%
RER DPR-F EIRARE FRE Bt
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$’000
T Tt T T TBT
31 March 2021 202153A31H
Lease liabilities HEAE — 877 365 — 1,242
Trade payables B 55 RE A FE — 143,226 — — 143,226
Financial liabilities included in ~ #FA MERT %2 I K oA g
accruals and other payables Ao SRR 2 A E — 7,189 — — 7,189
— 151,292 365 — 151,657
31 March 2020 202034318
Lease liabilities MHEAR — 3,108 808 342 4,258
Trade payables B 5 M 1+t 3O = 133,943 = = 133,943
Financial liabilities included in ~ #FAMERHE: i K oA e
accruals and other payables KR 4 A — 12,884 — — 12,884
— 149,935 808 342 151,085
Capital management BEXER

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or
issue new shares. The Group is not required to comply with
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March
2020.

A F B A B B AR R R
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R B RAR MR

31 March 2021
202143H31H

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 37. ZXA R BB AR R K

OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the A B 5 R A 2 ) B SR R
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: &R R

As at 31 March As at 31 March

2021 2020
R2021%F 20204
3H31H 3H31H
Note HKS$’000 HK$’000
M 5k T 0 T ¥ oo
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries % & Bt 8§ 2\ F —* —*
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables T AT RIE S
At 1R i 3K IH 295 275
Due from subsidiaries JRE Wiz o B 2 ] IR 223,072 202,047
Cash and cash equivalents BHe B E&%EEY 1,478 16,511
224,845 218,833
Current liabilities REBAE
Accruals and other payables JRE it e ) e At
JEE A K IH (758) (580)
Due to subsidiaries JRE A5k T & 2 ) R IE (7,291) —
(8,049) (580)
Net current assets REBEEFE 216,796 218,253
Net assets B E T E 216,796 218,253
Equity =
Issued capital 2T A 28 19,920 19,920
Reserves (note) i 5 (BfF 5F) 196,876 198,333
Total equity HAE t5 216,796 218,253
* The amount is less than HK$1,000. * 4B V1,000 G ©
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AR B ERARRTRE

31 March 2021
202143H31H

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 37. Zx/A 7] B & AR 3R ]| 40
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: Bt & -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: A ) fafs A AR A G
Shares held Retained
Share under the profits/
premium  Share Award Capital (Accumulated
account Scheme reserve loss)
RERG
REBcHE REER
BROEER KHEHRG ExfE  (REEH) st
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TV 70 T T T 70 RPN T 76
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4A1R — — — (11) 11
Profit for the year 4 1A i 1) — — — 38,986 38,986
Issue of shares under initial public AR B A BH B i
offering BAT A 204,180 — — = 204,180
Share issue expenses BEAT A B (14,126) — — — (14,126)
Dividends i B — — — (30,696) (30,696)
At 31 March 2020 2020538318 190,054 — — 8,279 198,333
Profit for the year A s A — — — 8,341 8,341
Capital contribution by a controlling 7% 2 7] % it it 30 1% &
shareholder of the Company — (7,590) 7,590 — —
Purchases of shares for the Share i A 58 ) w3 R AR A
Award Scheme — (647) — — (647)
Share-based payment expense VB0 By B 2 8 3 BA S2 — 435 — — 435
Dividends ;i @58 — — — (9,586) (9,586)
At 31 March 2021 R2021F3A318 190,054 (7,802) 7,590 7,034 196,876
N,
38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 38. HLEF B H=R
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue # 3 A 20214F 6 H 28 H it #E iif 4% HE
by the board of directors on 28 June 2021. Tl 8% B 5 Rk R -
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Five-Year Financial Summary

L FEHBEHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and 7 45 [B] it #8 2% F {0 B BUAF 2 09 3£ & DA )
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial & /& - B f& K& Ik ¥ WA &5 M 22 (i &k B 40
years, as extracted from the Prospectus and the published audited ¥ & 2 K B F %% 48 25 4% W B %) & 51 an
financial statements, is set out below. The summary does not form | o 7S Hf B & i 48 8¢ 4% I B % -
part of the audited financial statements.

RESULTS E

Year ended 31 March
BZ3A31ALEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$000
Tz T#o T#om  T#om  T#T

REVENUE U &= 335,184 315,122 475,522 313,876 263,823
Cost of sales FER N (170,762) (169,548) (247,330) (156,910) (137,991)
Gross profit £ F) 164,422 145574 228,192 156,966 125,832
Other income and gains, net  F Al A K i 4 75 %8 6,115 4,414 5,496 17,541 5,429
Selling and distribution 5% K or $H BA 32

expenses (44,801)  (44,778)  (47,956)  (43,959)  (34,669)
General and administrative — — % & AT BB ¢

expenses (55,390)  (51,261)  (62,575)  (24,869)  (17,071)
Other expenses, net At B 7 (7 88) (30,291)  (18,783) (4,898) 133 (16,828)
Finance cost Pl R AR (109) (132) — — —
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B %4 A %= R 39,946 35,034 118,259 105,812 62,693
Income tax credit/(expense) T 15 B & % /(B 52) (1,379) 917 12,676)  (11,977) 9,116)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRRF 38,567 35,951 105,583 93,835 53,577
Attributable to: PN & JE AL

Shareholders of the VNN S

Company 38,567 35,951 105,579 93,899 53,592
Non-controlling interests IF ¥ I HE 4 — — 4 (64) (15)

38,567 35,951 105,583 93,835 53,577
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ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Five-Year Financial Summary

AFEMHHME

EE BEEKkER

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$000
FHB T T 0 T T F 0 T 0
Non-current assets IE W B A E 90,859 77,638 48,783 18,979 10,622
Current assets B 671,558 619,092 434,343 407,074 338,201
Total assets % B 762,417 696,730 483,126 426,053 348,823
Current liabilities i B A s (249,720)  (211,968)  (213,408)  (228,349)  (193,581)
Total assets less current & /& 48 {H Jil i B A 1&
liabilities 512,697 484,762 269,718 197,704 155,242
Non-current liabilities FF ¥i B & & 362) (1,184) (951) = —
Net assets EEFE 512,335 483,578 268,767 197,704 155,242
Equity attributable to 4% /A A i 3R
Shareholders JEAG HE 45
of the Company 512,335 483,578 268,767 197,793 155,267
Non-controlling I ¥ I M 2
interests — — — (89) (25)
Total equity 4R 512,335 483,578 268,767 197,704 155,242

2021565 BHREEERAT 199 -



Definitions

Bx

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following
expressions shall have the following meanings.

“Actual Selling Price”

[H P 6

“Adoption Date”
[ &4 H 1 ]

“Articles” or “Articles of
Association”

(20 5] ) = [ A0 A = 72 4 A

“Audit Committee”

[FEZRg]
“Award”
[ #4% Jih J

“Award Period”
[ 4% Jih 19 ]

“Award Shares”

I3 i 1B 473 |

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

[ F )

“Brand Licensing Business”

[ il iR 45 HE S 5 |

A TR BRICFR A TR > R Bl e
HAUT#E -

means the actual price at which the Award Shares are sold (net of brokerage, Stock
Exchange trading fee, SFC transaction levy and any other applicable costs) on
vesting of an Award pursuant to the Scheme;

AR5 ) S 4 D I o B A D A0y 1) B PR AR (2N BR A AL - WSS TR
Ty LG 5 oy R AT A Al R A

means 6 February 2020, the date on which the adoption of the Share Award
Scheme was approved by the Board;

20204F2 6 H - RIVH o it v PR AN A S8 MY S E  B

the articles of association of our Company, conditionally adopted on 12 April 2019,
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

A E AL Gk AR A A 20194F4 12 H A BRI R A > SORIRFAERT ~ il A8 Bk
1& ok

the audit committee of our Board
HHEEHEKERY

means an award granted by the Board to a Selected Participant, which may vest in
the form of Award Shares or cash equivalent to the amount of the Actual Selling
Price of the Award Shares, as the Board may determine in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme Rules;

g Al AR R R IR R A0 A R R E ] 9 E 2 B B A B ) o i R A% ) W]
DA% i) fi 153 B 5% ) 1 B B R RO S5 R B e R X R R

means the period commencing on the Adoption Date, and ending on the day
immediately prior to the 10th anniversary of the Adoption Date;

PRAN I B B = bR AR E DA SN 10 ] 4F AT — H R R

means the Shares granted to a Selected Participant in an Award;

DA% ) T2 5 o) 4 € 2 B 3 51 B

the board of directors of our Company

RAFEHT

business of licensing of brands by (i) sub-licensing various rights to use the brands
granted by brand licensors and (ii) acting as the agent for the brand licensors to,
among others, identify potential licensees for these brand licensors

708 38 (i) T A3 HE by o W R D7 5 T 1 2 T O PR B i) 1R A o T HE T 9
PR By 5% 55 i WP RE 7 (G o 60 355) W) (5 Y8 A 4 452 HE O R A Y o AL 42 HEE 6 5
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“Business Day”
[ H ]

“BVI”
S ) -seid-)

“Capitalisation Issue”

[EEA AL 847

“CG Code”

[ 2836 <7 A1)
“Companies Ordinance”

[ =] Aok o1l |

CLITs

“Company”, “our Company”,

“We” or “uS”

(A 2w e[ 3 AM

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”
[ 15 i o

“Director(s)” or “our Director(s)”

[ %)

“Eligible Person(s)”

¢ DN

Definitions

means any day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing in
securities;

I 52 o B R 2R 28 Sy B H T

the British Virgin Islands
2 B B

the issue of 1,493,999,999 Shares to be made upon capitalisation of an amount
of HK$14,939,999.99 standing to the credit of the share premium account of our
Company

A ) IR T A B 2 7 MR BE14,939,999.99 1 T 1§ 78 A IRF 8% 171,493,999,999
Ji& 1% Aoy

Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

i AR SU) B R - 1 R A 2R ST

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended or
supplemented from time to time

A ik 1% 0 25 622 % A m R ] > REAS A T B T

MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED, an exempted company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability on 29 October 2018 and references to “we”,
“us” or “our” refer to our Group or, where the context requires, our Company
Fo RS A R o — R 20184F10 929 H A B 2 BE B aT Al Sz 9 4 8 5 A
BR 2% =] o i [ AP ) [ AP f) J Y fie 2 45 A 4R B sl A 22 W) (RSP SC 36 BT 48)

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules and in the context of our
Company, means Ms. Lovinia Chiu and RLA

A B BB T R R 2R > AR AR R DL o 45 B /DA & - R RLA

the director(s) of our Company

A E

means any individual, being a director (excluding independent non-executive
Directors), senior management, employee (whether full-time or part-time),
consultant or advisor of the Group who the Board considers, in its sole discretion,
has contributed or will contribute to the Group; however, no individual who is
resident in a place where the grant, acceptance or vesting of an Award pursuant to
the Scheme is not permitted under the laws and regulations of such place or where,
in the view of the Board, compliance with applicable laws and regulations in such
place makes it necessary or expedient to exclude such individual, shall be entitled
to participate in the Scheme and such individual shall therefore be excluded from
the term Eligible Person;

A e HERE S B A SR A SO A TR A SR 0 O A S Ok AT
EH) > mAAEIAR R B (R R R AR 5N L A
v i b B 1) 95 A B 3 B AR LR R A R 1 b TR R R~ A i A R

B e AR AR R A B R R A T BB B PR Rz AN AR A+
M2 PABMASER AL

2021458 BsmarAE 201




Definitions

“Global Offering”

[ Bk g% |

“Group”, “our Group”,
“Medialink Group”,
“we” or “us”

[ SR )~ T R AR 1 ) 2k

Eigl

“HK$”’ “HKD” OI‘
“Hong Kong dollars”
R

“HKFRS”
[ 5 U 5 o e U

“Hong Kong”
[ s

“IPY”
[HIE

“Listing”
[T
“Listing Date”

[ A

“Listing Rules”

[T K5
“Macau”

RUAEN

“MAIL”

(¥ H B & (B9 ) )

the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Placing
/N AT N T

our Company and its subsidiaries at the relevant time or, where the context
otherwise requires, in respect of the period prior to our Company becoming the
holding company of its present subsidiaries, such subsidiaries as if they were
subsidiaries of our Company at the relevant time

A ) B HC A B B TR A O R A m o A SO 5 A T AR o AR A m S B
A BT JB 2 AR 2 M 2 W 22 i S D B 2 A T S0 TR 0 A R TR 2 R R 4
% W 24 7

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
sk E BT

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

7 i FF 5 e At E 1

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
Hh B A s R AT

Japanese Yen, the lawful currency of Japan

H A %2 B H A

the listing of the shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
Je 3 17 ek 2 B £ M BT

the date on Tuesday, 21 May 2019, on which the Shares were first listed and from
which dealings in the Shares were permitted to take place on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange

20194521 H (B 81 =) » BB & vk b vl Sif 8 o i W 2 B AR B AR L
ZH

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, as amended or supplemented from time to time

A UE Wt 5 2 B B A IR A W) B O iR s RRAS I A T B T2

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
Hh B PR R AT B L

Medialink Animation International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong on 11 August 2000 with limited liability
Fo IR Eh & (I ) A R A E > — B R 20004E8 H 1L H 75 4 i 5E it WSz 19 A R

N
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“MAIL Acquisition”

[ 5 B = (1 %) e g |

“Main Board”

EXE

“Media Content Distribution
Business”

[ T 7 B AT 26 05 )

“MEL”

[ % 2 4 |

“Memorandum” or
“Memorandum of Association”

EXEVN AR TN

“MFE”

[MFE

“Ms. Barbara Chiu”
[ /N 3% e 1 |

“Ms. Lovinia Chiu”

[ /) e 2+

“Ms. Noletta Chiu”

[ /N L %+

Definitions

acquisition of the remaining 50% shareholding interest in MAIL by Ms. Lovinia
Chiu, completion of which took place on 27 August 2018

/0N THE Lo i S TR (R R B TR 50% ERE 5 A7 B iR 20184E8 H27 H 5
A

the stock exchange (excluding the options market) operated by the Stock Exchange
which is independent from and operated in parallel with GEM of the Stock
Exchange

Fh Bt 22 P 7 9 19 R 25 58 B P A (0 436 WO ME i 355) > 7 8 57 TR B 52 I GEML A ¥
PLF BLGEM — [R] 1 Tk 28 BT 48 4

business of distribution of media content by sub-licensing various rights to exploit
the media content granted by the media content licensors and co-investment in the
production of media content

375 90 T 432 4% TR ROREE LA B R L O A SRR O P IR Y S A A DL R SR
SN SR A A R BN A R AT S

Medialink Entertainment Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong on 13
October 2000 with limited liability and a wholly owned subsidiary of our Company
RIRIR G A R AT > — [ TR20004F 10 H13 H 7E & s sE s 2 A IR A F - B
AN F Y A Y A W

the memorandum of association of our Company, conditionally adopted on 12 April
2019, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

Ay E AL AR R KA > R 20194F A 12 A R AR SR At > RSN IRRAE AT~ Al 78 2l
DU At 77 208 2

Medialink (Far East) Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong on 11 July
2001 with limited liability and a wholly owned subsidiary of our Company
Medialink (Far East) Limited > — ] 72 20014£7 3 11 H 76 7 # F i 85z 09 A R 2
IR RN DRy < f () - AR

Ms. Chiu Siu Ling Barbara, a member of our senior management and the sister of
Ms. Lovinia Chiu and Ms. Noletta Chiu
B /NFE Lot AR PR A B DA B /) e b KR D R 2 Y b

Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia, the chairman of our Board, an executive Director and
chief executive officer of our Company, our Controlling Shareholder, and the sister
of Ms. Noletta Chiu and Ms. Barbara Chiu

AN AN FE SR G L - FUAT #E S AT B R A IR IR R DA B
AN B Bk N B A B i IR

Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta, our executive Director and the sister of Ms. Barbara
Chiu and Ms. Lovinia Chiu
/N L L FRAM 0 AT B S e W N B L R /N THE e I i ik
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Definitions

“myTV SUPER”
myTV SUPER

“Net Proceeds”

[ J # 8K JE 95 A8

“Nomination Committee”

MEsZ A

“on-market”

532 5]

“PRC” or “China” or
“Mainland China”

[rp R e 2 A
“Prospectus”

[ 1 75 A2

“Remuneration Committee”

(%% 8 &)

“Reorganisation”

[E 40 ]

“Reporting Period” or “Year”

[ 10 ) B [ A 4F % )

“Returned Shares”

f
(e
==
=

a media platform operated by TVB Group
—fl I TVB 4 [ 2 1 R A

Proceeds from issuance of the shares in the Company in connection with the
Listing after deduction of the underwriting fees and commissions and expenses

payable by the Company
KE R A A 6 81 2 AR < A B BA SCAR o BT AR B A AR 2 WD R0
7 B 45 3 H

the nomination committee of our Board

EHGRNEZAEG

means the acquisition of Shares through one or more transactions through the
facilities of the Stock Exchange in accordance with the Listing Rules and any other
applicable laws and regulations;

AR b T KRR R AT AT G Al AR B V5 A Bk KR T T 52 BT AR i 2 8 — IR E 2 IR %2
o b et

The People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this report and for
geographical reference only and except where the context requires, references
in this report to “China” and the “PRC” do not include Hong Kong, Macau and
Taiwan

o N R ILANE] o 8 A B K B o M BR SCFE A T de o AR i A R
AT B A E W - WM A

prospectus of the Company dated 30 April 2019
A w H ) £520194F 4 A 30 H A 7 i 75 72

the remuneration committee of our Board

EHREHMERE

the reorganisation of our Group in preparation for the Listing

A AR T B A i AT 0 A

means the reporting period for the year ended 31 March 2021
B 20214E3 H31H IE4F BE Y i 15 19

means the Award Shares that are not vested and/or are forfeited in accordance with
the terms of the Scheme, or such Shares being deemed to be Returned Shares under
the Scheme Rules;

R 48 ST 1 e 3 7 408 i R B U A ) B R B 0 AR B E R R A R R
1y 1Y I A5 5
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“RLA”

[RLA

“RMB”

PN

“Scheme” or “Share Award
Scheme”

[t & 1 5%
[ 1y 5 i 5t &)

“Scheme Limit”

[HH# FRR

“Scheme Rules”

[l 3 K5 H

“Selected Participant(s)”
(46 & 2 Bl 3F ]

“SFC”
[ B ]

A . 5
“SFO”
[ 77 b 39 e 9]

“SGD”
[ 38 ¢ |

“Share(s)”

e 3

Definitions

RLA Company Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability
on 23 October 2018, which is one of our Controlling Shareholders and wholly
owned by Ms. Lovinia Chiu

RLA Company Limited » — [ 742018410 H 23 H 7 3¢ J&§ Ji % BF & 5k 5 19 A
RAR > BBMBER B R 2 — > R # L L2 EREA

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

i v E BN R

means the share award scheme adopted by the Company in accordance with these
Scheme Rules on the Adoption Date;

TS BR A F AR 2w AR % w0 B R Ak Y By S b w3

means the aggregate number of Shares underlying all grants that may be made
pursuant to the Scheme (excluding Award Shares that have been forfeited in
accordance with the Scheme), being 10% (i.e. 199,200,000 Shares) of the total
number of issued Shares as at the Adoption Date;

AR T B 1 2 R AR A T 9 ) PR A A L 9 AR R ) 352 A ) B ) B )
RIVER A H 0 88 47 i A9 10% (BI199,200,000 B i f3) 5

means the rules set out in the Scheme as amended from time to time;

w3 T A R (KA By B D)

means any Eligible Person approved for participation in the Scheme and who has
been granted any Award;

AT o] 28 v 2 Bt ) S 0 % 48 B 09 5 AR ON L

means the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong;

HEE LB EREEREE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended or supplemented from time to time

Ak 1% 01255715 5 I RO R R B KR IR AE RT SO TS

Singapore dollar, the lawful currency of Singapore

I 3 i 2 RN 3 T

means ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company, or, if
there has been a sub-division, consolidation, re-classification or re-construction of
the share capital of the Company, shares forming part of the ordinary share capital
of the Company of such other nominal amount as shall result from any such sub-
division, consolidation, re-classification or re-construction;

Ay w AR H A BT (BL0.01HE T B 5 A8 I > s (A A R RA YR - S0 - &
o> B A PR AR - & 0F - HERT 0 BSR4 BT A A AR A R A A A
AT H) i 3 5
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Definitions

PO 2
ES

#

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of Shares

& 3R | FELESEEPN

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

[ it 52 o | WS 5 A RA A

“Trust” means the trust constituted by the Trust Deed to service the Scheme;

EEEA 5 AL A A UK s w B A AE ST

“Trust Deed” means the trust deed to be entered into between the Company and the Trustee (as

may be restated, supplemented and amended from time to time);

EEEE 200 Ay A BZ T NRT AL AR GE A (B g A IR 51~ Ml R B R

“Trustee” means the trustee appointed by the Company for the purpose of the Trust;

B PN AN AE R RE R ZFEN

“US dollars” or “US$” United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

B FKEEE R ETT

“Vesting Date” means the date as determined from time to time by the Board, on which the Award

(or part thereof) is to vest in the relevant Selected Participant as set out in the
relevant award letter.
[ 5 J& H 1 RO IR D AT R B R R A B i A% B (BT ) R E TR B R e 2
BLE B HHR o
In this report, the terms “associate”, “close associate”, “connected A ASHEH N > BRIE LI R A s » B AT B
person”, “connected transaction”, “controlling shareholder”, “core %% A |~[ B8 W& A |~ [ B2 A £ - [
connected person”, “subsidiary(ies)” and “substantial shareholder” 38 %)) ~ [ B B 3R )~ [0 B %8 A 4= ~ [ Fff
shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Listing Rules, J& 2 &) ] & [ 32 5 B o fE B A5 b s B3 30 By
unless the context otherwise requires. W72 i #E -
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Glossary of Technical Terms

SR

This glossary contains explanations of certain terms used in this 4% flif & %% 8 A5 4% ¢ 5 Br F 45 T 5l 5 0 figt
report. These terms and their meanings may or may not correspond to % o 5% 5 i 52 S H i 28 oK % B 5% 55 i ¢

standard industry meaning or usage of these terms.

“brand(s)”

[

“brand licensor(s)”

[t 452 HE 7

“character brand(s)”

[ 0 TE B i it

“fashion brand(s)”

[ 14 o B

“inflight distribution rights”

[ 22 35 17 RRAE

«1p”
[ 40 il 7

“IPTV rights”

[ 2 0 A e i
“media content”

[EHE N2

“media content licensor(s)”
[ B T 2 P T )

“merchandising rights”

REEEESS

“minimum guarantee”

[ AR 8 4

0 1 e 2K e SRS — B e

comprising trademarks, characters, labels, names, logos, designs, or the names and/
or likeness thereof, which may be further categorised into character brands, fashion
brands, lifestyle brands and other brands

G  AE - R 28 e RFTS 2R G T
O3B A TR BN R~ TRE I R~ 2RI R B A i

licensor(s) of brand(s)

i W A% 7

brand(s) involving characters from animation or comics

LTk RN RN iR

brand(s) involving fashion labels or fashion names

W B Ry e i R IR 19 42 R ) R

the rights to exhibit the media content to aircraft passengers during a flight via
aircraft broadcasting channels

S TR S R 208 A0 SO B B 0 A 1) AU K o R R s A R A A ) HE

intellectual property

R ik 7

the rights to distribute streaming media content directly to viewers over the internet
Via private, dedicated network

75 0 FL N S A A% T 1) T A B AT R O LR P O HE M

media content including animation series, drama series, animated feature films,
live-action feature films and other video content

HEANEEFSER EHE - RREBHEEY - EARRBE P L H #1551
%

licensor(s) of media content

HEHE N A HE T

the rights to produce, manufacture, sell and otherwise distribute, advertise and
promote any tangible items, goods and/or products being or using the brands,
characters, designs or the names and/or likeness thereof

AR A RET SR AR B GAEE  RE B E R A
o8 E R AT A A TR R B S Y RE R

an advance payment made by a licensee to a licensor to obtain the licensing
rights, which will be recognised as licensed assets; it is usually non-refundable but
recoupable or shall be set-off against the royalty payable

WA HE T 1) 2 HE 7 ST WY TEAS 3K > A AT SRR HE A > 52 B AE R S e R 2 4%
REE A s FOE W AN AR > Ml AR AT o O R K B AT A AR
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Glossary of Technical Terms

SR IIEGl

“OTT”
[OTTI

“promotion rights”

[i2 5 HE |

“royalty rate(s)”

[ %<

“TV
[ ]

“VOD rights”

[ 45 S B 4% HE |

over-the-top channels that distribute streaming media content directly to viewers
over the internet via open network, including subscription-based video on demand
services

75 1t BA ok =X A A% T 2 ) G A B B B AT R O A B A 8 Y over-the-top JRAH
45 LT R R 64 ARG 9% AR 5

the rights to use brands, characters, designs or the names to advertise and
promote the goods, services, or general business operation of a licensee, including
advertisements prepared for all print and audio-visual media uses (including radio,
television and film), packaging materials, point-of-sale displays, premium items
and other promotional items

AR - A~ BERE I A AR RER o DLE Rk B AR T I B - B
BCRE B SE S RS LA L I A BRI B R A (RS AR R A
Fo 76 5) T RAVE R B LA R - B BEROR  fE  HARAR 85

payment made by one party, the licensee/sub-licensee, to another party, the
licensor/master licensee, for the use of media content/brands of the licensor/master
licensee expressed as a percentage of the revenue obtained using the media content/
brands or as a fixed value, depending on the agreements between the parties

— 7 (BB HET7 /P8 W HE T ) o A ) 2 W A R D 1) IR TR 2
0] 53— 07 (BHE Ty /R RE 7)) SCAT I 3K > BP0 2 A ek o 2y 6
I PR 7 T A I A R 1 — 43 b s — R A

television
i)

video-on-demand rights, i.e. the rights to exhibit the media content, where the
timing of the delivery/exhibition of the media content is not pre-determined, but
rather is at the viewer’s discretion, and in connection with a fee

SR B R RE B R I OO A B RE A > o IO PR S AT R I TR O
St /Y > TR B A B AT PE > I ZH SN 2
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